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GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which
a higher investment risk may be attached than other
companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing
in such companies and should make the decision to invest
only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small
and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities
traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market
volatility than securities traded on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange and no assurance is given that there will be
a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange
take no responsibility for the contents of this report, make no
representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly
aisclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from
or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this
report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Director(s)”) of China New
Holdings Limited (formerly known as Royal Century Resources
Holdings Limited) (the “Company”) collectively and individually
accept full responsibility, incluaes particulars given in compliance
with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the
Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving
information with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made
all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge
and belief the information contained in this report is accurate and
complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive,
and there are no other matters the omission of which would make
any statement herein or this report misleading.
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China New Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively the “Group”) are principally engaged in (i) provision of
design, fitting out and engineering services comprising design, fitting
out, engineering and procurement of furnishings and related products
services, (ii) leasing of construction equipment and provision of
related installation services, (iii) sourcing and merchandising of fine
and rare wines and (iv) provision of financial services comprising
securities and money lending business.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The total revenue for the year ended 31 March 2025 of the Group
was approximately HK$164.5 million (2024: HK$87.6 million) which
represents approximately HK$76.9 million or 87.8% increase as
compared with last year.

Breakdown of revenue by segments is as follows:
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For the year ended 31 March
HE=A=+—HLEE

2025 2024

“T-RE “ETNEEFE

HK$'000 HK$'000

FAET FAET

Design, fitting out and engineering services &5t H£E KR TR 155,634 71,972
Leasing of construction equipment THERERHE 8,639 12,966
Wines merchandising EREH - 2,214
Financial services ERARTES 270 451
164,543 87,603




CHINA NEW HOLDINGS LIMITED
PR R

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

X P v v B o9 B

The revenue generated from the design, fitting out and engineering
services business has increased by approximately HK$83.7 million,
whilst the income from the leasing of construction equipment
business has decreased by approximately HK$4.3 million, the
income from the Wine merchandising business has decreased by
approximately HK$2.2 million, and the income from the Financial
services has decreased by approximately 0.2 million, leaving the
Group's revenue to increase by approximately HK$76.9 million:

(1) The increase in revenue generated from the design, fitting out
and engineering services was mainly due to the increase in the
number of works attributable to the increase in contract sum
of construction contracts being awarded from private sector
projects during the year.

(2) The decrease in revenue from the leasing of construction
equipment was mainly due to certain projects close to their
final phase, which has resulted in a reduced scope of work to
be undertaken and lead to the decrease in the lease out rate
during the year.

(3) The decrease in revenue generated from the wine
merchandising business was mainly due to the decrease in
orders from existing customers and the reallocation of the
Group's resources from the wine merchandising business to
the Design, fitting out and engineering services business during
the year.

Gross Profit

The Group recorded a gross profit of approximately HK$3.5 million
(2024: HK$9.0 million) for the year ended 31 March 2025, representing
a decrease of approximately HK$5.5 million.
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The gross profit of the Group by segments is as follows:
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For the year ended 31 March
HE=ZA=+—HLEE

2025 2024

—E-HEF ZETOE

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

Design, fitting out and engineering services &5t EE R TR 4,374 1,432
Leasing of construction equipment THERERE (1,166) 6,563
Wines merchandising EREH - 584
Financial services S RARTS 270 451
3,478 9,030

As compared with the prior year, the decrease in the Group's gross
profit margin was mainly due to (i) the reduction in profit margins for
new tender projects for design, fitting out and engineering services,
and (i) decrease in lease out rate for the leasing of construction
equipment, together with (iii) the price competition continues to post
challenges on the operation which adversely affecting the gross profit
margin during the year.

Meanwhile, the increase in the gross profit of the design, fitting out
and engineering services of approximately HK$2.9 million was mainly
due to the increase in revenue attributable to the increase in contract
sum of construction contracts being awarded from private sector
projects, whilst the rising costs of construction materials, installation
fees, and design and labor costs were additionally incurred to address
the complexity of design work and frequent changes to design and
construction plans, contributing to the decrease in gross profit margin
during the year.

Loss for the year

Other income

The decrease in other income, gains and losses for the year ended
31 March 2025 was mainly due to the absence of rental income after
disposal of investment properties in the prior year.

Other gains, net

The decrease in other gains, net for the year ended 31 March
2025 was mainly due to the decrease in the compensation gain on
disposal/written off of construction equipment.
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Administrative expenses

The increase in administrative expenses for the year ended 31 March
2025 was mainly due to the increase in initial start-up costs and staff
costs for new headcount of the forthcoming projects.

Allowance for ECL on trade receivables and contract
assets

The Group has appointed independent qualified professional valuer
to perform an appraisal of the ECL of trade receivables and contract
assets. During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group recognised
an allowance for ECL on trade receivables of approximately
HK$390,000 (2024: HK$332,000) and allowance for ECL on contract
assets of approximately HK$203,000 (2024: HK$45,000). The increase
in allowance for ECL reflects the deterioration in credit risk and the
uncertainty of the construction industry.

Impairment of intangible assets

For the SFO Licenses included in “intangible assets”, the Group has
appointed independent qualified professional valuer to perform
an appraisal of the recoverable amount of the SFO Licenses as at
31 March 2025. Same as the prior year, the recoverable amount of
Financial services business segment CGU have been determined
based on fair value less costs of disposal using the replacement cost
approach, which is higher than value in use. The key assumptions
used in estimating the fair value of Financial services business
segment CGU under the replacement cost approach include the
estimation of cost of obtaining such licenses and relevant transaction
cost. The recoverable amount of Financial services business segment
CGU based on the fair value less costs of disposal was approximately
HK$1,670,000 (31 March 2024: approximately HK$1,720,000).
Accordingly, having compared with the carrying amount of Financial
services business segment CGU, impairment loss of approximately
HK$50,000 (2024: approximately HK$779,000) was recognised for the
year ended 31 March 2025.

For the cross-boundary vehicle licence included in “intangible assets”,
the Group has appointed independent qualified professional valuer
to perform an appraisal of the recoverable amount of the cross-
boundary vehicle licence as at 31 March 2025. Same as the prior
year, the recoverable amount of the cross-boundary vehicle licence
has been determined on the fair value less costs of disposal using
market comparable approach, which is higher than value in use. The
recoverable amount of the cross-boundary vehicle licence based on
the fair value less costs of disposal was approximately HK$580,000
(2024: HK$740,000). Accordingly, having compared with the carrying
amount of the cross-boundary licence, an impairment loss of
approximately HK$160,000 (2024: a reversal of impairment loss of
approximately HK$140,000) was recognised for the year ended 31
March 2025.
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS

Design, fitting out and engineering services business
The Group is expected to reduce the scale of the public housing
maintenance, improvement and vacant flat refurbishment works and
services and is currently reformulating the mix of the design, fitting
out and engineering services business and redistributing its resources
to seek for other projects to sustain the Group’s design, fitting out and
engineering services business.

It is the Group's strategy to develop business relationship with the
existing contractors and customers to coordinate and negotiate
for further works and services as well as for introducing new
contractor(s) and customer(s). The Group expects such exploration
and development will further broaden and strengthen the income
stream and the sustainability of the Group's design, fitting out and
engineering services business.

Leasing of construction equipment business

During the year, the revenue from the leasing of construction
equipment business has been decreased due to the decrease in
lease out rate of the Group's scaffolding equipment as mentioned
above.

The Group has been making effort in fostering and maintaining the
business relationship and cooperations with the existing customers
in order to have recurring orders from the existing customers.
The Group is also coordinating with the existing customers for the
introduction of new customers in order to broaden the customer
base of the Group and for the steady development and sustainable
operation of the leasing of scaffolding equipment.

Wine merchandising business

The Group would continue to negotiate with the existing customers
for the sale of fine and rare wines and seek for potential customers.
The Group would carry out the wine merchandising business at a
moderate level.

Financial services business
The provision of financial services business comprises securities
business and money lending business.

Securities business

The Group is engaged in licensed securities business under the
Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong (“SFC") to carry out
type 1 (dealing in securities), type 4 (advising on securities) and type 9
(asset management) regulated activities.
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The Group continues to carry out the securities business at a prudent
management approach due to economic uncertainties and local
stock market volatility.

Money lending business

The money lending business focuses on potential corporate or
personal borrowers including well-established business and wealthy
and reputable individuals ranged from executives, businessmen and
professionals. The potential borrower(s) are generally induced through
(i) the management team of the Group; (ii) direct approaches from
potential borrowers; and (iii) referral from existing borrower(s). The
Group adopts a prudent approach to carry out the money lending
business with sourcing of its funds from internally generated cash
resources.

Before granting loans to potential borrower(s), the Group uses an
internal credit assessment process to assess the potential borrower’s
credit quality and defines credit limits granted to borrowers. Limits
attributed to borrowers are reviewed by the management regularly.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the loan portfolio of the Group
consists of 1 unsecured personal loan with initial principal amount of
HK$3 million. The loan is granted in prior years and is renewed with a
term of 1 year in March 2021 which is unsecured and interest bearing
at 9% per annum. All the borrower and its ultimate beneficial owner
(if applicable) of the outstanding loan is independent third parties of
the Group.

The Group has established its money lending policies/manuals
(the “Manuals”), including the procedures in relation to the
implementation of Anti Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorist
Financing System and credit assessment procedure to regulate the
money lending business operation to ensure a comprehensive risk
management so as to safeguard the Group's and, most importantly,
the shareholders’ interest.

In general, each loan application must go through three stages
before granting to the borrower, namely (i) document collection and
verification; (ii) credit risk assessment; and (iii) approval. The Manuals
has set out, among others, (i) a list of documents and information
required for each loan application; (i) the general framework of the
credit assessment process including but not limited to the factors
to be considered such as the applicant’s background, financial and
repayment abilities, credit worthiness and intended use of the loan;,
and (iii) the approval authorisation for each type of loan application.
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The following is a summary of the general guidelines of assessing
loan applications by the management team (the “Management
Team”) of the money lending business:

(A) Identity proof — identity card and passport from individuals and
business registration certificate, certificate of incorporation and
the constitutional documents from corporate entities must be
provided for verification;

(B)  Address proof — utility bills, bank/credit card statements or
formal correspondence issued by either a governmental
department or statutory body is required to be produced;

(C) Repayment ability assessment — to assess the repayment
ability of each borrower, in addition to the background search,
the Management Team checks the availability of guarantor,
where applicable, past payment record and any other
available information to evaluate the repayment ability of the
borrower(s); and

(D)  Credit worthiness assessment — Searches and background
checks would be conducted upon potential clients such
as bankruptcy or winding up search and litigation search;
background search and media searches.

Based on the above procedures, the Group considers that the credit
risk and the risk of breaching the relevant laws and regulations in
connection with anti-money laundering or anti-terrorist financing
are relatively low. Nonetheless, the Group has in place all necessary
measures to mitigate the risk of money laundering or terrorist
financing risk of potential borrowers’ businesses, such as the nature
and details of the business/occupation/employment of the potential
borrower; the anticipated level and nature of the activity; location of
potential borrower; the expected source and origin of the funds; and
the initial and ongoing source(s) of wealth or income.

All loans being granted should be approved, on a case-by-case basis
including a set of standardised know-your-customer procedures and
due diligence process. During the process, the management team
of the money lending business should obtain and verify the income
proof/cash flow proof of the applicant, and if securities/collateral
involved, the asset proof.
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After credit assessment and review of the loan applications, with
the loan terms determined (having taken into consideration factors
such as the credit risks of the borrowers, their recoverability and the
prevalent market interest rates), loan documents will be prepared
by the Management Team and the loans will be recommended for
the review of the director(s) of the money lending business prior
to reporting to the Board or approval (as the case may be). The
director(s) of the money lending business, will be responsible for the
approval of loans in relatively smaller amount, and reporting the same
to the Board.

The Management Team would report the potential loan(s) to the
Company and the Board for the consideration by its members,
if it is of larger amount (i.e. by assessment of size tests under
Chapter 19 of the GEM Listing Rules, may constitute a discloseable
transaction or above), in which case, such potential loan(s) shall
be reported by the director(s) of the money lending business who
will elaborate to the Board such potential loan(s) in contemplation
and the recommendations therewith for discussion and approval,
the Directors (including the independent non-executive Directors)
shall then consider whether such loans are on normal commercial
terms, fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Company
and its Shareholders as a whole. Moreover, for any potential loan(s)
which may involve connected person(s) as defined under Chapter
20 of the GEM Listing Rules, such loan(s) will be reported to the
Board immediately for assessment with respect to size tests and
assessment by the Board as elaborated above.

The Manuals further provide the guideline for dealing with loan and
interest repayment of default. Generally, the designated officer of the
money lending business shall first remind the borrower prior to the
due date of the loan. Should the borrower fail to repay the loan and
interests promptly, the Manuals set out the loan collection procedure
to monitor the recoverability of the loan on an ongoing basis.

The Group has appointed independent qualified professional valuer
to perform an appraisal of the ECL of loan and interest receivables.
During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group recognised a
reversal of allowance for ECL of approximately HK$349,000 (2024:
HK$174,000).

Since the outstanding loan has been overdue for repayment as at
31 March 2025, the probability of default would have increased.
However, considering the forward looking rate and the credit
worthiness, and by reviewing the past repayment history of the
borrower where accrued interests have been settled subsequent to
the period, the Group considers the loan is not credit-impaired and is
categorised as Stage 2 for ECL assessment. For details, please refer to
note 23 to the consolidated financial statements.
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The Group recognises the impairment loss under HKFRS 9 ECL model
on loans and interest receivables for each of the reporting periods.
The ECL model is a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses,
which are measured as the present value of all expected cash
shortfall (i.e. the difference between the cashflow due to the Group
in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Group
expects to receive), discounted at original effective interest rate,
where the effect of discounting is material.

When estimating the ECL on loan and interest receivables, the Group
has considered the probability of default upon initial recognition of
asset and whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk
on an ongoing basis by comparing the risk of default occurring on the
asset as at the reporting date with the risk of default as at the date of
initial recognition. The Group has also taken into account forwarding-
looking information including actual or expected significant adverse
changes in business, financial or economic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant change to the counterparties’ ability
to meet its obligations.

Under the general approach of the ECL model, the assumptions
underpinning the Group's for the loan and interest receivables are set
out below:

Category Definition of category

Wl HHER

Stage 1 Exposures where there has not been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition
and that are not credit-impaired upon
origination.
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Stage 2 Exposures where there has been a significant

increase in credit risk since initial recognition but
are not credit-impaired.
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Stage 3 Exposures are assessed as credit-impaired when
one or more events that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that asset have occurred.
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Basis for recognition of ECL provision
FEHEERIRRE TR

Portion of the lifetime ECL associated with the
probability of default events occurring within the
next 12 months is recognised.
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Lifetime expected losses (i.e. reflecting the
remaining lifetime of the financial asset) is
recognised.
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Lifetime expected losses is recognised and interest
revenue is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the amortised cost (net of
provision) rather than the gross carrying amount.
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Practically, in setting the stage for the loan and interest receivables,
the Group will consider the characteristic of the loan and interest
receivables and recognise the ECL provision according to the
respective accounting practice of the Group. The loans have been
assessed individually based on the probability of default and
exposure of default. Since the outstanding loan has been overdue
for repayment as at 31 March 2025, the probability of default would
have increased. However, considering the credit worthiness and
by reviewing the past repayment history of the borrowers where
accrued interests have been settled during the period and/or
subseguent to the period, the Group considers the loan is not credit-
impaired and is categorised as Stage 2 for ECL assessment.

The Board is of the view that the above-mentioned methodology and
the basis applied were common and widely used in the market and
such approach in measuring the ECL on loan and interest receivables
is consistent with practice adopted by Group. The Board considers
such methodology and the basis applied are fair and reasonable.

The Group would conduct regular review and carry out follow up
actions in respect of overdue amounts to minimise the Group's
exposure to credit risk and follow up closely with its borrowers
as to the deadlines in payment of interest of the loans. An aging
analysis of the debtors is prepared on a monthly basis and is closely
monitored to minimise any credit risk associated with these debtors.
The Management Team will in turn report the status of the loan
portfolio to the Board, such that the Board may closely monitor the
loan portfolio and continue to adopt risk control and management
strategies while broadening the customer base.

The Group has set up guideline for dealing with outstanding loan
and interest repayment. Generally, the Group shall first remind the
borrower prior to the due date of the loan. Should the borrowers fail
to repay the loan and interests promptly, the Manuals set out the
loan collection procedure to monitor the recoverability of the loan on
an ongoing basis. While the Group has been in negotiation with the
borrowers on the repayments of the outstanding loans, the Group has
issued monthly repayment notices to the borrowers and demanding
for the repayment of the outstanding principal and interest. The
Group would make endeavour effort to collect the outstanding
principal in due course.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES
During the year, the Group financed its operations through equity
fund raising and by its internal resources.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had net current assets of
approximately HK$53.5 million (2024: HK$61.8 million), including cash
and bank balances of approximately HK$43.2 million (2024: HK$45.7
million).

The current ratio, being the ratio of current assets to current liabilities,
was approximately 2.0 times as at 31 March 2025 (2024: 4.7 times).
The decrease in the current ratio during the year ended 31 March
2025 was mainly due to the increase in current liabilities resulting
from the increase in trade and other payables.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND GEARING RATIO

The capital structure of the Company comprised ordinary shares only.
There was no change in the capital structure of the Company during
the year ended 31 March 2025. Total equity attributable to owners of
the Company amounted to approximately HK$59.2 million as at 31
March 2025 (31 March 2024: HK$73.5 million).

As at 31 March 2025, gearing ratio is not applicable as the Group's
borrowings, lease liabilities, are fully repaid during the year ended 31
March 2025.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group's borrowings comprised of lease
liabilities of approximately HK$1.9 million. The Group’s gearing
ratio, calculated by dividing total borrowings by total equity, was
approximately 2.6%.

DIVIDEND

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend for the
year ended 31 March 2025.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The operations of the Group are mainly conducted in Hong Kong
dollar (“HK$"), Renminbi (‘RMB") and Macanese pataca (“MOP"), and
its revenue, expenses, assets, liabilities and borrowings are principally
denominated in HK$ and RMB.

The Group does not enter into any instruments on the foreign
exchange exposure. The Group will closely monitor exchange rate
movement and will take appropriate activities to reduce the exchange
risk.
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CHARGES ON THE GROUP'S ASSETS
As at 31 March 2025, the Group did not pledge any of its assets.

SIGNIFICANT ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL
Save for the disposal of an investment property, there has been no
significant acquisition and disposal of assets or subsidiaries of the
Group during the year ended 31 March 2025.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 31 March 2025, the Group did not have any significant
contingent liabilities.

COMMITMENTS
Details of the commitments of the Group as at 31 March 2025 are set
out in note 38 to the consolidated financial statements.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
Details of events after the reporting period, please refer to note 40 of
the consolidated financial statements.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES
As at 31 March 2025, the Group employed 23 (2024: 17) employees.
The Group continues to maintain and upgrade the capabilities of its
workforce by providing them with adequate and regular training.
The Group remunerates its Directors and employees mainly based
on industry practices and individual's performance and experience.
On top of regular remuneration, discretionary bonus and share
options may be granted to eligible staff by reference to the Group's
performance as well as individual’s performance.

Total remuneration for the year ended 31 March 2025 (including
emoluments and salaries to staff and Directors and MPF
contributions) was approximately HK$7.8 million (2024: HK$7.5
million).

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group's financial condition, results of operations, businesses and
prospects would be affected by a number of risks and uncertainties
including business risks, operational risks and financial management
risks.
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The key business and operations risk exposure by the Group are
summarised as follows:

. Our revenue from design, fitting out and engineering services
and leasing of construction equipment relies on successful
quotation or tenders which are not recurrent in nature, and
there is no guarantee that our existing customers will provide
us with new business or that we will secure new customers;

o Reduction or termination of public sector projects in Hong Kong
may adversely affect our revenue and results of operations;

. Failure to estimate the costs involved accurately in the
implementation of the projects and delay in completion of the
projects which may adversely affect our operating results and
financial position; and

. We plan to expand our capacity by expanding manpower
which may result in an increase in additional staff costs due to
shortage of skilled labour force which may adversely affect our
operating results and financial position.

The financial risk management policies and practices of the Group are
shown in note 6(b) to the consolidated financial statements.

There may be other risks and uncertainties in addition to those
mentioned above which are not known to the Group or which may
not be material now but could turn out to be material in the future.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group has observed the sense of environmental conservation.
Various practices have been implemented to encourage compliance
with environmental legislation and promote awareness towards
environmental protection to the employees. Further discussion
of environmental policy and performance can be found in the
Environmental, Social and Governance Report set out on pages 37 to
82 of this annual report.

The Group will review its environmental practices periodically and will
consider implementing further eco-friendly measures and practices in
the operation of the Group's businesses.
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The biographical details of Directors and senior management as at 30
June 2025, being the date of this annual report, are set out below:

Ms. Miao Xianliu (“Ms. Miao"), aged 49, is an executive Director
of the Company since May 2024. Ms. Miao completed the safety and
technology management major course of East China University of
Science and Technology. Ms. Miao has over 25 years of experience in
engineering and building materials business in the People’s Republic
of China (the "PRC").

Mr. Law Hok Yu (“Mr. Law"), aged 35, is an executive Director
and company secretary of the Company since May 2024. Mr.
Law obtained his bachelor degree of Business Administration in
Accountancy from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Mr. Law is
a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Mr. Law has over 10 years of experience in auditing, accounting and
corporate finance.

Mr. Law is currently an executive director and company secretary of
Hang Yick Holdings Company Limited (stock code: 1894), since May
2024, and an independent non-executive director of OneConstruction
Group Limited (Nasdag stock code: ONEG) since the listing in
December 2024.

Ms. Ma Man Chi ("Ms. Ma"), aged 41, has appointed as an
executive director effective from 19 July 2024. Ms. Ma has extensive
experience in accounting and auditing, specifically more than
15 years of experience from the engineering and construction
industry which is derived from her previous working experiences
in a Main Board listed Company and an international accounting
firm. Ms. Ma has leaded several audit engagements and capital
market transactions for multinational corporations and sizable listed
companies in Hong Kong. Ms. Ma is a fellow member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Chartered Public Accountants and holds a bachelor’s
degree of Business Administration with first honor in Accounting from
the Open University of Hong Kong in 2009.

Ms. Chen Qiuling (“Ms. Chen"), aged 47, has appointed as an
executive director effective from 13 February 2025. Ms Chen has
graduated from North China Institute of Financial Management (£
68 E B2 0T), majoring in finance. She has over 25 years of
experience in the engineering and metal materials business in the
PRC. From 2019, she has been serving as the general manager of
Shanghai Gangfeng New Energy Technology Co., Ltd, responsible for
the company's operation management, finance, marketing and overall
strategic planning and execution.
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Ms. Tsang Hau Wai (“Ms. Tsang"), aged 44, is an independent
non-executive Director of the Company since October 2023. Ms.
Tsang obtained a Bachelor of Arts (Honors) degree in Accountancy
from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 2002. Ms. Tsang is a
certified public accountant of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, a member of The Institute of Chartered Accountants in
England and Wales and a project management professional of Project
Management Institute. Ms. Tsang has over 15 years of experience in
commercial sector and listed companies.

Mr. Li Ka Chun Gordon (“Mr Li"), aged 33, is an independent non-
executive Director of the Company since December 2023. Mr Li
obtained his bachelor’s degree in Accounting from The University of
Hull. Mr. Li is a member of the CPA Australia. has around 10 years of
experience in the areas of accounting and financial management in
financial institutions and corporations, and led several large audit and
financing projects.

Mr. Li is currently an executive director of Hope Life International
Holdings Limited (Stock code: 1683), since April 2024, and an
independent non-executive director of HSC Resources Group Limited
(stock code: 1850), since March 2022.

Ms. Chan Wai Yan (“Ms Chan”), aged 30, is an independent
non-executive Director of the Company since May 2024. Ms. Chan
obtained a bachelor’s degree in Accounting from University of Hull in
England. Ms. Chan is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Ms. Chan has over 8 years of financial and
accounting experiences.

Ms. Chan is currently an independent non-executive director of
Hope Life International Holdings Limited (stock code: 1683), since
October 2023, an non-executive director of Xinming China Holdings
Limited (Stock code: 2699) since April 2025, and an independent non-
executive director of OneConstruction Group Limited (Nasdaqg stock
code: ONEG) from December 2024 to June 2025.

Mr. Chiu Kam Sang (“Mr. Chiu”), aged 60, is the director of certain
subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Chiu joined the Group in 2018 and
has extensive experience in waterproofing works and maintenance
industries.
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The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Director(s)”) of China New
Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the
“Group”) is pleased to present this corporate governance report of
the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025.

The Board considers that incorporating the elements of good
corporate governance in the management structures and internal
control procedures of the Group could balance the interests of
the shareholders, customers and employees of the Company. The
Board has adopted the principles and the code provisions of the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix
C1 of the Rules (the “GEM Listing Rules”) Governing the Listing of
Securities on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) to ensure that business activities and decision-
making processes are regulated in a proper and prudent manner.
In accordance with the requirements of the GEM Listing Rules, the
Company has established an audit committee, a remuneration
committee, a nomination committee and a compliance committee
with specific written terms of reference.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Company has complied
with the CG Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the GEM Listing Rules
except for the following deviations from the Code provisions:

o Code provision C.2.1 stipulated that the roles of chairman
and chief executive should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. The post of chief executive
of the Company has remained vacant since 21 February 2020
and as at the date of this report. The duties of chief executive
have been performed by other executive Directors. As there is
a clear division of responsibilities of each Director, the vacancy
of the post of chief executive did not have any material impact
on the operations of the Group. Nevertheless, the Board
will review the current structure from time to time and if a
candidate with suitable knowledge, skill and experience is
identified, the Board will make an appointment to fill the post of
chief executive as appropriate.

o Code provision C.2 stipulated that there are certain roles
and responsibilities to be carried out by the chairman of the
Company. Due to the vacancy of the chairman of the Company
following the resignation of Mr. Chau Chi Yuen as a chairman
on 29 February 2024, such roles are delegated to the executive
Directors except the roles and responsibilities as stated in code
provision C.2.7 of the CG Code.
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. Code provision C.6.3 stipulates that the company secretary
should report to the chairman of the Board and/or the chief
executive officer. As the positions of the chairman of the Board
and the chief executive officer have been vacant, the company
secretary reports to the executive Directors of the Company
since the resignation of Mr. Chan Chi Yuen as a chairman on 29
February 2024.

DIRECTORS' SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct for dealing in securities
of the Company by the Directors in accordance with Rules 5.48 to
5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules.

No Director has dealt in the shares of the Company during the year.

Following specific enquiry by the Company, all Directors confirmed
that they have complied with such code of conduct throughout the
year ended 31 March 2025.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition of the Board of Directors

Up to the date of this annual report, the Board currently comprises
Four executive Directors and three independent non-executive
Directors. The composition of the Directors in office during the year
and up to the date of this annual report are set out in the “Report of
the Directors” in this annual report on pages 18 to 19.

Functions of the Board

The principal function of the Board is to consider and approve
the overall business plans and strategies of the Group, develop
and implement the corporate governance function, monitor the
implementation of these policies and strategies and the management
of the Company. The Group has a professional management team,
which is led by a team of senior management with substantial
experience and expertise in the Group's business and the Board
delegates the authority and responsibility for implementing the
Group's policies and strategies. During the year, the management
provided all members of the Board with updates in accordance with
the code provision C.1.2 of the CG Code.

Board Meetings and Board Practices

The Directors can attend meetings in person or through other means
of electronic communication in accordance with the Company’s
articles of association. All minutes of the Board meetings were
recorded in sufficient detail the matters considered by the Board and
the decisions reached.
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During the year, the Board held 18 Board meetings and 4 general
meeting. Details of the attendance of Directors are as follows:

Executive Directors
Ms. Miao Xianliu

(appointed on 7 May 2024)
Mr. Law Hok Yu

(appointed on 21 May 2024)
Ms. Ma Man Chi

(appointed on 19 July 2024)
Ms. Chen Qiuling

(appointed on 13 February 2025)
Mr. Yau Yan Yuen

(resigned on 21 May 2024)
Mr. Wang Jun

(resigned on 24 February 2025)

Independent non-executive Directors

Ms. Tsang Hau Wai
Mr. Li Ka Chun Gordon
Ms. Chan Wai Yan
(appointed on 21 May 2024)
Mr. Wu Zhao
(resigned on 21 May 2024)
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Under the code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code, each of the executive
Directors, the non-executive Director and independent non-executive
Directors has entered into a service contract or letter of appointment
with the Company for an initial term of two or three years and such
term shall be governed by the articles of association and/or other
relevant regulatory requirements unless terminated by either party
giving at least three months’ notice in writing.

In compliance with the code provision A.4.2 of the CG Code, all
directors appointed to fill a casual vacancy should be subject
to election by shareholders at the first general meeting after
appointment. By virtue of article 113 of the articles of association of
the Company, the Board may appoint any person as an additional
Director or to fill a casual vacancy, provided that any person so
appointed shall hold office only until the conclusion of the next
following general meeting of the Company (in the case of filing a
casual vacancy) or until the next following annual general meeting of
the Company (in the case of an addition to the Board), and shall then
be eligible for re-election.

In addition, every director should be subject to retirement by rotation
at least once every three years. Furthermore, pursuant to article 141
of the articles of association of the Company, at each annual general
meeting of the Company, one-third of the Directors for the time being
shall retire from office by rotation but shall be eligible for re-election.
Where the number of Directors is not three or a number divisible by
three, the number of Directors to retire will be the number which is
nearest to but not less than one-third of the total number of Directors.
If there are less than three Directors, they shall all retire. The Directors
to retire by rotation will be those Directors who have been Directors
longest in office since they were last elected, or appointed by the
Members (as the case may be). Every retiring Director shall be eligible
for re-election.

The Company has three independent non-executive Directors to
comply with Rule 5.05 of the GEM Listing Rules. Furthermore, among
the three independent non-executive Directors, Ms. Tsang Hau Wai
has appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise as required by Rule 5.05(2) of the
GEM Listing Rules. In accordance to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing
Rules, the Company has received from each of its independent non-
executive Directors the written confirmation of his independence. The
Company, based on such confirmation, considers Ms. Tsang Hau Wai,
Mr. Li Ka Chun Gordon and Ms. Chan Wai Yan to be independent.
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

According to the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of
the chairman and the chief executive officer should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. The post of chief
executive of the Company has remained vacant since 21 February
2020 and as at the date of this report. The duties of chief executive
have been performed by other executive Directors. As there is a clear
division of responsibilities of each Director, the vacancy of the post of
chief executive did not have any material impact on the operations of
the Group. Nevertheless, the Board will review the current structure
from time to time and if a candidate with suitable knowledge, skill and
experience is identified, the Board will make an appointment to fill the
post of chief executive as appropriate.

Delegation of Powers

The Board delegates day-to-day operations of the Group to executive
Directors and management of the Company with department heads
responsible for different aspects of the business/functions, while
reserving certain key matters in making strategic decision for its
approval. When the Board delegates aspects of its management and
administration functions to management, it gives clear directions
as to the powers of management, in particular, with respect to the
circumstances where management need to report back and obtain
prior approval from the Board before making decisions or entering
into any commitments on behalf of the Company.

Continuing Professional Development

According to the code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code, all directors
shall participate in continuous professional development to develop
and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure their contribution
to the Board remains informed and relevant. The Company would
arrange and/or introduce some Director’s training courses for the
Directors to develop and explore their knowledge and skills.

Each newly appointed Director receives comprehensive, formal and
tailored induction on the first occasion of his appointment, so as
to ensure that he has appropriate understanding of the business
and operations of the Company and that he is fully aware of his
responsibilities and obligations under the GEM Listing Rules and
relevant regulatory requirements. The Directors are continually
updated on the legal and regulatory developments, as well as
business and market changes, to facilitate the discharge of their
responsibilities.
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All Directors during the reporting period have participated in
continuous professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills through suitable trainings. The participation
in such trainings is to ensure that their contributions to the Board
remains informed and relevant.

Directors’ and Officers’ Liabilities

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance covering the
liabilities in respect of legal action against the Directors that may arise
out in the corporate activities which has been complied with the CG
Code. The insurance coverage is reviewed on an annual basis.

BOARD COMMITTEES

Audit Committee

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) was
established by the Board on 30 June 2014 with written terms of
reference in compliance with Rules 5.28 and 5.29 of the GEM Listing
Rules and code provision C.3.3 of the CG Code. The Audit Committee
currently comprises three independent non-executive Directors and
is chaired by Ms. Tsang Hau Wai. The other members are Mr. Li Ka
Chun Gordon and Ms. Chan Wai Yan. The primary duties of the Audit
Committee include the review of the Group's financial reporting
process and the internal control systems as well as risk management
of the Group.

The Audit Committee had reviewed with the management the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and
discussed financial matters, including a review of the audited
consolidated results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025.
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3 Audit Committee meetings were held during the year. Details of RAERN BEREZEGRTIRNTH BIREE
the attendance of members of the Audit Committee meeting are as EHEHESZH 2 HFBEWNT ¢
follows:
Attendance

Members RE HFERE
Ms. Tsang Hau Wai (Chairman) B2zt (£/E) 3/3
Mr. Li Ka Chun Gordon ERBRE 3/3
Ms. Chan Wai Yan (appointed on 21 May 2024) 5= ¥Skeqnm

MRZZ2EZNFERBZ+—HEZMD 3/3
Mr. Wu Zhao (resigned on 21 May 2024) BIRSEE

MRIEBEZNFERAZ+—HED 11
A summary of work performed by the Audit Committee during the U TFABZEZE SN AERNFIETZ TIEHE

year is set out below:

—
Q

)

reviewed the audited consolidated results of the Group for the
year ended 31 March 2024,

reviewed the unaudited financial statements for the six months
ended 30 September 2024;

reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’s financial controls,
internal control and risk management systems;

reviewed the Group’s accounting principles and practices, and
financial reporting matters;

approved the remuneration and the appointment and the
terms of engagement of the external auditor; and

reviewed the external auditor’s independence and objectivity
and the effectiveness of audit process in accordance with
applicable standards.
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In the meeting of the Audit Committee in June 2025, the Audit
committee reviewed the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group, the financial statements and other reports
for the year ended 31 March 2025 and discuss any significant
audit matters with the Company’s external auditor and the
senior management before recommending them to the Board for
consideration and approval. The Audit Committee recommended the
Board in relation to the re-appointment of Global Link CPA Limited as
the Company's external auditor for the financial year ending 31 March
2025 at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

Remuneration Committee

The remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration
Committee”) was established by the Board on 30 June 2014 with
written terms of reference in compliance with code provision E.1.2
of the CG Code. The Remuneration Committee currently comprises
three independent non-executive Directors and is chaired by Mr. Li
Ka Chun Gordon. The other members are Ms. Tsang Hau Wai and Ms.
Chan Wai Yan. The primary duties of the remuneration committee
are to review and recommend the terms of remuneration packages,
bonuses and other compensation payable to the Directors and the
senior management personnel of the Group, including benefits in
kind, pension rights and compensation payments, including any
compensation payable for loss or termination of their office or
appointment.
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5 Remuneration Committee meetings were held during the year RAEAER > FHNEEGRTSREFH > UBESE
to review the remuneration packages of Directors. Details of the EZ#HINTB -HNEETHEHRESTE S
attendance of the members of the Remuneration Committee meeting  @0°F :
are as follows:
Attendance

Members [n4=] HERY
Mr. Li Ka Chun Gordon (Chairman) ERBIE (FE) 5/5
Ms. Tsang Hau Wai EPTSodun 5/5
Ms. Chan Wai Yan FRER 7+ 4/4
Mr. Wu Zhao (resigned on 21 May 2024) RIkEE

MRIEBEZNFERAZ+—HED 11
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Remuneration Policy for Directors and Senior
Management

The remuneration payable to the employees includes salaries and
allowances. The Group’s remuneration policies are formulated based
on the performance of individual employees and are reviewed
regularly. Subject to the Group's profitability, the Group may also
provide a discretionary bonus to employees as an incentive for their
contribution to the Group. The primary goal of the remuneration
policy with regard to the remuneration package of the executive
Directors is to enable the Group to retain and motivate the executive
Directors by linking their compensation with performance as
measured against corporate objectives achieved. The executive
Directors are entitled to the remuneration packages including basic
salaries and discretionary bonuses.

The share option scheme of the Company (the “Share Option
Scheme”) was adopted by sole Shareholder by way of written
resolution on 30 June 2014. The terms of the Share Option Scheme
are in accordance with the provisions of Chapter 23 of the GEM
Listing Rules. The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide
(i) employees of the Group (whether full-time or part-time); (ii)
directors (including executive directors, non-executive directors
and independent non-executive directors (where applicable)) of the
Group; (i) substantial shareholders of each member of the Group and
(iv) associates of directors or substantial shareholders of the Group
of which includes any of the abovementioned persons (together, the
“Participants” and each, a “Participant”) with an opportunity to obtain
an equity interest in the Company, thus linking their interest with the
interests of the Group and thereby providing them with an incentive
to work better for the interests of the Group.

The Company believes that by offering the Participants a shareholding
stake in the Company, the interests of the Participants and the
Company become aligning and thereby the Participants have
additional incentives to improve the Company's performance.

Pursuant to Code Provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, details of the annual
remuneration of the members of the senior management by band for
the year ended 31 March 2025 are as follows:
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Nomination Committee

The Board is empowered under the Company'’s articles of association
to appoint any person as a director either to fill a casual vacancy on
or, as an additional member of the Board. Qualified candidates will be
proposed to the Board for consideration and the selection criteria are
mainly based on the assessment of their professional qualifications
and experience. The Board selects and recommends candidates for
directorship to the shareholders having regards to the balance of
skills and experience appropriate to the Group's business.

The nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination
Committee”) was established by the Board on 30 June 2014 with
written terms of reference in compliance with code provision B.3.1 of
the CG Code. The Nomination Committee currently comprises three
independent non-executive Directors and is chaired by Ms. Chan
Wai Yan. The other members are Ms. Tsang Hau Wai and Mr. Li Ka
Chun Gordon. The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are
to make recommendations to the Board regarding the candidates for
directorship, either to fill vacancies on or appoint additional Directors,
and succession planning for Directors, in particular, the chairman and
the chief executive of the Company.

5 Nomination Committee meetings were held during the year to
review the appointment of Directors. Details of the attendance of the
members of the Nomination Committee meeting are as follows:
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Attendance
Members [54=] HERH®
Ms. Chan Wai Yan (Chairman) BERLLT (F/E) 4/4
Ms. Tsang Hau Wai BIhEut 5/5
Mr. Li Ka Chun Gordon ERBIRE 5/5
Mr. Wu Zhao (resigned on 21 May 2024) C=¥| S
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Board Diversity Policy

The Board had adopted and established a set of board diversity policy
(the "Board Diversity Policy”) setting out the approach to achieve
diversity on the Board with the aims of enhancing Board effectiveness
and corporate governance as well as achieving the Group's business
objectives and sustainable development. The Company recognises
and embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board to enhance the
quality of its performance. In designing the Board's composition, the
Nomination Committee will consider a number of aspects, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service. The Board was comprised with a diverse Board during the
year ended 31 March 2025, and all Board appointments will be based
on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against objective
criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.
The ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution that the
selected candidates will bring to the Board.

The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity Policy,
as appropriate, to ensure the effectiveness of the Board Diversity
Policy. The Nomination Committee will discuss any revisions that may
be required, and recommend any such revisions to the Board for
consideration and approval.

The Nomination Committee also monitors the implementation of the
Board Diversity Policy and reports to the Board on the achievement
of the measurable objectives for achieving diversity under the Board
Diversity Policy.

Compliance Committee

The compliance committee of the Company (the “Compliance
Committee”) was established by the Board on 30 June 2014 with
written terms of reference. The Compliance Committee currently
comprises three independent non-executive Directors and is chaired
by Ms. Tsang Hau Wai. The other members are Mr. Li Ka Chun Gordon
and Ms. Chan Wai Yan.
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The primary duties of the Compliance Committee are to review
matters relating to the historical conduct of the operations of the
Group with a view to () understand the relevant legal compliance
obligations; (ii) recommend procedures and protocols for
implementation and/or inclusion into the policies of the Group for
regulation of our recent or future operations to ensure compliance
with all applicable laws, rules and regulations, and to review such
policies from time to time to consider whether any amendments
or updates are necessary and to make recommendations to
the Board for amendment and adoption as appropriate, and (iii)
review the effectiveness of and compliance by the Group with the
policies implemented by the Group and to recommend remedial
actions to be taken (if any) in the event any non-compliance is
discovered. Any incident of non-compliance will be reported to our
compliance committee. Meetings will be held on a monthly basis
or as and when necessary to perform the functions set out above.
For effective monitoring, external independent professionals will
be engaged to conduct reviews of our internal control system and
its implementation and effectiveness on an annual basis, and if
considered necessary by compliance committee, at frequency as it
considered appropriate.

1 Compliance Committee meeting was held during the year. Details
of the attendance of the members of the Compliance Committee
meeting are as follows:

EREEEZIERERARTARAERBE
EETRZERE N THRBEMZEZREGREE;
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B2 HB¥ITE 0A) -ERFERERFEER
ZETER TRRESRAANEBERET LU
BITEXFBZBE - RAVNER GHESE
REEREERRBEREZBR TRERAE
EZERE  FREINBBIFEA L LIRS
Iz BB B MR H BT R AR o

REFER GREEERTIRNERZ - GREER
EREHEERZFRNT

Attendance
Members [p4=] HERE
Ms. Tsang Hau Wai (Chairman) BILELt (£/E) 1/1
Mr. Li Ka Chun Gordon EREBRE 1/1

Ms. Chan Wai Yan

RERLL 1/
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According to code provision D.3 of the CG Code, the Board is
responsible for performing the corporate governance duties
of the Company. The Board shall have the following duties and
responsibilities for performing the corporate governance duties of the
Company:

1. to develop and review the policies and practices on corporate
governance of the Group and make recommendations;

2. toreview and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

3. to review and monitor the Group’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

4. to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to Directors and
employees; and

5 to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code as set
out in Appendix C1 to the GEM Listing Rules and disclosure in
the corporate governance report of the Company.

Directors’ and Auditor's Responsibilities for the Consolidated
Financial Statements

All Directors acknowledges their responsibility to prepare the Group’s
consolidated financial statements for each financial period to give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the results
and cash flows for that period. In preparing the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2025, the Board has selected
suitable accounting policies and applied them consistently, made
judgments and estimates that are prudent, fair and reasonable and
prepared the consolidated financial statements on a going concern
basis. The Directors are responsible for taking all reasonable and
necessary steps to safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent
and detect fraud and other irregularities. The statement of auditor
about their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial
statements is set out in the Independent Auditor's Report. The
Directors continue to adopt the going concern approach in preparing
the consolidated financial statements and are not aware of any
material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt upon the Company's ability to continue as a going
concern.
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Auditors’ Remuneration

During the year, the remuneration paid or payable to the auditors of
the Company, in respect of their audit and non-audit services was as
follows:

2 Em N =
FR MBZEFBERZRBENREN R AT %
HEDRYM N T

HK$'000

FET

Audit service EBIZR 650
Non-audit services JEBEIZARTS S
Total 4Est 650

Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board, recognising its overall responsibility in ensuring the risk
management and internal control systems of the Company and for
reviewing its effectiveness, is committed to implement an effective
and sound risk management and internal control systems to
safeguard the interests of shareholders and the assets of the Group.

The Board is responsible for establishing the Group's internal
control framework, covering all material controls including financial,
operational and compliance controls, as well as risk management
functions of different systems. Review has been carried out in a
systematic approach based on the risk assessments of the operations
and controls. The Board considers that the key areas of the Group’s
internal control systems are reasonably implemented.

During the year under review, the Board, through the Audit
Committee, has conducted a review, via an appointed professional
firm to perform internal audit function, on the effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control systems of the Group, covering
financial, operational and risk management aspects. The systems
were considered effective and adequate.

The Group adopts a complete process style of risk management
in a functional bottom up manner, including risk identification,
assessment, evaluation and treatment. The functional areas across
the Group provide input of risks with treatments, which are appraised
and maintained. The risk management system, as well as the internal
control system, are continuous, proactive and systematic processes.

With the implementation of internal audit function, the effectiveness
of the risk management and internal control systems is reviewed by
conducting internal audit assignments. Recommendations for major
observations of control weaknesses from the audits will be provided,
S0 as to resolve material internal control defects.
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Dividend Policy

The Board has adopted and established a set of dividend policy (the
“Dividend Policy”). The Company currently does not have a pre—
determined dividend payout ratio. Any declaration, payment and
amount of dividend in the future are subject to the Board's discretion
having regard to the Group's future financial performance and
earnings, capital requirement and surplus, general financial conditions
and other factors as the Board may consider relevant.

INVESTORS AND SHAREHOLDERS RELATIONS
The Company values communication with the shareholders and
investors. The Company uses two-way communication channels to
account to shareholders and investors for the performance of the
Company. Enquiries and suggestions from shareholders or investors
are welcomed, and enquiries from shareholders may be put to the
Board through the following channels to the executive Director:

1. By mail to the Company’s principal place of business at Unit 12,
5/F, Tower 1, Harbour Centre, 1 Hok Cheung Street, Hung Hom,
Kowloon, Hong Kong;

2. By email to info@chinanewholdings.com.hk.

The Company uses a number of formal communications channel
to account to shareholders and investors for the performance of
the Company. These include (i) the publication of quarterly, interim
and annual reports; (ii) the annual general meeting or extraordinary
general meeting providing a forum for shareholders to raise
comments and exchanging views with the Board; (iii) updated key
information of the Group available on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company; (iv) the Company’s website offering
communication channel between the Company and its shareholders
and investors; and (v) the Company's share registrars in Hong Kong
serving the shareholders in respect of all share registration matters.

The Company aims to provide its shareholders and investors with
high standards of disclosure and financial transparency. The Board
is committed to provide clear, detailed, timely manner and on a
regular basis information of the Group to shareholders through the
publication of quarterly, interim and annual reports and/or dispatching
circulars, notices, and other announcements.
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The Company strives to take into consideration its shareholders’
views and inputs, and address shareholders’ concerns. Shareholders
are encouraged to attend the annual general meeting for which at
least 20 clear business days' notice shall be given. The chairman
of the Board as well as chairmen of the Audit Committee, the
Nomination Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Compliance Committee, or in their absence, the Directors are
available to answer shareholders’ questions on the Group's
businesses at the meeting. To comply with code provision E.1.2 of the
CG Code, the management will ensure the external auditor to attend
the annual general meeting to answer questions about the conduct
of the audit, the preparation and content of the auditor’s report, the
accounting policies and auditor independence.

All shareholders have statutory rights to call for extraordinary
general meetings and put forward agenda items for consideration by
shareholders. According to section 566 of the Companies Ordinance,
The directors are required to call a general meeting if the company
has received requests to do so from members of the company
representing at least 5% of the total voting rights of all the members
having a right to vote at general meetings. A request (a) must state
the general nature of the business to be dealt with at the meeting;
and (b) may include the text of a resolution that may properly be
moved and is intended to be moved at the meeting.

A shareholder may propose a person other than a retiring director or
recommended by the board of directors for election as a director by
validly lodging the following documents within the period hereinafter
mentioned at the registered office of the Company at Unit 12, 5/F,
Tower 1, Harbour Centre, 1 Hok Cheung Street, Hung Hom, Kowloon,
Hong Kong:

1. a notice in writing of the intention to propose the appointment
or reappointment of such person to the office of director, which
must state the full name of such person, include the person’s
biographical details as required by rule 17.50(2) of the GEM
Listing Rules and be signed by the proposing shareholder; and

2. a notice in writing signed by such person of his willingness to
be appointed or re-appointed as a director together with his
written consent to the publication of his/her personal data.
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Such documents shall be lodged at the registered office of the
Company within the period of seven (7) days after the dispatch of
the notice of the general meeting. Upon receipt of such documents,
the Company shall verify the documents and, if the proposal is found
to be in order, publish an announcement or issue a supplementary
circular in respect of the proposal in accordance with rule 17.46B of
the GEM Listing Rules.

In the event of any general meeting called by at least ten (10) clear
business days’ (as defined by the GEM Listing Rules) or fourteen (14)
days' (whichever is the longer) notice in writing, such documents
lodged within the aforesaid period may be received less than ten
(10) business days prior to the general meeting, in which case the
Company will consider the adjournment of the general meeting
in order to give shareholders at least ten (10) business days to
consider the relevant information disclosed in the announcement or
supplementary circular.

In order to promote effective communication, the Company also
maintains website (www.chinanewholdings.com.hk) which includes
the latest information relating to the Group and its businesses.

COMPANY SECRETARY

During the vyear, the company secretary has duly complied with
relevant professional training requirements in accordance with Rule
5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no significant changed in the Company's constitutional
documents during the year ended 31 March 2025. The Articles is
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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ABOUT THE REPORT

Purpose and Objective

China New Holdings Limited (formerly known as Royal Century
Resources Holdings Limited) (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively known as the “Group” or “We") are pleased to present
our annual Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG") Report (the
“Report”). The Report discloses the Group’'s management approach,
strategies, policies and performance on various sustainability issues
in a transparent manner. We recognise the importance of ESG
value and are dedicated to creating long-term shared value for the
environment, employees, customers and community by paying
attention to our stakeholders’ needs.

Reporting Scope and Period

Unless otherwise specified, the scope of the Report is consistent with
the reporting scope of the Group's annual report. The information
disclosed in the Report covers our core business segments, including
(i) provision of design, fitting-out and engineering procurement of
furnishings and related products services (“design, fitting-out and
engineering services”); (i) leasing of construction equipment and
provision of related installation services (“leasing of construction
equipment”); (iii) sourcing and merchandising of fine and rare wines
("wines merchandising”); and (iv) provision of financial services
business comprising securities advisory services, securities dealing
and brokerage services and asset management services and money
lending (“financial services business”), for the period from 1 April
2024 to 31 March 2025 (the “Reporting Period").

The reporting boundary is determined according to the corresponding
materiality of each business segment to our business and operations,
as well as the sustainability impact.

Reporting Standards

The Report has been prepared in accordance with the latest
disclosure requirements of the Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Guide (the “ESG Reporting Guide”) as set out in Appendix
20 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
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Reporting Principles

The Report has been prepared based on the reporting principles of
materiality, quantitative, balance and consistency outlined in the ESG
Reporting Guide to ensure that the Report clearly presents the ESG

EERIRA
REEREHRESBFE 2RI TN EFTRIERIESG
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issues that are of concern to our stakeholders.

Reporting
Principles

Our Application

EHRER HMIMFER

The Report is structured based on the materiality of respective sustainability issues, as assessed
and identified through regular stakeholder engagement activities and materiality assessment.
Issues that reflect the highest significance to both the Group and key stakeholders, in terms of
environmental and social impacts, are considered material and will be further discussed in the
Report. For further details of our stakeholder engagement and materiality assessment processes,
please refer to the sections of “Stakeholder Engagement “and “Materiality Assessment”.
FREEFEBEHRFNESENEZ ML R EFELERZENEZ M FL TG &H5
MEEN - ARENHt X E T EEAEEN I EFNEREENZEGRETRAERER
TR ERREFE—T I m e AMRMANFRE2ENEZMTENFMERE  F2RE RO E
28 MIBEE N HIEmM-

Materiality
EEM

We have listed relevant quantified environmental and social key performance indicators
("KPIs") and their historical data, where applicable, in the Report so that stakeholders can better

uantitative , N
Q understand the Group's sustainability performance.

il KRR AREFTIE T HAN TS CIRBENT FRARERUEE R EFE L EIE QER) » UER
NERE T RAERNAFEERRT
The Group has provided an unbiased picture of our ESG performance by impartially disclosing
relevant ESG performance, challenges and opportunities of the Group during the Reporting Period
salance in the Report
e REBBBERRS A EMITEAER N RS HABNAERBESGRIE kB E MR EH
BIRFMIMESGRIR

The Report has been prepared to be consistent with the methodology applied in previous ESG
reports, allowing for meaningful comparisons over time, unless otherwise specified. Necessary
explanations would be provided regarding any changes to the methodology used, as compared to
the previous year, in the Report.

RSB AN AR ENHEEBTESCRERATIRBAN A EZRE —B MEHARENLER
EBFTRAN AR T ERLEFEEREE) RSN ARSFHNERERE

Consistency
—H%

Access to the Report RS ER

As part of the annual report of the Group, the Report has been
prepared in both English and Chinese and is available on our
corporate website at http://www.chinanewholdings.com.hk. In case of
any discrepancy, the English version shall prevail.

Your Feedback

The Group endeavours to connect with our stakeholders through the
Report. We would like to invite you to share your valuable opinions,
which would help us further refine our sustainability management
approach and performance. If you have any inquiries or suggestions,
please contact us at info@chinanewholdings.com.hk.
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ABOUT THE GROUP )N e
The Group is principally engaged in four business segments, AEBEFEREMEZETR > BIF !
including:

. Provision of design, fitting-out and engineering and e REZT - EEBATERBMEERER
procurement of furnishings and related products services; TR E MRS ;

. Leasing of construction equipment and provision of related o  FAERIERERIBHEBEZER ;
installation services,

e Sourcing and merchandising of fine and rare wines; and . EERBREH ; Uk
. Provision of financial services business comprising securities — ® ERHRBEFOENBSREER BF

advisory services, securities dealing and brokerage services R RBWLIRTE - BEBIERB RIRE-
and asset management services and money lending.

Our Operations
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OUR MANAGEMENT APPROACH TO
SUSTAINABILITY

ESG Management Approach and Strategy

The Group is committed to operating in an environmentally, socially
and economically responsible manner across all segments of our
business. In pursuit of a sustainable future for the environment,
employees, customers and community, the board of directors of
the Group (the “Board”) approves the ESG framework including four
sustainability pillars: (1) Creating Value for Our Employees; (2) Creating
Value for Our Customers; (3) Creating Value for Our Environment; and
(4) Creating Value for Our Community, as well as the sustainability
goals and targets* for each of the sustainability pillars as set out
below.

Our Goal

EMEE

To enhance customer
experience with quality
products and services for
the benefit of customers
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our Goal

EMMBE

To shoulder corporate
social responsibility
and give back to our
communities
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Creating Value for
Our Environment
HEMBIRAISEE

2
8
2
m
H

eQo
=8
g:.
=
T 0
$5
o
&2
o
g

El

¥[8

our Goal*
RMBE*
To pursue green and sustainable
operations by reducing our
impact to the environment in
response to climate change
BB RMHIRIENEEIN
FEHRIREL > BREGEMT]
FEREE
*Please refer to the section of
“Climate Change” for more details of
our green targets.
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Our Goal
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To build aninclusive and
joyful work environment for
ouremployees
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ESG Governance and Board’'s Oversight

The Board has overall responsibility for the Group’s ESG strategy and
reporting. The Board provides oversight of our ESG issues and sets
the overall direction for the Group’s ESG management approach
and strategy. Delegated by the Board, the ESG Working Group is
responsible for overseeing the Group’s ESG management approach,
driving the planning and implementation of the Group’s ESG-related
matters, and advising the Board on the matters including but not
limited to the below on a regular basis:

o developing and reviewing the ESG management approach,
vision, goals and targets, and strategies for the Group;

o identifying, evaluating, prioritising and managing material ESG-
related risks (including but not limited to climate-related risks
and environmental and social risks along the supply chain) and
formulating preventive and mitigation plans;

J formulating and overseeing the implementation of ESG-related
policies and initiatives;

. reviewing the material interests of the Group's key stakeholders
and reporting their opinions on material issues to the Group to
ensure the long-term ESG strategic direction;

. reviewing and monitoring the implementation of the Group's
ESG performance and progress made against the ESG-related
targets and goals;

. embedding the sustainability strategy in each department of
the Group;

. reviewing and monitoring employees’ training and
development of the Group;

. coordinating with other staff to deliver ESG-related matters in
daily operations; and

. preparing an annual ESG report on its activities for the Board's
approval.

ESGERREFEMEE
EEGHAEENESGREEMERKIELIE
- EFFHRMMESCERETEE LAK
EEMESCERE S it RRIEHIE RIS M ESC
THRMEESEERE A 5EEARERBAIESG
EEFH B AEBESCHMEENRENE
i WEAMBEERRRUATEEAESTEE
iz

o HIERBHAEBNESGEERS#H BAR-
BRI RS ;

o HAEHE S BRE R E R RESGIERIRY
EXEAR (BFEEFRNEREERMAE
B R S SR R EVIRIB R AL & A R) - T
ETAEBESZE ;

o HEKREEHRESGHEAHNBRMNIEMANE
ifile

s BRAKEEIEFMNENEAAD WM
AEBRSMABEEZENETR  UE
MESCGHIRHIRIE S M ;

s EEKEEBEAEEMESGRERITE
o MUK BESGHERARY B IRBVER ;

s RUFBEZRRBMALEENSER
F35

. B R EEAEBBE THNEIRER ;

s HBHMBETIWRA EAEEEDE
ESGIREAMVEIR ; LK

bl

b3l
2

s HMEFHRUFEESGRET HEZFH
#o
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ESG Governance Structure

ESGEA%E

The Board
E=g

Finance and Administrative
Division

BT R AT T ANEIREDF

ESG Risk Management

The Group considers ESG risk management as an integral part of
sustainable operations and sound corporate governance. Being
accountable for the sustainable growth of the Group, the Board
retains the ultimate responsibility for the oversight of the Group's
ESG-related risk management activities. The ESG Working Group is
responsible for identifying, evaluating, prioritising and managing ESG-
related risks including but not limited to climate-related risks and
also environmental and social risks along the supply chain. Relevant
control measures are formulated and implemented to mitigate
material ESG-related risks at corresponding business levels. The Board
reviews the effectiveness of the control measures and provides
relevant suggestions, if necessary, on a regular basis. For more details
of our corporate governance and risk management approach, please
refer to the “Corporate Governance Report” section in this annual
report.

Stakeholder Engagement

Maintaining on-going communication with stakeholders allows us
to better understand their expectations regarding our sustainability
performance and respond to their needs appropriately. We
communicate with internal and external key stakeholders through a
variety of communication channels to identify material sustainability
issues. This would guide us in further refining our future sustainability
management approach and strategy and continuously improving our
corporate social responsibilities.

Human Resources Division

Sales and Administrative
Division
S KA TECERFT

ESGHERA ELf% B 12

REERDRESCRBEEZAIRFESENfEE D
FEANEZEMBD EFETHAEENAR
BEREE KEGEBEAEBEESGHERRERE
EHNREBEEESGITIFMEEEHA  sTh
BAEE R EBEESCHBNER > SFEETIR
R R EARR R B R U R S ERANIR
BHMEER - ARNERNEEERENERE
1> LUREEARFE £ 75 B m BV E RESGHERI AR
EFTERRFERIEEANIE  LELER
REAEREZ BN RMAEEEARAREES
HONEZME F2ELAFERSTHIEEE

ARG

FRESH
BRNERBFENEBESAEEB T
BEMNEHRMAUFESERRENHNE T HMH
MNBRIEHBENOE - RMBBREBER
BEAEMIINNEER M EETER LRETE
BEANAFBERZE -SRI ERME—F T
ERMRROAFERREESHANRE LA
ERSHRMNEELEEE-
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We have summarised the key stakeholder groups and

communication channels in the following table:

Key Stakeholders

TEFRME

RAEETERPRE T TEFMEENREBEE
RE:

Communication Channels

ABERE

Customers .
eI

Customer meetings

YRS

Meetings with sales representatives
HERKEE

Customer hotline

BRHG

Shareholders and Investors .
BRRKREEE

Shareholders’ and investors’ meetings
BREREEESZ

Company website

REHEE

Email

B EH

Employees .
B&

Departmental meetings
EREE

Staff appraisal meetings
BT EHEE
Seminars, workshops and trainings
BT & ~ TR R IEE
Intranet

) B 4

Email

BT M

Internal memo
A=t

Suppliers and Business Partners 3
HEEREESIERH

Physical and phone meetings
ERKEEEE

On-site briefing and trainings

IR 5 R R 5l

Collaboration between project managers
IHEKIEZ BNEE

Co-ordination with purchase managers
B IR 7 BBt A
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Key Stakeholders

FERNGE

Government and .
Regulatory Authorities
BT KBRS .

Communication Channels

BBRE

Seminars, reports and circulars on regulations
RATFOERRBIIA ST & ~ 3RS M@ K

Company website

NE B

Email

BTG

Fax

BE

Enquiry hotline

B

Financial Institutions .
ERIEIE

Physical and phone meetings
BEREEH

Financial report

MRS

Corporate announcement
REIRNE

Media .
E L

Media meetings after shareholders’ meetings
KRRAGEBNIEEEE

Company website

NGIE DA

Email

BT M

Enquiry hotline

BHAE

Community and Non-governmental .
Organisations (“NGOs")
HHERIEE AT E R .

Participation in community activities
2 HHEES)

community news

1@ 3R
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Materiality Assessment

The Group identifies the materiality of ESG-related issues to both
the Group and its stakeholders based on stakeholder engagement
activities on a regular basis. Facilitated by an independent
sustainability consultant, our most recent materiality assessment
was carried out in 2024/25, engaging both internal and external key
stakeholder groups through online questionnaires; the results of this
materiality assessment continue to represent the material topics
raised by stakeholders. The following steps describe our materiality
assessment processes:

SEMTM
SEETHEBFNE S WES ) T EESGHE
A AEENFNENEE S E B aliF
BEREMNOHES T RARCHNEZR ST
§R2024/25F E#1T B3 LM ERAET RS
KON EBR M ERREITER ; ZTEERE
BENMFNERBINEE U TS BT &
FNEB M HBTE -

e We engaged an independent sustainability consultant to identify a list of 25 ESG issues

Identification relevant to the Group by referencing to the The Stock Exchange ESG Reporting Guide,
Bl industry characteristics, business operations and stakeholder feedback.

s RMEFTBUNKELRER BBRSEEBHIFIESGREES M TERM EHE
EURFFNERNREE #i5 72500 A B AR RAMESGEBE B E

e We invited internal and external key stakeholders to complete an online
questionnaire and rate the importance of the ESG issues.
o HMBFEABRININEZFHETHAR LBERE > WHESGEERN

EBIETH o

e We evaluated and analysed the results of questionnaire rating to identify
the prioritised material ESG issues, and compiled a materiality matrix.

e BMEMEHAENGERETTTHMNON UEEBLEZTENEKX
ESGRE » W AR I T EEEFER -

e A list of 6 most material ESG issues was presented to
the ESG Working Group for discussion and validation.

o B EIER6EREAESGEEMNSIFRIRZ24ESCT (E/)\A
DAYESY 30 S BT ©
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Materiality Matrix

EEMIER
g
T
® 21 ® 15
® 13
® 18
2 ® 10 ® 19 ® 22
o
S © 17 02 ®7
28 o9
58
2 ® 14 ® 12 ® 16
D R
ek
Sw ® 23 ® 20
& 'Y
[%2]
®3 ® 25
o4
o8 o2
. ®5 e
g% @ 11
Low High
& Significance to the Group =
HAEENEEMN
List of ESG Issues ESG:E TR
Alr emissions 10.  Clean technology 18.  Product assurance and quality
BERBER IRIRI M EmFEHES
Waste 11.  Green finance 19.  Customer service
BEEY) AR SR BEER
Energy consumption 12.  Staff welfare 20. Intellectual property rights
BEIRVHAE EERA management
Greenhouse gas emissions 13.  Equal-opportunity, diversity, HHERESE
RERAEHER anti-discrimination 21.  Marketing and advertising
Water consumption TEHE Ll RER MiGHEERES
KER 14.  Occupational health and 22.  Anti-corruption
Packaging material safety RES
consumption BERREREZE 23.  Community investment
BEYRHE R 15.  Staff development and HERE
Climate change risk training 24.  Product design and innovation
RIRECHY R bR BT #REKRIE E MM st AR
Green procurement and 16.  Employment compliance 25.  Data protection and
sourcing BIEESRME cybersecurity
AREIREE 17.  Ethically responsible IR RENRRZ S
Environmental risk in supply sourcing
chain BETHRE
HIEHE PRV IRIE B bR
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The 6 ESG issues at the top right quadrant of the above materiality M _EEE 4 5EMEA E A ECTEESCE B #
matrix indicate the most material sustainability issues identified and ~ BAREANIFEL BEE Wi EARES D

will be further discussed in the Report. E—Faime
Material ESG Issue Section
B AESG:EE =1:11]
7. Climate change risk Climate Change
RIZEERY R K RIZEE
9. Environmental risk in supply chain Supply Chain Management
R pESE R IV IRIE BB HAEREIE
15.  Staff development and training Development and Training
BT EREAIEI R
18.  Product assurance and quality Product and Service Quality
EmnREEES EmRRBER
22.  Anti-corruption Anti-corruption
k&S R&E=E
Anti-money Laundering
kR
24.  Product design and innovation Product and Service Quality
EE a5t B AT EmRRBEER
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. To build an inclusive and joyful work environment for our employees
AREMNEIRI—ESSMIREN TIEIRE

. Staff development and training
BT #RKIE

The Group values its employees, as they are of utmost importance to  AEEZRHEFNE T PN AEENEES
the Group's long-term development and success. We strive to create BN EMEEZ KPR N AETIEEZ—ER
a safe, inclusive and joyful work environment to our staff where &~ BGRMMIREN TERIE  BMMAEFRE
they feel rewarded, encouraged and accommodated. We ensure - EEHEMNE S R ERBERETEES
strict compliance with applicable laws and regulations in relation to ~ Fth#E A RHEME (ThE ) EE B G HEEAYE
employment practices in Hong Kong and in the People’s Republic of — B &R RIRA > BIFEERER !

China (the “PRC"), including but not limited to:

Hong Kong
5%

e Employment Ordinance ((IE{E1EH))

e Employees’ Compensation Ordinance ({{&&fE1E6)))

. Minimum Wage Ordinance ((R{EIEEH))

. Sex Discrimination Ordinance ({14 Bl 1R & 51))

e Disability Discrimination Ordinance ({215 R &)

. Family Status Discrimination Ordinance ({ZX EE & i 15 1R 1451 )
. Race Discrimination Ordinance ((FERRIEZAR1EH))

The PRC
FE

. Labour Law of the PRC ({FrZE A R HEAEEETE))
. Labour Contract Law of the PRC ({1 #E A R HEFE S EEEE))
. The Social Insurance Law of the PRC ({FZE A\ R HFE L & (R &%)

During the Reporting Period, we were not aware of any material non- 73R &5 8RR » F I A F0 R 7E A BA 3 B & AR 1 ~
compliance with the laws and regulations relating to compensation EE LB TIERHS R - FHEH T 25T
and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest b~ RIERMEE B REFNABREE R &R
periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other A E > BEREATSRHIE R

benefits and welfare.
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Employee Distribution

As of 31 March 2025, the Group had a total of 23 full-time employees &=
(2023/24: 17 full-time employees). The employee distribution by
gender, age group, employment category and geographical region is

as follows:
By Gender
IERED
W 2023/24
2024/25
12 12
11
5
Male Female
it keq i
By Employment Category
REEEREIS
W 2023/24
2024/25
12
8
6
5 5
l 4
Senior Middle General And
Management Management  Technical Staff
BREEE PREERE —MRRAEMET

Employee Turnover

During the Reporting Period, the overall employee turnover rate was
26% (2023/24: 50%). The employee turnover by gender, age group and

geographical region is shown in the following graphs.

BTN

TETREZR=1t—H ' AEELF23L

2B T (2023/24: 17228 ET) MR &E

AN EEALNRMEEOME T DMUT :
By Age Group

RERAEREISD

W 2023/24

9 9 2024/25
7
4
3
2 2 2
1 I 1
i | | I

Below31  31-40 41-50 51-60  Above 60
BT 31408 41-508F 51-60B%  60REMLLE
By Geographical Region
freulen Iba)
[ 2023/24
2024/25
19
17
4
0
Hong Kong The PRC
&5 FE
BIRK

RRERRE  HPNE TEERAETE26%
(2023/24: 50%)° T [EIFE T ¥R ~ Fh 4B BIA
EEOHWE T REAK.

Employee Turnover Rate Employee Turnover Rate Employee Turnover Rate
(By Gender) (By Age Group) (By Geographical Region)
BImKE BImKXE TRAE
/| E< E: 2
(FERIRI9) (FREEAERIE D) e (#Eith 193)
55% 2024/25
100% 100%
78%
67%
B 2023/24 W 2023/24
2024/25 50% 2024/25
25% 43%
18%
gk 1%
0% 0% 0% I 0%
Male Female Below31 3140 4150 51-60 Above 60 Hong Kong The PRC
Bt Z 3T 31-405% 41508 51-608% 60 E
Notes: ek .
1) All employee-related data covered the entire Group, including employees in -~ 1) FrEETABERREREEE GEPENET

the PRC.

R
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Employee Rights and Welfare

We aim to enhance the wellbeing of our employees and protect
their rights. We uphold the principle of equal opportunities and
adopt zero-tolerance towards any kind of discrimination related to
race, nationality, ethnic origin, religion, sex, or marital status. In this
regard, our policies related to equal opportunity, diversity and anti-
discrimination are clearly stated in our Staff Handbook. During our
recruitment process, we provide equal opportunity to consider
the right candidates based on their appropriate experiences, skills,
competencies and qualifications for a particular position. We provide
equal opportunity of access to appropriate training and development
based on identified business and individual needs.

To safeguard the rights of our staff and foster employee welfare,
we have in place fair and comprehensive human resources policies
relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
development and training, working hours, rest periods, benefits and
welfare, and which are set out in our Staff Handbook.

Employee Benefits

BTEF
Paid Leaves
Hir{REA
e Annual leaves o Staff birthday parties
FiR BT4XHIEY
e Maternity leaves e Festival celebrations
ER B H B

Apart from employees’ work performance, we are also concerned
about their wellbeing and encourage work-life balance. To foster a
joyful and positive work atmosphere, we organise various employee
activities each year. During the Reporting Period, a series of lunch
gatherings were organised at our offices to celebrate Mid-autumn
Festival, Christmas and Chinese New Year with our employees.

Attracting and Retaining Talents

Talent acquisition is crucial to the Group's long-term success and
competitiveness. To attract and retain employees with loyalty, passion
and desired skillsets, we provide competitive remuneration package
and benefits to our staff. We continuously monitor market practices
and receive feedback from our staff on salary compensation to
ensure that the salary package provided is in line with the market
standards. Staff appraisal is conducted annually to provide our
staff with sufficient opportunities for advancement and help them
to improve and grow. The staff appraisal result forms the basis for
determining employees’ salary, discretionary bonus and promotion
opportunities.

BT
HPIBHRS E TR L (REMFIAIER] -
RAURFTERERA > BEAEER BB
IR~ SRE 1B SUE IR R AR B RV IR AR BRER T
BBREE o UL ?JaﬁE’J«ﬁI?Hﬂ»EHEE?UEH%
FIERFERE LUK RIEREBNBR
EHEBBET HARKBERE TSRS I
REMAIER ERA ERBEAR e 8
MER > ZECBEAIKREE - RARBESHAIMY
EGNEARE REBERIRERN TSR

@ o

RREE T o RIEE S TR I #7 Al
EzﬁiﬁfE REERE T HRAEI TIFRE-R
B HBRENETEFET ATREENAL
,\/J,_\Blﬁ@tﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁtﬁﬂﬁﬁ(ﬂl?ﬂmﬂh

e Discretionary bonus
FYIBTEAT

T BT TR HATOEAOMANENL
jﬁﬁiﬁblf’ﬁéﬁiiiﬁﬁ’ﬂilz@i0%%?5’9%%%@8’91
ERE BRASEXSHEMSBE T EH VR
HHAR BRMERA E%ﬂ#? RINTEES
HETHEEBER T PE B MEERE

R 5| #0458 A7
AT R AEBNRERNMHFFNILEE
B THRSIMBELDH  ROMBEAFIFREE
WET > HWASETRHAERFE NFHINEEN
B - RMAFEERTHEN TENETHH
PR U MRATIRMEMFHM S R 55
BRE-FMEFEGETELTE RETRHER
EBHRERE  BEMAESMRE 8T
BRVAEESIHM BBETEARSAHERN
Bho



The Group regards safety as the first priority in our business as we
have the responsibility to safeguard the health and safety of our
people, subcontractors and the public, where appropriate, in the daily
operations. As such, various occupational health and safety measures
and relevant procedures are implemented for our staff in offices and
construction sites. The Group also strictly complies with applicable
laws and regulations in relation to health and safety in Hong Kong and
in the PRC, including but not limited to:

Hong Kong
BE

FEBRZE2ARMAEBNEZ R BRME
BEEEHEEETRESEI - DEBRAR (W
BRMNEENZE2 -FAIL HMPERSPLRERE
ETHNETERSERERRERZEHEHL
RAEARERF AEETERETEERTEARM
BERZENBERZRRER SRFEETRR

. Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance ((H% 2 % & K B B EA)))
. Factories and Industrial Undertakings Ordinance ({T k& T 248 & 5))

The PRC
HE

. Labour Law of the PRC ({(FhZE AR HFE %))

. Law of the PRC on Prevention and Control of Occupational Diseases ({FRZE A B 0 B 5 22 5B 58 5% )

During the Reporting Period, there were no recorded cases of
material work-related injuries (2023/24: nil). The total lost days due
to work injury were 0 days (2023/24: 0). No work-related fatality has
been recorded for the past three years including the Reporting Period.
During the Reporting Period, we were not aware of any material non-
compliance with the laws and regulations relating to providing a safe
working environment and protecting employees from occupational
hazards.

Construction Health and Safety

To promote health and safety at construction sites, safety policies,
working procedures, plans and measures are set out in the safety
manual for our design, fitting-out and engineering services business.
The safety manual is distributed to all workers and the person-in-
charge of the subcontractors to ensure that they understand all
safety standards. Workers are required to follow all safety rules
and regulations set out in the safety manual, such as wearing
safety helmet at all times and preventing unauthorised use of lifting
construction equipment. To reduce risks of safety hazards, workers
are required to acquire permits for specialised work of high safety
risks.

REREHE AEBTEEAEXRTHEHRE
ZEECER (2023/24 1 5%) - MATLHERLTFEE
0K (2023/24 1 0)  IESh > RIBE=F BHERE
AR MR B E MR T THRAERE S X
HRERE AN BEAREHRZE TR
EREEREEEEHBEEESHBERKRE
RMOERERBN

BREIRERAZZ

PEERETMNRERZS RAORKRT K
EBRIERBESHNZETFMHELZE2ER T
ERF StE RER - RMERAMEE I AN E
BNaE AREZEF M WREMM T EE
ZERE BT NARBTLZEFMPETINMA
Z2RAFEE > fAINEEARFEARZ2ERE
URBIEERERETEREERERE BfE
Bzz2zRE RAERETESRESZ2AR
BRETERFFAE
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To ensure proper implementation of safety measures, safety
inspections are conducted on a regular basis at our construction
sites with follow-up actions, when appropriate. We have in place an
emergency plan to allow workers to respond quickly and properly in
the event of safety incidents.

We raise awareness of workers on occupational health and safety
through various safety promotion programmes and activities. We also
evaluate the safety performance of subcontractors to ensure that
they are in compliance with all applicable laws and regulations and
safety standards.

Office Health and Safety

To provide a safe and healthy working environment for our
employees, smoking is prohibited in our office operations. We also
arranged our staff from office operations to take part in fire safety
training to raise awareness and strengthen capabilities in coping with
emergency situations during the Reporting Period.

REARZERB/UZLENT HMAEEHRER
ETHMETZE2RE > UEEERFREEET
oRMFIETEREE BETHERELESE
R AESO AR ~ B EIRETE)

RAEBsEEEZENEENEE R8T
HEERRNZ208# - RATETEOEH
Mz2RE X URFRMFABTIRAEBRIERE
RURZ2R%E-

MAERRALZ R

BT RBEFANETRE—ELE2MNEENTE
RIB HANMAERERE - RNRSHRF &K
MR ZHaERAEEBENETI2MEMZE
Bl MRS B AU KRN EH ZE 3 =45
o



Employees’ growth and development is beneficial to the Group's
long-term development and sustainability. To help our staff grow
together with the Group, we provide them with various vocational and
job-related trainings to help them equip with the skills and knowledge
required for their positions. To support our employees in acquiring
professional qualifications and skills beneficial to their work, we
sponsor our staff to take professional courses, seminars, workshops
and conferences. During the Reporting Period, training programmes
were arranged covering topics on regulatory compliance updates,
anti-corruption, anti-money laundering, sustainability and fire safety,
etc.

The percentage of employee trained and average training hours
completed per employee by gender and employment category during
the Reporting Period are as follows:

BEINRNERANNAEENREN ARG
R -BHMEIERAERXFMR KR
SR (&= AE R 2 LU B TARARRARYIE AN DB
Bh P2 18 HI (U P T BB BE AN R34t o 232353
MNETESHATFAEDNEXERIK
e RFIBHETISMERRRE MG ITIF
pMEE e NREE RAZHE T REGHEE
M RES RARB UREERUKHENZ
2FTENIENIRZ

PRERE AR LR R ESENB DHNZIES
BREURELEETMZINA T EIRHIT

2024/25 2023/24
Percentage of employee trained (%) ZiMEE B/ 7 Eb(%)
By Gender 1L &5
Male B 50% 69%
Female Z 50% 31%
By Employment Category HIES 5527
Senior Management BREERE 25% 56%
Middle Management AR EIEE 25% 26%
General and Technical Staff —R R MmET 50% 23%
Average Training Hours (Hour) SRESSERZINTRE (M)
By Gender I RE 57
Male B4 6.7 6.0
Female geg 6.6 6.6
By Employment Category HIESEFZ 7
Senior Management BREERE 11.5 10.8
Middle Management RREEE 7.2 6.8
General and Technical Staff — R MET 4.29 30
Notes: B
1) The calculation of the percentage of employee trained and the average 1) RIRSHE RiMEEE P EURELEETAR

training hours completed per employee during the Reporting Period included
the training data of employees who left the Group during the respective
reporting year, to present an accurate reflection of the training resources

invested by the Group.

FY TR st HEIE T ARRR S EEPRERA
B ERAE A BUE » LUE AR i PR A SR IR A B9
HNER -
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Labour Standards

The Group upholds high labour standards, and prohibits child
or forced labour as it violates human rights and the protocol of
international labour conventions. We ensure strict compliance with
the applicable laws and regulations including but not limited to the
Employment Ordinance in Hong Kong, and the Labour Law and
Labour Contract Law in the PRC.

To prevent the occurrence of child or forced labour of any kind, we
conduct checking on the applicant’s identity documents to prevent
underaged hires. We would strictly follow the employment contracts
and would not prejudice the employment relationship in any way
between the employees and the Group, such as detaining a deposit,
forcing to work against their will under any kind of threat. Our staff
has the right to terminate the employment contract as long as it is
in compliance with the relevant laws and the Group policies. Once
child or forced labour is identified, we will report to the authorities,
and the employment would be terminated. Our Human Resources
Department reviews the employment practices regularly to ensure
the effectiveness of our existing measures against child and forced
labour. During the Reporting Period, we were not aware of any
material non-compliance with the laws and regulations relating to
preventing child and forced labour.

5 T AR
ARERAETRANERE LR EETR%
SIS T BABER T AMENERS TR0
EE - HFREREETERERLR - B
BRIRIA S (R A LUR (DA REAIE
BB (PEARKAESHAFL) -

AR REATERANET SRS T RS
BERBE S EERNM > B L RARKE
AL - HMRBEEETRESR  FELUERS
NIEEETHAER FHERERE  fIE0NE
THBURBMABHENTH RETSHE
RUERNAEENER  RANETERKILE
FERE - —BRRETHRFIH T HFIKHEE
FBRER WARILERERG -RFANANLER
MPIEHMEEREIED LIEFRRMRANESR
BT REHE TRREERNERME -IRIREHE
I A FEER FERE T RFIS AR
ERERSE BEREATERNER-



. To enhance customer experience with quality products and services for the benefit of customers
MEENERNERBREASTFARRE FERRE

. Anti-corruption
RES

. Product assurance and quality
EmiraElEs

. Product design and innovation
E fnae ST AR

° Environmental risk in supply chain
R FELE P VIR B R

The Group recognises that delivering products and services with high AEEEHIINSESRERHERNRBE
quality standards is crucial to our long-term business success, and ~ EMIMEEBRINEMEE W ON TER
is dedicated to continuously enhancing our customers’ experience & FHNESRAMEE MR RESETHEE
and satisfaction. We ensure strict compliance with applicable laws — HEmMIRF B ANBEREZENER  BFEET
and regulations relating to the delivery of our products and services, — FRHS :

including but not limited to:

Hong Kong
EBE

Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorist Financing Ordinance ((3TE%E2R2BHD FESEEEA))
Money Lenders Ordinance ({1&E AMEAY)

Prevention of Bribery Ordinance ({5 Lk B B& &4 ))

Securities and Futures Ordinance ((5&%55 K& HRE 1£41))

The Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance ((fE AZ#} ( FAZ) 1&4)))

The Dutiable Commodities Ordinance ((FEzRTR R IEMH))

The Dutiable Commodities (Liguor) Regulations ((FE=RHR 5 (JELE) 3R61))

Trade Descriptions Ordinance ({7 S zR BRI ))

The PRC
§

Criminal Law of the PRC ((FhZEE A\ R FHFIEIE D)

Anti-Money Laundering Law of the PRC ((hZE A B B /%K E%))

Anti-unfair Competition Law of the PRC ((F#E AR ZEMBE N AEE RS L))

Advertisement Law of the PRC ({FRZE A R HFNEE &%)

Product Quality Law of the PRC ((hEAREMBEEREEX))

Law of the PRC on Protection of Consumer Rights and Interests ({1 ZE A\ R EMBEDH & & (R EE))
Personal Information Protection Law of the PRC ({FRZE A R HEFMEE A 5 B 1R %))

Copyright Law of the PRC ((ZE A B EMBIZ (FH#EX))

Trademark Law of the PRC ({FREE A R HEFEmE1Z%))

Patent Law of the PRC ({FZE A R XA ZEF3%))
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During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any material
non-compliance of laws and regulations relating to health and safety,
advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to products and
services provided.

Product and Service Quality

To ensure the quality of our fitting-out projects, we have in place
a well-established quality management system. In each project, a
project controller is assigned to monitor the progress and ensure
the quality of the project. We also monitor the production progress
of furnishings and fittings used in our projects to ensure satisfaction.
Inspections are carried out to ensure that safety and design
specifications are followed and implemented during the production
Process.

At the execution phase of our project works, we constantly check our
designs against the constraints to ensure the feasibility of the works.
During the working process, we continuously monitor the progress
to ensure that the expectations and requirements of our customers
are met. At the completion stage, we conduct final checking with our
customers to ensure all works are completed in accordance with the
design specifications and the customers’ requirements. A warranty
period from one month to one year is offered to our customers to
ensure completion and satisfaction.

For our construction equipment leasing business, we conduct third-
party testing on the safety of our equipment by qualified test centres.
We also perform regular and proper maintenance on our construction
equipment to ensure its quality and safety. After testing, test reports
are provided to customers to assure the quality of our products. We
also provide guidance to our customers on the proper and safe use
of our construction equipment upon their request.

To ensure quality for our wine products, we conduct regular
inspection of products we received against quality standards. Once
non-conformity is identified, we report it to the wine vendors to
further discuss the arrangement for product recall or other remedial
actions. In addition, we will provide training and clear instructions to
our employees and ensure that the receiver is of age when receiving
the alcohol package. If the receiver's age cannot be ascertained and
there is doubt about his age, no delivery would be made.
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For our financial services business, we ensure that we provide high-
quality agency and money lending services. As a licensed money
lender and a securities broker, we are operating under the Money
Lenders Ordinance (“MLO") and the Securities and Futures Ordinance
("SFO"). To protect the interest of our customers, we require our
employees to abide by all forms, procedures and requirements in our
standard procedures as prescribed under the provisions of the MLO
and SFO when providing financial services. We ensure that all product
features, terms and conditions and any associated risks are clearly
communicated to our customers, allowing them to be well-informed
about all necessary information before making decisions.

As a responsible money lender, we provide memorandums to clients
to remind borrowers of the repayment details and ensure that debt
collection is conducted in a lawful manner.

Customer Feedback

We value opinions and feedback from our customers, as they help
us improve our product and service quality. Customer feedback is
collected through various channels, including email, post and fax,
etc. All customer complaints received will be reported to responsible
staff for follow-up actions and rectification. To enhance customer
satisfaction, guidelines are provided to staff on handling customer
feedback and enquiries in a professional manner.

During the Reporting Period, we did not receive any material
complaints related to products and services (2023/24: nil). There were
no products sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety and health
reasons during the Reporting Period (2023/24: nil).

Data Protection and Intellectual Property Rights

As our operations involve collection of customer information,
we take the responsibility for safeguarding the data privacy of
our customers. Our financial services business strictly follows
regulations and practices related to data privacy as set out by the
regulatory authorities, such as the Stock Exchange, the Hong Kong
Monetary Authority and the Securities and Futures Commission.
When handling clients’ data, we strictly follow applicable laws and
regulations and provide internal guidelines on the proper collection,
use, management and protection of data and information. Security
measures are adopted to protect customer data against unauthorised
or accidental access, processing or erasure.
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Rules regarding protection of intellectual property rights are
clearly set out in the Staff Handbook. All staff are required to pay
close attention to the Group’s proprietary information, customer
information as well as individual’s personal data. Any document or
written material provided by the Group must not be removed, passed
on, copied or disclosed to third parties without approval by the Group.

Advertising and Labelling
We ensure that our advertising materials do not contain any
misleading or false information.

As a responsible wine merchandiser, we ensure that intoxicating
liguor must not be sold or supplied to a minor in the course of
business as stipulated by local laws, and display a sign containing the
related prescribed notice in both Chinese and English on our online
stores in a reasonably legible manner.

Supply Chain Management

We attach great importance to the quality and performance of
our suppliers, including subcontractors. To ensure the selection
and engagement of high-quality suppliers, we have established a
stringent selection process for our suppliers and subcontractors
based on criteria such as product quality, safety standards,
productivity, compliance with relevant laws and regulations, service
quality, and cost effectiveness. In our wine merchandising business,
we select wine merchants based on their good reputations, high
ratings, reliable supplies, and positive trading histories. We also take
into consideration the socially and environmentally responsible
performance of our subcontractors and suppliers.

To promote environmentally preferable products and services when
selecting suppliers, we give priority to local suppliers and contractors
to reduce carbon footprint in the transportation process. We also
prioritise the use of energy-efficient equipment such as LED and
encourage them to opt for products with fewer packaging materials
to reduce unnecessary waste.

To ensure that suppliers and subcontractors uphold high standards,
we conduct supplier assessment on a regular basis. Suppliers
and subcontractors who fail t0 meet our expectations related to
labour practices, health and safety standards and integrity will face
termination of business relationships. An ESG-related risk assessment
has been conducted to identify environmental and social risks along
the supply chain. The supply chain risks and control measures are
carefully monitored, evaluated and managed by the Board and ESG
Working Group on a regular basis.
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During the Reporting Period, we engaged 75 major suppliers
(2023/24: 85), including subcontractors. The geographical distribution

RIEERE HAHB7SREBHES > SF D
B (2023/24 : 85) TEIZIR T MEAEMHER

of suppliers during the Reporting Period is shown in the graph below.
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Number of Suppliers by Geographical Region
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All suppliers, including subcontractors, were implemented the
practices relating to engaging suppliers during the Reporting Period.

Anti-Corruption

The Group requires its staff to uphold high standards of business
ethics and integrity at all times. All of our directors and staff in Hong
Kong are required to comply with the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance
(Hong Kong) (the “POB Ordinance”), and our staff in Mainland China
are required to abide by relevant laws and regulations including but
not limited to the Criminal Law, Anti-Money Laundering Law and Anti-
unfair Competition Law of the PRC. During the Reporting Period, we
were not aware of any material non-compliance with the relevant
laws and regulations relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering. There were no concluded legal cases regarding corrupt
practices brought against the Group or its employees during the
Reporting Period (2023/24: nil).

We prohibit the transfer of benefits between our employees and
other related parties. Guided by our internal policies and procedures,
all directors and staff shall not provide or obtain any gifts or benefits
from clients, suppliers or any person with business dealings with
the Group. Our Staff Handbook and Code of Conduct also clearly
outline that employees shall not accept advantages and gifts from our
business partners.
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To raise awareness on anti-corruption, anti-corruption training has
been provided to directors and employees with access to relevant
anti-corruption training materials from the Independent Commission
Against Corruption (“ICAC").

Whistleblowing Policy

To encourage employees to report any suspected misconduct, we
have established various whistle-blowing channels. If employees are
aware of any suspicious acts and malpractices, they are encouraged
to report to the senior management of the Group through email.
All whistle-blowers' identities and reported cases are treated in
confidence and reported cases would be appropriately handled in a
fair manner.

Anti-Money Laundering

The Group is aware of risk of money laundering practices in its
financial services business. To prevent such practices, we strictly
comply with all applicable anti-money laundering laws and
regulations including but not limited to the Anti-Money Laundering
("AML") and Counter-Terrorist Financing (“CTF") Ordinance and the
Guideline on Compliance of Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-
Terrorist Financing Requirements for Licensed Money Lenders.

To mitigate the risk of money laundering and terrorist financing, we
have established a series of internal policies and procedures. We
adopt a risk-based approach and conduct comprehensive customer
due diligence, risk assessment, regular review of customers’
information, record keeping, identifying suspicious money laundering
behaviours and reporting of suspicions transactions. To ensure
effective implementation of the AML and CTF system, AML training is
provided to all new employees. We also organise regular training to
existing staff to allow them to keep abreast of the latest regulatory
requirements and guidelines.
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CREATING VALUE FOR OUR ENVIRONMENT

ARMNIRIERIEEE

Our Goal:
EMNBERE:

change

Material Topic(s) Covered:

HENEERE

o Climate change risk
RUIRECRY E R

. To pursue green and sustainable operations by reducing our impact to the environment in response to climate

BERLORMAHRENZEUEBREEE BRECNIFENEE

We endeavour to operate in an environmentally conscious manner
t0 promote environmental responsibility and address climate change
issues. Policies and procedures are formulated to guide employees
on enhancing efficient use of resources, proper handling of emissions
and cultivating green habits in workplaces.
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The Group strictly abides by the applicable environmental laws and
regulations including but not limited to:

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any material
non-compliance with the relevant environmental laws and regulations
relating to air and greenhouse gas (“GHG") emissions, discharges into
water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous
waste.
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Currently, climate change is one of the most pressing environmental
concerns in the world. Various extreme weather events, such as
heatwaves, flooding, and droughts, may have an impact on our
business operations. To address climate change, we have established
the Climate Change Policy, which details our strategy and efforts on
climate change mitigation as well as enhancing our resilience and
adaptability to climate change.
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Establishing and monitoring carbon reduction and
energy-saving targets

JE 17 30 BE ZR R AR R T AE B AR

Incorporating energy efficiency considerations into
our operations

R EE RN E BN A K FINES 2
Establishing and maintaining effective
environmental management systems to manage
energy use and carbon emissions

Continuously reviewing climate-related risks
FriE B3 RUEAE R R R S 108

Integrating climate-related considerations into our
risk management and decision-making processes
RN E RAANA T R R EIE KRR E
2zHh

Monitoring and responding to market and regulatory
changes associated with low-carbon transition
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Encouraging innovation and collaboration to
mitigate climate-related risks

EEAIFT R EE LUBE R EERIR R R
Promoting communication with stakeholders on
the Group's Climate Change Policy
(RERFNEN T EENQRBCBRETER

An ESG-related risk assessment has been conducted to identify
potential climate-related risks and the impacts on the operations. The
climate-related risks and control measures are carefully monitored,
evaluated and managed by the Board and ESG Working Group on a
regular basis.

To mitigate climate-related risks, relevant control measures are
formulated and implemented in our business operations. Our
employees are guided by the staff handbook which has clearly
outlined the flexible work arrangements under typhoon and
rainstorm signals. We maintain close communication with the building
management company of our office, pay close attention to weather
warnings and implement necessary response measures to cope with
adverse weather conditions such as typhoons or rainstorms.
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Workers with outdoor job duties at construction sites might suffer
from illness such as heat stroke under extreme hot days, while
tropical cyclones and heavy rainstorms could potentially lead to
disruptions at construction sites. To respond, we have formulated
guidelines and provided necessary precautionary measures for
workers to effectively cope with adverse weather conditions. Work
schedule would also be properly adjusted to ensure workers have
sufficient rest and ensure their wellbeing. Further, we remain vigilant
concerning upcoming regulatory changes and potential risks posed
by climate change and will endeavour to identify opportunities for
increasing efficiency and reducing carbon emissions.

In an effort to combat climate change, the Group has set the below
green targets:
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Emissions To reduce air and GHG emissions through implementing environmentally responsible measures.
213 &) BRBERBIRIE S SENER BV ER R RERESRHER o
Waste To minimise waste by promoting recycling and the use of recycled materials.
EZEY BEEELWURERBEEREYE ZE2RVEEY -
Energy To optimise energy use efficiency and advocate for energy-saving practices.
AEIR B RE AR (B S ENpcTE T ©
Water To promote water efficiency and water saving by implementing water conservation measures.
7K BB B MEKIETE > (R R KR E LU REABK -

We will continuously monitor our progress against our green targets
and update when necessary.
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Energy, Air and Greenhouse Gas Emissions

Major sources of our energy, air and GHG emissions are purchased
electricity consumed for daily office operations and fuel consumption
of company vehicles, including unleaded petrol and diesel. To
raise employees’ awareness on environmental protection, we
have formulated energy saving policies and procedures in our
staff handbook and continuously encourage our employees to
conserve energy. In our office operation, we have adopted various
green practices to help reduce energy usage and greenhouse gas
emissions. Examples of such practices are:

. Setting air-conditioners at certain designated temperature to
optimise energy use efficiency,

. Switching off unnecessary use of computers, lighting, air
conditioners and other equipment after office hour or when not
in use; and

o Combining offices of the fitting-out and engineering operations
with our headquarter office to further reduce energy
consumption.

With regard to our design, fitting-out and engineering services, dust
and volatile organic compound (“VOC") are usually produced as
one of the air emissions during the construction and demolition
processes. Our employees and subcontractors are required to
manage air emissions properly and minimise dust emission during
our construction work. A series of measures are implemented to
control air emissions and improve air quality:

. Adopting low-dust techniques and equipment to collect
construction dust; and

. Ensuring VOC-containing materials are kept in air-tight
containers to prevent air pollution.

. We rearranged the usage of company cars to improve the
vehicle efficiency and reduced utilization of forklifts due to
outsourcing of design, fitting-out and engineering services
operations.
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We also put considerable efforts in reducing excessive amount of air
emissions and GHG emissions from our vehicles and forklift trucks,
including but not limited to:

. Conducting proper maintenance and services to improve
combustion efficiency of fuel; and

. Constantly monitoring fuel consumption and mileage usage of
vehicles to further improve our environmental performance.

Waste Management

Due to our business nature, our waste generations are mainly
wastepaper and other office general waste from office operations
and also construction waste from our design, fitting-out and
engineering services business. We do not generate a significant
amount of hazardous waste in our operation.

The Group has put in place a series of measures and procedures
to ensure that construction waste generated from our renovation
projects is managed in an environmentally responsible manner.
During the reporting period, we outsourced our design, fitting-out and
engineering services projects to professional subcontractors, and the
subcontractors delivered construction waste to government waste
treatment facilities or handed it over to licensed waste collection
service providers for proper and legal disposal of construction waste.
The construction waste statistics project is therefore not applicable to
this year's data report. We also recycle construction waste as far as
possible and reuse useful residual materials in other projects before
disposal of construction waste.

Whereas for office general waste, the waste is collected, handled
and disposed of by a professional cleaning company appointed by
the building property management company of our office operations.
Meanwhile, we continue to implement different waste reduction
measures in office operations, including but not limited to:

o Promoting online communication to avoid using papers;

. Encouraging employees to adopt double-sided printing to
reduce paper consumption;,

o Placing recycling boxes next to printers and fax machines in
offices to collect and reuse paper for printing draft documents;
and

. Arranging printing suppliers to collect used printer toner
cartridges for recycling to reduce waste.
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Water Conservation

Our source of domestic water comes from local water suppliers,
and we did not encounter any issue in sourcing water that was fit
for purpose during the Reporting Period. We consume insignificant
amount of water for purposes of drinking, toilet flushing and office
cleaning in our daily operations; however, we are still mindful of
reducing water use and improving water efficiency. We constantly
raise awareness on water conservation and encourage our
employees to develop habit of water saving, such as posting water
conservation notices at the prominent places to remind employees of
proper water usage.

Minimising Environmental Impacts

The Group is dedicated to preserving natural resources and
reducing the impact of our business activities on the environment.
Although timber is often one of the natural resources used in our
design, fitting— out and engineering services business, we actively
recommend our customers to opt for eco-friendly alternatives to
reduce the consumption of timber and save natural resources.

Responsible Use of Packaging Materials

In our wine merchandising business, we do not consume a
significant amount of packaging materials as we mainly use the
original incoming packaging provided by the wineries and deliver our
wines directly from our wine storage warehouse to our customers.
This would conserve use of resources and avoid excessive and
unnecessary use of packaging materials.

Noise Management

In respect of noise control in our worksites, construction operations
are carried out according to the permitted work hours as specified
in relevant laws and regulations. During the construction process,
we use specialised equipment to ensure the noise does not exceed
specified thresholds and affect the surrounding environment.

B4k &R
BMNETERKREN E M KRR IS
HARS > MATEREGEAKRAEAR A BEERE
B RMEHEEETANEA PR E RN
REFEKELTEK 28T > WADARER
DRKENRBAKEE  RATEHRSEKE
#o BBE T EEKREBE > fIINEREER M
73 SRBGENKIEAD > IREE B T IEMEA K o

FERVHIRBENEE
FEBB DN RERRERMB D RFIBES
EHHIRBNTE - AR BEERMRE
RERIBRBEBRERANERERZ— B
BMEmRERE A EZRERNEAR  LURL AR
MEVHFE  BIRARE R

BEREMERSEME
ERMNZBEHEST D RFVLBHEREN
R ARRAETEEAETRHNRGE
8% UTREBEZEURMANZERFRER
EREFANER ERHOERER BREE
AP E2thE R B o

IREEE

RABS R T3t B IR F 4l > 1 TR X 2% IRAERE
EEMERREN DT LIEREEITH - 7EHEL
BRET HAERFPINRE  UERIRETE
BRENMEU R EFEIRE
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Environmental Performance Data'?2 IRIBRIFHIR
2024/25 2023/24 Unit
B

Nitrogen oxides (NO) REALHIINOY 5.3 149 kg F7=

Sulphur oxides (SO BRSOy 0.1 01 kgF7%

Particular matters (PM) FERII(PM) 0.5 1.1 kg F%

Total GHG emissions RERBBHIRESE 19.3 56.2  Tonnes of COze
(Scopes 1 and 2) (BBE152) REZEERES
Direct emissions (Scope 1) HiEH EE1) 4.7 14.1  Tonnes of COze

rE_A{EREE
Indirect emissions (Scope 2) e (EE2) 14.6 42.1 Tonnes of COze
RBE_HEREE

Intensity of total GHG emissions  #B =R EEHENR 0.8 3.3 Tonnes of COze/

(Scopes 1 and 2) HENK2) BE employee
AMEZ—EEHRES
==

Total energy consumption BERHAEMR S 329 1449 MWh JEEBS
Purchased electricity SMNEE 24.3 98.6 MWh JKE B
Vehicle fuel BRI 8.6 46.4 MWh JKE B

Intensity of total energy BEERHERE 1.4 8.5 Mwh/employee
consumption KEFEE

Total non-hazardous waste BEBEEYES 1,281.7 683.0 Tonnes ‘AME
Office general waste —RIMAEEEY 0.7 1.0 Tonnes ‘AME
Construction waste EEEEY) 1,281.0 682.0 Tonnes ‘AME

Intensity of office general waste ~ —fR¥IHAEEEEY) 30.4 57.9 kg/employee

BE 7/ 1BE
! The environmental performance data covered our office and warehouse.
RERRBBABERMNEREENAE-
g Totals may not be the exact sum of numbers shown here due to rounding.
ERBRA > BERL A FRIMRM -
3 In accordance with The Greenhouse Gas Protocol — A Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard (Revised Edition) published by World

Business Council for Sustainable Development and World Resources Institute, Scope 1 direct emissions are resulted from operations that are
owned or controlled by the Group, while Scope 2 indirect emissions are resulted from the generation of purchased or acquired electricity,
heating, cooling and steam consumed within the Group.
REERCEXEREZEGNERERARMERNCEERBESHTE X THREER (BFTR) ) SENNEZEFRUIHAR
EEBEAREGNEFBRES > MEBE2 RSN B AEEREOHE (ARG BB~ HE- S RZSNHERMESE

o Vehicle fuel included unleaded petrol and diesel consumed by company-owned vehicles.
FREBAEL IR A B MR B PTE FERY B S UM A S
5 The data has been adjusted to reflect actual situation.

BB REURRBERER
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CREATING VALUE FOR OUR COMMUNITY

AEMANHLERIEEE

Our Goal:
EMNBERE:

s REREMETEM WEHE

. To shoulder corporate social responsibility and give back to our communities

Continuous support from the community is crucial to the Group's
development. As part of our commitment to corporate social
responsibility, we actively seek opportunities to give back and make
a positive impact on the community. Guided by our Community
Initiatives, Sponsorship and Donation Policy, we are dedicated
to supporting the community by focusing on four main areas:
environment, education and development, community wellbeing, as
well as arts and culture.

We foster a spirit of employee volunteerism and actively seek
to contribute to programmes that drive positive community
development. Looking ahead, we remain committed to exploring
opportunities to create meaningful and sustainable value for the
wider community, as we continue our journey towards a more
inclusive and resilient future.

HENFEXFHAEENEREREZ -FH
BB EECGEEEEN—BD > RABEBS
B EREd e B EETEEZE - ERMA
it &B5%  EEMBEBRIIEET » R
DN ZEHRE EANOAER R -HERK
BRHEBEUAEUKRBAT R

HFIEE S THERIRFEMS  LRB SR
BTG RS BIFL B - BERI KD
RBNINRREE REEZNHRAIGEREN
AIREEE EEIE—EEHARKARMENR
HRANHE °
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HKEX ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT
INDEX

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs

TEHE -EH - —RIRERARERIER

k3 FRESGIR & 455

Chapter/Disclosure
EE B

Aspect A1: Emissions

BmEA1 : i
General Disclosure Creating Value for Our 61
—RE Environment
ARMNIRIERIEEE
Information on:
(@) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land,
and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.
BERRAERBHER - mKRI NG S - EERBEEEEYNESE
£m
@ B%E; &
(b) BFHBITABEALENEREE KRG
KPIAT.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. Environmental 68
BSRES | prpyism e s o Performance Data
SIRATT T RS
KPIA1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas | Environmental 68
RSB emissions (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. | Performance Data
151RA1.2 per unit of production volume, per facility). IRIBRIFEE
Bz #EE) RERBRE EE2) BEREHNE CUEtE)
B QUER) ZE MUSESE M SEREE)
KPIA1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where | Due to the business N/A
RSB appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per | nature, we do not produce B
SIRA13 facility). a significant amount
FRELXBAEZSEEYRE CUETE) &k WMER) ZE S | hazardous waste.
EEBA SELREHE) o HREBUE HMEE
EERENEREEY -
KPIA1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where | Environmental 68
RAREN appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per | Performance Data
IE1EA14 facility). IRIBRIREE
FTE4EZEEYRE QUEE) & Q@A) BE WMUE
ESE BERMTHE)
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs Chapter/Disclosure
TEHR EBE - —RRERARERIEE =B

A. Environmental
A. BB

Aspect A1: Emissions
BmEA1 : i

KPI A1.5 Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken to | Climate Change; 63
ARG achieve them. RAREE ;

$E1ZA1.5 HIMPTET L HINE B IR R A ER L B R ERER & 5 o
Energy, Air and 65
Greenhouse Gas Emissions
BER BERIAEREHE

his
KPIA1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are | Climate Change; 63
REREN handled, and a description of reduction target(s) set and steps | & {EZ1L ;
FE1EA1.6 taken to achieve them.
HWRIEAE B EEEYN G L RAMPIETIIAREEE | Waste Management 66
1R RS B IR PR ERERAY 25 BR 0 EEEY)EE
Aspect A2: Use of Resources
BHEA2 : BERER
General Disclosure Creating Value For Our 61
— AR Environment

ARFNIRIEREEE
Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and other
raw materials.

BUERER (BIEER KREMEME) BB

KPI'A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. | Environmental 68
ARG electricity, gas or ail) in total (kwh in '000s) and intensity (e.g. | Performance Data
FEIEA2.1 per unit of production volume, per facility). IBIE RIBHIE

REABNONWEER SEZER WE - R3Uh) EES
UTFEFTRESE) kBE MUSESEN - SHERKRM
8]
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs
FTEHE - EE - —RIEERARERISE

A. Environmental

A IRIE

Aspect A2: Use of Resources
BEA2 : BEER

Chapter/Disclosure
B8 IRE

KPI A2.2
RASRAE W
FE1EA2.2

Water consumption in total and intensity.
BIEKEREE USEEB1 BEREHE) o

The water supply in our
Wan Chai office and

Yuen Long warehouse
was controlled by the
building management,
whereas the water supply
at our worksites was
provided either by the
main contractors or our
customers. Therefore,
water consumption data is
unavailable and cannot be
disclosed.

B EFRMEENT
iR ER A KHERYZE
FIRERPIFES > MM T
HMBIA KB HEE XK
HEMINE O HEAE o F I
P A BFE KR
WA

N/A
T
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs

Chapter/Disclosure

TEHIS B —RINBERARERISR

A. Environmental

A. IB1E

Aspect A2: Use of Resources
BEA2 : BEER

B RE

ffsge

minimal consumption

of packaging materials.
Packaging materials are
not applicable to our other
businesses due to the
business nature.

FFE SRR
HNRIEES B FRIUF
MRENENBEMEE
FE-RREBMENRR
BEMMNRERREMN
HhZo

KPIA2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps | Climate Change; 63
RGN taken to achieve them. RAREE ;
1512A2.3 PR 5T LAY BE TR R FA 3 i B AR R 2 B 5E L5 B AR P HRER
B 5% o Energy, Air and Greenhouse 65
Gas Emissions
R ERIAERE
BE
KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water | Climate Change; 63
REREN that is fit for purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and steps | RIEEE ;
FE1EA2.4 taken to achieve them.
HAUKEGE A ACR E eI BRI RERE  MURPRE] A K | Water Conservation 67
ERnAEDELE BRI 5 o BRI E TR
KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products, and if | We primarily rely on the N/A
RAR G applicable, with reference to per unit produced. original packaging provided | 38
FE1EA2.5 kMR e EMENEE UM E) & QIER) 84 EE | by wineries, resulting in
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs Chapter/Disclosure

TEHE -EBH - —RIRBERARERIER EE B

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources
EBEAS  RIERRAER

General Disclosure Minimising Environmental 67
—R Impacts
EERVHRENEE
Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impact on the environment
and natural resources.
BEBETABRIERRABRSMERTENEER -

KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the | Minimising Environmental 67
REREN environment and natural resources and the actions taken to | Impacts
FE1ZA3.1 manage them. EERHIOHIBENEE
HMEBEEHHIRBERRABRNEATZEREHRNEIR
BRFENTE -

Aspect A4: Climate Change
EBHEA4 : mIZREE

General Disclosure Climate Change 63
— ARt EE RIREE

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related issues
which have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer.
A REHER AR HETAEERENSEAREEBEENBE

KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which | Climate Change 63
RE A have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and | &f&E 1t
FE1EAL1 the actions taken to manage them.

B CERPIEEHETAEETLENEARREIERER
K EH1TE)
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs Chapter/Disclosure
TEHR EBE - —RRERARERIEE =B

B. Social
B.#®&

Employment and Labour Practices
EfERSE TEHR

Aspect B1: Employment

BB : BfE
General Disclosure Creating Value For Our 48
—RIE Employees
AERMNETASERE
Information on:
(@) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working
hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other
benefits and welfare.
BRAFNREE - FPERSEA TERE BB TFEEE 2ot -RIER
LUK H MG BRI -
() B &
(b) BFHETABEAZENERAEERRANER
KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, full- | Employee Distribution 49
RESRAEN or part-time), age group and geographical region. BINH
$51ZB1.1 HER - REEE MBI RE) - FRANRMES SN
BEEEH-
KPIB1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical | Employee Turnover 49
RE AR region. SRS
1518812 MR~ FlMAR Rt & B DI BB RAKLLE
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs
FTEHE - EE - —RIEERARERISE

B. Social
B.#®&

Employment and Labour Practices
EfERSE TEHR

Aspect B2: Health and Safety
[EMEB2 : BEEZE

Chapter/Disclosure
B8 IRE

General Disclosure QOccupational Health and 51
— AR Safety
BERERERZS

Information on:
(@) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant

impact on the issuer.

relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting employees
from occupational hazards.

BREREZE2TFREMMMEREEHCHENEBEN .
(a) BK; &
(b) BEFHETABEAZENEREERAOINER

KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of | Occupational Health and 51
RABRAA the past three years including the reporting year. Safety
161EB2.1 BE=F (BIEERFE) SFRITHNASRILE. BEEREREE

KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Occupational Health and 51
REBRAA ATHEBEITIEHE- Safety

512B2.2 BEREREZSE

KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures | Occupational Health and 51
REREN adopted, how they are implemented and monitored. Safety
151%B2.3 MR = R R T 2180 URERRITREGERS | BERREZS

p7
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs Chapter/Disclosure
TEHR EBE - —RRERARERIEE =B

B. Social
B.#®&

Employment and Labour Practices
EfERSE TEHR

Aspect B3: Development and Training
[EMEB3 : FERERIE

General Disclosure Development and Training 53
—RIE gt

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging duties

at work. Description of training activities.

Note: Training refers to vocational training. It may include internal and external courses paid
by the employer.

BRI EERBIT TIER SRR R SEBVEUGR o B SEE) o

s EIEREEY aEREEAENRIIMNEERE

KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee | Development and Training 53
AR EN category (e.g. senior management, middle management). gl
$51ZB3.1 BERREELERN MERERE PREERRE) 890

EEBDLE.
KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by gender | Development and Training 53
RE A and employee category. R B
$612B3.2 BERREERENE D  SRESTAZTINN TR -
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs Chapter/Disclosure
TEHR EBE - —RRERARERIEE =B

B. Social
B.#®&

Employment and Labour Practices
EfERS% TER

Aspect B4: Labour Standards
JEEB4 : &I %A

General Disclosure Labour Standards 54
— AR B T#R

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer

relating to preventing child and forced labour.

BREABIEE T gsas% T :

(a) BUR ; &

(b) BTFHETAEEAXENERERRFINER -

KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to | Labour Standards 54
RARAE avoid child and forced labour. w5 TR

512841 HISR TR EARE LB RE T RIRFIZE T -

KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when | Labour Standards 54
RARRES discovered. TR
151%B4.2 TR S IR R B R R PR A BB R PTERE Y 5 B o
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs Chapter/Disclosure
TEHR EBE - —RRERARERIEE =B

B. Social
B.#t&

Operating Practices
EEEG

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management
[EMEB5 : HREEEE

General Disclosure Supply Chain Management 58
—RIE HrEtE S

Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply chain.
BIEHEENIRE R ERBEE

KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Supply Chain Management 58
RARAE BHES DN HEREE - HrEREEIE

51%B5.1

KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number | Supply Chain Management 58
RETRAER of suppliers where the practices are being implemented, how | { /& &2

$51EB5.2 they are implemented and monitored.

M AR AEERNES mERTEREAMNHERK
B UREEIITRERTT A

KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental | Supply Chain Management 58
REBRAA and social risks along the supply chain, and how they are | {HFESEEIR
$54ZB5.3 implemented and monitored.

A AR H RS ERANIRIE R g ARVIES X

FAERE AT R B 5%
KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally | Supply Chain Management 58
RGN preferable products and services when selecting suppliers, | fFEEEE
}51ZB5.4 and how they are implemented and monitored.

HAEREHREEREES BRFAERMRBOES > Mk
BT RER G-
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs
FTEHE - EE - —RIEERARERISE

B. Social
B.#t&

Operating Practices
EEEG

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility
[EEB6 : ERMEIE

Chapter/Disclosure
=B

General Disclosure Creating Value For Our 55
—RIE Customers
ABEMANEFRIEER
Information on:
(@) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters
relating to products and services provided and methods of redress.
BRFMEHERMRBNERERZS  BEE BB ALEEETURERS
ER
(a) B ; &
(b) BFHETABEAZENERAEERRANER
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls | Customer Feedback 57
RAR G for safety and health reasons. EFE KA
$51%B6.1 EENEEXERARYTRZHEREHMARKNE
Db
KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints received | Customer Feedback 57
RS EN and how they are dealt with. ERRE
$51%2B6.2 BERNERRBRBNERFEEUAREHE G E -
KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting | Data Protection and 57
RAR G intellectual property rights. Intellectual Property Rights
$51%2B6.3 3t B A 58 T (R PR R 5B EE PE B B RV IE Bl o B (RE SR B A
KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall | Product and Service Quality 56
REBRAA procedures. EmkBRBEEER
$51ZB6.4 i E 2T EE R EREIWER
KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, | Data Protection and 57
REBRAA how they are implemented and monitored. Intellectual Property Rights
1618B6.5 HiCHBE EBRMRERAMREE  URBRRITRERS | BURRERAHER
Vh e
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs Chapter/Disclosure
TEHR EBE - —RRERARERIEE =B

B. Social
B.#®&

Operating Practices
EEEG

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption
[BEB7 : R&5

General Disclosure Anti-Corruption; 59
—fRiREE R&5;
Information on: Anti-Money Laundering 60
(a) the policies; and RGEEEE

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money

laundering.

BRI LLFARE ~ 131~ MR RO R ERRY ¢

@ B%E; &

(b) BFHETABEARENBREZERRANER

KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices | Anti-Corruption 59

RASR AN brought against the issuer or its employees during the @ &&75

S1ZB7.1 reporting period and the outcomes of the cases.
RERBARETAREHEBEERH L EBEENESHAE
HHHE KRR

KPIB7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing | Anti-Corruption 59

RERRAA procedures, how they are implemented and monitored. S

$51%B7.2 BB HIEE R B RIET  URBERRITRER DA

KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors | Anti-Corruption; 59
REBRAA and staff RES;
}618B7.3 WRmEERETRENRESE-
Anti-Money Laundering 60
AR
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs
FTEHE - EE - —RIEERARERISE

B. Social
B.#®&

community
HtE

Aspect B8: Community Investment
[EHEBS : 1t ERE

Chapter/Disclosure
B8 IRE

RASR AR EEIHBFABAER WEHERER) o

$51%B8.2

Community
ARMNTEASEE

General Disclosure Creating Value For Our 69

—RIE community
AEMANTERAIEEE

Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the

communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities take into

consideration the communities’ interests.

BREMUHEZER TREEMTIHERENRFREER ZHTE EHE

25 Y ELER ©

KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution. Creating Value For Our 69

RASRER EIERERE WHBE RESE S ITERBEE X | Community

$51%B8.1 Ao ARMNTEASEE

KPI B8.2 Resources contributed to the focus area. Creating Value For Our 69




REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
B HS

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Director(s)”) of China New
Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the
“Group”) is pleased to present this annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2025.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS
REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in (i) provision of design, fitting
out and engineering, and procurement of furnishings and related
products services, (i) leasing of construction equipment and provision
of related installation services, (iii) sourcing and merchandising of fine
and rare wines and (iv) provision of financial services.

Particulars of the Company'’s principal subsidiaries are set out in note
39 to the consolidated financial statements.

Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required by
Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance, including a review of the
Group's business during the year under review and a discussion
on the Group's future business development, possible risks and
uncertainties that the Group may be facing and important events
affecting the Company which occurred during the year ended 31
March 2025 are provided in the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report and note 6 to the
consolidated financial statements which forms part of this directors’
report.

Discussions on the Group's environmental policies and performance,
relationships with key stakeholders, and compliance with the relevant
laws and regulations are contained in the”Environmental, Social and
Governance Report“on pages 37 to 82 of this annual report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The results of the Group for the financial year ended 31 March 2025
and the state of affairs of the Group as at that day are set out in the
consolidated financial statements on pages 102 to 104.

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend for the
year ended 31 March 2025.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and of the
Company during the year ended 31 March 2025 are set out in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and in note 37 to the
consolidated financial statements respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
As at 31 March 2025, there was no reserves available for distribution
to the shareholders of the Company.
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USE OF PROCEEDS FROM RIGHTS ISSUE

As announced by the Company on 15 September 2023, among other
things, the Company proposed (i) to implement a share consolidation
(the “Share Consolidation”) on the basis that every five issued existing
shares of the Company be consolidated into one consolidated share
(the "Consolidated Share”) and (i) to raise approximately HK$36
million before expenses by way of a rights issue (the “Rights Issue”)
of 156,780,000 rights shares (the “Rights Shares”) at a subscription
price of HK$0.23 per Rights Share on the basis of five Rights Shares
for every one Consolidated Share held by the qualifying shareholders
on the record date.

The net proceeds of the Rights Issue of approximately HK$35
million will be used for (i) HK$20 million (representing 57% of the
net proceeds) for the development and expansion of the securities
business under the financial services business; (i) HK$10 million
(representing 29% of the net proceeds) as working capital for the
design, fitting out and engineering services business and the leasing
of construction equipment business to accommodate the anticipated
increase in demand for these two business segments; and (i) HK$5
million (representing 14% of the net proceeds) for general corporate
and administrative expenses.

The Share Consolidation and the Rights Issue were approved by
the independent shareholders at an extraordinary general meeting
convened by the Company on 1 November 2023 and were completed
on 13 December 2023.

As at 31 March 2025, the net proceeds from the Rights Issue had
been applied as follows:
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Net Proceeds  Net Proceeds
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Planned 31 March 2024 31 March 2025 Unutilised schedule
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the best estimation made by the Group on future market condition and
may change with the current market condition and future development.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year ended 31 March 2025 are set out in note 18 to
the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the
year ended 31 March 2025 are set out in note 32 to the consolidated
financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group's top five customers
accounted for approximately 94.9% of the revenue. The top five
suppliers accounted for approximately 77.8% of the total purchases
for the year. In addition, the Group’s largest customer accounted for
approximately 46.9% of the revenue and the Group's largest supplier
accounted for approximately 47.7% of the total purchases for the
year.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, none of the Directors, their
associates or any shareholders (which to the knowledge of the
Directors own more than 5% of the Company'’s issued share capital)
had any interest in these major customers and suppliers.

DIRECTORS
During the year ended 31 March 2025 and up to the date of this
annual report, the Directors were:

Executive Directors
Ms. Miao Xianliu (appointed on 7 May 2024)
Mr. Law Hok Yu (appointed on 21 May 2024)

Ms. Ma Man Chi (appointed on 19 July 2024)
Ms. Chen Qiuling (appointed on 13 February 2025)
Mr. Yau Yan Yuen (resigned on 21 May 2024)
Mr. Wang Jun (resigned on 24 February 2025)

Independent non-executive Directors
Ms. Tsang Hau Wai

Mr. Li Ka Chun Gordon

Ms. Chan Wai Yan (appointed on 21 May 2024)

Mr. Wu Zhao (resigned on 21 May 2024)

All the Directors are subject to retirement by rotation in accordance
with the articles of association (the “Articles”).
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In accordance with article 141 of the Articles, Ms. Miao Xianliu, Ms.
Chen Qiuling, and Ms. Tsang Hau Wai will retire and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company.

DIRECTORS' BIOGRAPHIES
Biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 18 to 19 of
this annual report.

DIRECTORS OF SUBSIDIARIES

A list of the names of the directors of the Company’s subsidiaries
during the year and up to the date of this report can be found in the
Company's website at www.chinanewholdings.com.hk.

DIRECTORS' SERVICE CONTRACTS

During the year under review, each Director has a service contract or
letter of appointment with the Company for an initial term of two to
three years and is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in
accordance with the Articles of Association. Save as disclosed above,
none of the Directors has a service contract or letter of appointment
with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable
by the Group within one year without payment of compensation,
other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS AND
COMPETING INTERESTS

During the year none of the Directors’ interest in any business apart
from the Group’s business, which competes or is likely to compete,
either directly or indirectly, with the Group’s business that need to be
disclosed pursuant to Rule 11.04 of the GEM Listing Rules.

As the Board is independent to the boards of directors of the
abovementioned companies, the Group is capable of carrying on its
business independently to, and at arm’s length, from the business of
those companies.

INTERESTS OF SHAREHOLDERS IN
CONTRACTS AND COMPETING INTERESTS
There was no contract of significance between the Company or any
of its subsidiaries and a shareholder (as defined in the GEM Listing
Rules) or any of its subsidiaries, at any time during the year under
review.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company was
entered into or existed during the year ended 31 March 2025.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees and senior management of
the Group is set up by the remuneration committee of the Company.
Further details of emolument policy are set out in Management
Discussion and Analysis on page 16 of this annual report.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS
Details of the emoluments of the directors and five individuals
with highest emoluments are set out in note 14 and note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

The Group strictly complies with the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong) in
making mandatory provident fund contributions for its Hong Kong
employees.

Information on the Group's retirement benefits schemes is set out in
note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF THE
DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OF THE
COMPANY IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY
OF ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 March 2025, Ms. Ma has interest in 1,772,800 ordinary
shares of the Company, representing 3.93% of all issued shares of the
Company. Saved as disclosed above, none of the Directors and chief
executive of the Company (the “Chief Executive”) had any interests
or short positions in the shares of the Company (the “Shares”),
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or any associated
corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ") as recorded in the register required
to be kept under section 352 of SFO, or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the required standard
of dealings by directors of listed issuer as referred to in rule 5.46 of
the GEM Listing Rules (the “Required Standard of Dealings”).
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DIRECTORS' RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES

At no time during the year ended 31 March 2025 was the Company
or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the
Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in
the Company or any other body corporate.

At no time during the year ended 31 March 2025 had the Directors
and the Chief Executive (including their spouses and children under
18 years of age) any interest in, or been granted, or exercised any
rights to subscribe for the shares (or warrants or debentures, is
applicable) of the Company and its associated corporations (within
the meaning of the SFO).

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

As at 31 March 2025, the interests of substantial shareholders in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company (other than a director
or chief executive of the Company) as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO
were as follows:

Capacity/Nature of

Name of shareholder interests in capital
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Saved as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, the Company has not
been notified by any person or corporation (other than the Directors
and the Chief Executive) who had any interest or short position in the
Shares or underlying Shares as recorded in the register of interests
required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
SHARES

During the year ended 31 March 2025, neither the Company nor
any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company's securities.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS
No equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Group or
existed during the year ended 31 March 2025.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The share option scheme enables the Company to grant options to
any full time or part time employee of the Company or any member
of the Group (the “Eligible Participant(s)”) as incentives or rewards for
their contributions to the Group. The Company conditionally adopted
a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) on 30 June 2014 whereby the
Board are authorised, at their absolute discretion and subject to the
terms of the Scheme, to grant options to subscribe for the shares (the
“Shares”) of the Company to the Eligible Participant. The Scheme will
be valid and effective for a period of ten years commencing from the
date of adoption of the Scheme.

Upon acceptance of an option to subscribe for Shares granted
pursuant to the Scheme (the “Option”), the Eligible Participant shall
pay HK$1.00 to the Company by way of consideration for the grant.
The Option will be offered for acceptance for a period of 21 days from
the date on which the Option is granted. The subscription price for
the Shares subject to Options will be a price determined by the Board
and notified to each participant and shall not be less than the highest
of: (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheet on the date of grant of the Options, which
must be a day on which trading of the Shares take place on the Stock
Exchange (the “Trading Day"); and (i) the average closing price of the
Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange'’s daily quotations sheets for
the 5 Trading Days immediately preceding the date of grant of the
Options.
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The Company shall be entitled to issue options, provided that the
total number of Shares which may issue upon exercise of all options
to be granted under the Scheme does not exceed 10% of the Shares
in issue on the Listing Date. The Company may at any time refresh
such limit, subject to the shareholders’ approval and the issue of
a circular in compliance with the GEM Listing Rules, provided that
the total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under all
the share option schemes of the Company does not exceed 30%
of the Shares in issued at the time. An option may be exercised
in accordance with the terms of the Scheme at any time during a
period as the Board may determine which shall not exceed ten years
from the date of grant subject to the provisions of early termination
thereof.

Since the adoption of the Scheme, no share option and share award
have been granted by the Company.

For more details, please refer to note 33 to the consolidated financial
Statements.

CHANGE OF DIRECTORS' INFORMATION

Upon specific enquiry by the Company and following confirmations
from the Directors, save as disclosed hereunder, there is no change in
the information of the Directors required to be disclosed pursuant to
17.50A(1) of the GEM Listing Rules since the Company’s last published
annual report.

Changes in Directors’ positions held with the Company:
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Directors Changes in Positions held with the Company

5% /N [ B R A D p =)

Ms. Ma Man Chi Appointed as an executive director with effect from 19 July 2024
BEELL EZEANTES B _NFLtRA T+ HEEXN

Ms. Chen Qiuling
RIS L+

Mr. Wang Jun
FEHERE

Appointed as an executive director with effect from 13 February 2025
EZAARTES BT _AFE_A+=HEEN

Resigned as an executive director with effect from 24 February 2025
HENTES BT _AF_F_+WHBEEN
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

From information publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, during the year ended 31 March 2025 the
Company has maintained the public float required by the GEM Listing
Rules.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

The Group has not made any charitable donations during the year
(2024 nil).

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors a confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule
5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and considers all the independent non-
executive Directors were independent during the period from their
respective appointments and up to 31 March 2025.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The related party transactions as set out in note 36 to the
consolidated financial statements constituted connected transactions
under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

As far as the transactions set out in note 36 to the consolidated
financial statements are concerned, the remuneration of the
Directors as determined pursuant to the service contracts/letters of
appointment entered into between the Directors and the Group were
connected transactions which were exempt from any disclosure and
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 20 of the GEM
Listing Rules.

The Directors have confirmed that the Company has complied with
the disclosure requirement in accordance with Chapter 20 of the GEM
Listing Rules.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company's
articles of association.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company's articles of association provide that the Directors
are entitled to be indemnified out of the assets and profits of the
Company against all action, charges, losses, damages and expenses
which they may incur or sustain in the execution of the duties of their
office.

During the year, the Company has put in place as appropriate
insurance cover in respect of Directors” liabilities.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company maintains a high standard of corporate governance
practices. Details of the corporate governance practices adopted
by the Company are set out in the Corporate Governance Report
on pages 20 to 36. The Directors believe the long term financial
performance as opposed to short term rewards is a corporate
governance objective. The Board would not take undue risks to make
short term gains at the expense of the long term objectives.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group is committed to observe the relevant laws and regulations.
The Group has appointed external compliance adviser to oversee
compliance with all relevant regulations.

The Group has complied with all relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the Group throughout the year.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
is set out in the five years financial summary on page 212 of this
annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company has reviewed with the
management and the Company’s external auditor the accounting
principles and practices adopted by the Group, and discussed the
auditing, internal control and financial reporting process including the
review of financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2025.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the years ended 31 March
2021, 2022 and 2023 have been audited by Mazars CPA Limited
("Mazars”). On 10 April 2024, Mazars subsequently resigned and
Global Link CPA Limited (“Global Link") was appointed as the auditor
of the Company to fill the cancel vacancy arising from the resignation
of Mazars.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other changes in auditors of
the Company during the past three years. The consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 have been audited by
Global Link who will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-appointment at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company.

By Order of the Board
Law Hok Yu

Director

Hong Kong, 30 June 2025

A
FAB—BMER S KENTEERER -ART
RN EEELAERZFBHNE0EES36
BENRFERRS BEFHGE EEEARZFRE
ERNRAMBRIRMIFBRINIEAREIR -EE
EREAEAKEZ RARUERE AWM
HRIIER

ETHEBERER

FEEBNBTHEMERER -AEBEEw I
BERREE UERTAPMAEMAMER-

FER AEREETHAEEREATENFR
BAERERER -

B E
FEBZEEREERABRESENETERSE
2128 HEM I E—fo

BE%EEY
AABEREEREREREURAATIME
BB AT B R A B IR 2 B R AR K
MBI NEEERMBEREF 058N
BE-_Z-_AF-A-+ALFEZHBER
xo

1% 24 B
rERHE T —HF T HEKR T =
EZAZ+—HLEEEZFREMBEREREAT
ERIR (BB gAEBAERLAE (PER
12) B M EREN _ S _NENA+HE
T SEETMERAR (5% BEZEA
RAB)ZEE LUER P IRBREBHIMEEZ T
o

bR EXFrIREEE SN » AR = 2 IR RED L
BEHMBE-BE_FE_RFE=-A=+—HL
FEZERAMBBRACHREE R SERRE
BERBINEERREARDEERRBEARS
FESEE A o

AEEG
EBF
BEE

BB “E"hHEA=1H



Global Link
CPA Limited

X/

To the shareholders of

China New Holdings Limited

(formerly known as

Royal Century Resources Holdings Limited)
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

Sheung Wan, Hong Kong

Fax: (852) 3580 0772

Email: info@globallinkcpa.com

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
New Holdings Limited (formerly known as Royal Century Resources
Holdings Limited) (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together
the “Group”) set out on pages 102 to 211, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2025, and
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including material
accounting policy information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2025,
and of its financial performance and cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the Companies
Ordinance.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

Room 1604, 16/F, Shun Tak Centre West Tower,
No. 168-200 Connaught Road Central,

General Line: (852) 3580 0885

EFHBLE

FHEEH168F2005%
EEROFEE16181604%E
HEISRES : (852) 3580 0885
{$H: (852) 3580 0772

B info@globallinkcpa.com
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Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional #ZEB&

FEEA MRESEEANEEE

judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated ZAMBBEIZAEMBERRMEEREE L FIHo

financial statements for the current period. These matters were

EFAEERERGROUBRRAHARREE

addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial RIEZEFEE BESIFAEHZEFTBERITERE
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we  R-°

do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key Audit Matters
FAEE St EIE

Revenue recognition for provision of design, fitting
out and engineering services income

Refer to notes 4 and 7 to the consolidated financial
Statements

The Group recorded revenue from contracts with
customers in relation to the provision of design, fitting out
and engineering services income totaling HK$155,634,000
for the year ended 31 March 2025.
REBEZZHRFE=A=+—HBILHE> E£EME
HEF EERTIERBUARESEREORAEHS
155,634,00078 7T ©

Revenue is recognised over time using the input method
or the output method, as appropriate.
WA A LS L E GRIBERME) BE R R FE R

Revenue recognised over time using the input method is
based on the Group's efforts or inputs to the satisfaction
of the performance obligations, by reference to the
cost incurred up to the end of the reporting period as a
percentage of estimated total costs.

FERBAEERNBERZNNGRLER SEBARTHE
HEEMEENBAZBRA T2 EHERSGHAFRESE
B AR A (G (i 5T 4R AN R EE B 5T o

Revenue recognised over time using the output method
is based on direct measurements of the value of services
delivered or surveys of work performed by the Group up
to the end of the reporting period.
FRBLEENERZNKRDERERSE 55E
HEREHARERORBNEEHEEBTIEAEN
BEFTE.

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters
RESPREMAREATEZAZE

IR MR RER TRRBIA Z i

BEE S BRI 24K

Our key procedures, among others, included:
BEHARER EHEE:

Understanding the design and implementation of
key internal controls over the revenue recognition
Processes,

TR GERERITS EEANBEENR T RHIT

Evaluating the key estimates and assumptions adopted
by the management in estimating total revenue and
total costs;
S E IR B T 5B U R R AR P AN B P ER AN Y = E
D+&1EXDX i

Evaluating, on a sample basis, whether the key terms
and conditions in contracts with customers and
subcontractors have been properly reflected in the
estimated total revenue and estimated total costs;
HRsHEEE R MO O] LSRN 2 BRI
FEH RS B IER R EE M N m R AR AR
Ep )

Checking, on a sample basis, the costs incurred for the
projects up to the end of the reporting period;
HMEZEHERSHAMBEEEENRSE ;
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

WL A BRI

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continuea)

FEEFEER @

Key Audit Matters
FAEE St EIE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters
RESPRERAREATEZAZE

Revenue recognition for provision of design, fitting
out and engineering services income (Continued)

Management reviews and revises the estimates of
revenue and costs for each contract by comparing the
most current budgeted amounts with corresponding
actual amounts as the contract work progresses.
EEEERANIREES BALREAMNEET S
RIEERNER S BRKREISMN AN KRR A
HEHE -

The measurement of revenue involved the use
of significant judgements and estimates by the
management. As a result, we identified this as a key audit
matter.

W2 R EREBFERAEAFEMNGE -Hib &%
BHETE RRARETEE

MR RERTERBBAZ W=D (@)

o Discussing the status of projects with project managers,
to identify any variations of contracts and claims, and
to obtain explanations for fluctuations in margins and
changes in budget as well as the expected recovery of
variations; and

. MIBE&ARmIEE NN UEESRMRENE
g WESBRAAN B RS KBS CHNERE &
EEEFNFERLBIWIER ; &

o Comparing the revenue recognised, on a sample basis,
with reference to the certifications from independent
surveyors or performing recalculation of the revenue
recognised with reference to actual costs incurred and
estimated total costs.

. S2EF A EENPTEE H B8 SR H R n NS
2 EBRE LR AFE STV AR A A B i s8 B I e
TEMFTE-
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Key Audit Matters
FAEE St EIE

Impairment assessment of construction
equipment in leasing of construction equipment
segment

Refer to notes 4, 18 and 20 to the consolidated financial
Statements

As at 31 March 2025, the carrying amount of construction
equipment amounted to HK$3,703,000 (the “Leasing of
Construction Equipment Segment Assets”) are included
in the cash-generating unit of leasing of construction
equipment segment.

N ZEZHRFE=A=+—8" Li@‘”%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁj
3,703,000 T (MMEEREXBELHEE) st AHE
BREOEREEEE -

The Group is required to assess whether an indicator
has appeared that may affect the value of the Leasing
of Construction Equipment Segment Assets or such
indicator affecting the impairment loss of these assets
previously made has no longer been in existence.
EEEETGUEREHERERRESBEEBEN
ERESEHR IR B RNEZEEEFENRES
BNIERERTFE-

Management carried out an impairment assessment for
the Leasing of Construction Equipment Segment Assets
which have an impairment indicator. The recoverable
amount of the Leasing of Construction Equipment
Segment Assets is determined by value in use calculation
using discounted cash flow projections based on the
financial forecasts approved by management.
EEEHNEREEENHEREREB I EEET
BETE - HERRRHE N EENTT W SR ERA
EREEEMEMBIEANARASRETEAHESE
REEEE-

The assessment of impairment indicator and value in
use calculation involved significant judgements and
estimations. Therefore, the impairment assessment of the
Leasing of Construction Equipment Segment Assets is
considered as a key audit matter.
BEEEREREES BN EY RERFEFHET
At HERRZE D BEERET R RARMBE
EIHo

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters
RESPRERAREATEZAZE

REERRERBO 2R ARBRETE

BEE S BRAN 4 18K20

Our key procedures, among others, included:
BEHARER EHEE:

Understanding management’s process for identifying
impairment indicators;
THREEEBHRINBREIERNTE;

Evaluating the judgements made by management in
identifying impairment indicators;
HERE T H R E SRR AT 1RV FER 5 LB 5T

Reviewing management’s impairment assessment
of the Leasing of Construction Equipment Segment
Assets;

EREEEHNHEERARE I EENRESTG

Verifying the external sources data used by
management in value in use calculation of the Leasing
of Construction Equipment Segment Assets;

B EIEENTEHERRRE NS EETRBEER
Fﬁ%ﬁ’]%a‘ﬁ?&ﬁéﬁﬂ ;

Enquiring of management in relation to key
assumptions in their business plan and evaluating
the key assumptions applied by comparing them to
historical information and our understanding of latest
market information and conditions,
HEEREERMEEB PR RER WA
BELERRBEEHRNMTSBERNIERN T BETLE
8 LUST{& P e FA RV RA SR (R 5%

Checking on a sample basis the accuracy and
relevance of the input data used by management in
value in use calculation; and
HEeEEREETEREESERERNE AR
ROZERE M R AR 5 &

Checking arithmetical accuracy of the calculations.
BB ERNEN LR



Key Audit Matters
FAEE St EIE

Impairment assessment of trade receivables and
contract assets
Refer to notes 4, 25 and 26

We identified the valuation of trade receivables and
contract assets as a key audit matter as the amounts are
significant and the determination of expected credit loss
("ECL") requires significant management judgements.
EEREBSRUREBERGNEEZHERNAMRSE
HFEBE BREAERZSESEEA BETCHEBEESE
(FEHRAEERSIE) REBEREFHERYE-

In respect of certain of the Group's trade receivables
and contract assets, the Group uses provision matrix
to calculate the ECL. The provision rates are based on
debtor’s aging consisting of debtors with common credit
risk characteristic. The provision matrix is based on the
Group's historical default rates taking into consideration
forward- looking information. At every reporting date,
the historical observed default rates are reassessed
and changes in the forward-looking information are
considered.

M EEENETESRBARERENEEMS B
SERAEERETERBEEBE BEHEXTLRIER
BHRFEEERBSENEBEAMERNEFARKEE
BEEREINER S£EENELENE GrRARESE
K o MNEERSEH ERRZENXTVETENTGE
ZEAIEEEREH) o

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters
RESPRERAREATEZAZE

B R RWRERGHNEENRET
B4 25826

Our procedures in relation to impairment assessment of trade
receivables and contract assets included:
EEEMEBESRRRBERENEERETENEFEE

- Understanding key controls on how the management
estimates the loss allowance for trade receivables and
contract assets;

— THREEEGHEZRURERESNEEZ GEEH
Z BASEEES ;

- Evaluating the design and implementation of key
controls over the management assessment process;
—  FMEEIEEMEAENRERETNR KB

- Testing the integrity of information used by
management to develop the provision matrix, including
trade receivables ageing analysis as at 31 March 2025,
on a sample basis, by comparing individual items in
the analysis with the relevant sales agreements, sales
invoices, settlement records and other supporting
documents;

— BBEESWHNEIEEEEMEERE HEE
EHEESRMEMZ FXHETLEE LUEsA R
AEEEES EREBERMEAERNTEN  G1F
RIZ-AF=ZA=+—HBZEFEWFERR D
i
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continuea)

FEEFEER @

Key Audit Matters
FAEE St EIE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters
RESPRERAREATEZAZE

Impairment assessment of trade receivables and
contract assets (Continuead)

As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s net trade receivables
and contract assets amounting to approximately
HK$29,951,000 and HK$12,556,000 respectively.
RIZBEZHRF=A=+—H0> B&£EZEBZERKRNIE
MEHEEFEDB47529,951,0007 7T 5212,556,0007%8

JT ©

OTHER INFORMATION

B R RWREREHNEENRENE (@)

Challenging management’s basis and judgement in
determining credit loss allowance on trade receivables
and contract assets as at 31 March 2025, including
their identification of credit impaired trade receivables,
the reasonableness of management’s grouping of the
remaining trade debtors into different categories in the
provision matrix, and the basis of estimated loss rates
applied in each category in the provision matrix (with
reference to historical default rates and forward-looking
information);

BEREEENEEN _EHFE=A=1+—HZE%5
FERHRIERENEENEEGBREFNEERH
B BIEREHEEREEZEUIEIENHR > E12
ERGTERZEFZADEERBEENTELERAY
BN UM B EERES AR ER ARG TEHBIEE
E2ERPLENZRAREEER) NEE ;

I S

Lfth & xl

pil

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other = NBEEEAEMENBE HMENES

information. The other information comprises all the information in
the 2024/2025 annual report of the Company but does not include
the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

[

LT BRB_ZT_NE/ T _RAEFERFAH
2EER ARG SHERERRES 2 RH
Bk o

EEHGROVMBRRREZEREINRERM
B EETAEREREFATLAZRELS

A
af ©

MESHREVBRRETZEFLIFMS &
ZEERBEMER WEILBREPEREMSE
HMESRGREMBRRAEFNET TIEE
BENZBEHREATMANER XREEMT
EHIRBE AR W EEENFTET TIEM
BHEMENBEARERRM &R IEFA
BHRARMER L EFLHEEEKRET -
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WA

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the
HKICPA and the Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process. The audit committee assists the directors in
discharging their responsibility in this regard.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE

AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as
a body, in accordance with section 405 of the Companies Ordinance
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.
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CHINA NEW HOLDINGS LIMITED
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT

WL A BRI

AUDITOR’'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE

AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAS, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.
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WL A BRI

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE

AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (continued)

. Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information
of the entities or business activities within the group as a basis
for forming an opinion on the group financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of
the audit work performed of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

Global Link CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Li Siu Bun

Practising Certificate Number: P08414
Hong Kong, 30 June 2025
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102  CHINA NEW HOLDINGS LIMITED
FRITERBRAE

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
S oy TH i e FLA 2 i i 2

Year ended 31 March 2025 #Z _—FE_ZF=H=+—HIFZE

2025 2024
“EhE “EZNE
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
(bES FAET FET
Revenue & 7 164,543 87,603
Cost of sales & A (161,065) (78,573)
Gross profit EX 3,478 9,030
Other income Hhl A 9 75 952
Other gains, net Hihle > 358 10 1,641 2,837
Impairment of intangible assets, EREERE
net of reversal 0BREEE] 22 (210) (639)
Reversal of allowance for expected EWER AT ETEREE
credit loss ("ECL") on loan and &8 (FEiE B R51E))
interest receivables BB ED 6(b) 349 174
Allowance for ECL on trade receivables B o REHIETESREE
EE R 6(b) (390) (332
Allowance for ECL on contract assets BHNEETRIREEREBESE oD (203) (45)
Change in fair value of an investment KREMEQTEEE
property 19 - 500
Administrative expenses THREX (26,392) (22,167)
Finance costs FAE R A 1 (48) (734)
Loss before tax PRI RIS E 13 (21,700) (10,424)
Income tax credit FRSMIER 12 22 634
Loss for the year attributable to KABEB ANEM
owners of the Company FEFIE (21,678) (9,790)
Other comprehensive income EEHMPEIRE
for the year
Item that may be reclassified HEAFEERN 7 HEE
subsequently to profit or l0ss: Bm B
Release of exchange reserve upon HRIEFESRM B A B B R
deregistration of subsidiaries PE R REE = 18
Total comprehensive expense for the year A BHER AFELERE
attributable to owners of the Company 2EZ 4858 (21,678) 9.772)
HK$ HK$
BT Bt
(Restated)
(RE5)
Loss per share: FREE
Basic and diluted EAR RS 17 (0.48) 0.61)

The notes on pages 102 to 211 are an integral part of the HF102EF2NMBENMEAZSHEESHMBREN
consolidated financial statements. ABRLER S o
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MeE,/ —“ B HEERS

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

G BHIR DL

Asat31March2025 H_ZE_HZFE=H=4+—H

2025 2024
_E_RE —E_[NE
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FAT FET
Non-current assets EREEE

Property, plant and equipment ERY Y 18 3,703 7,712
Right-of-use assets ERESE 20 - 1,809
Goodwill [EES 21 = =
Intangible assets BLEE 22 2,250 2,460
5,953 11,981

Current assets REEE
Loan and interest receivables EWERRFIE 23 2,761 2,142
Inventories e 24 6,102 1,102
Trade and other receivables B 5 K& EHEWEIE 25 41,128 23,280
Contract assets BHEE 26(a) 12,556 6,517
Cash and bank balances Re MIRTT4ARR 27 43,249 45,690
105,796 78,731

Current liabilities Bt =Y =]
Trade and other payables B 5 R EMERIE 28 47,678 13,839
Contract liabilities =LA 26(b) 4,491 1,050
Income tax payable EIFT1SR 126 113
Lease liabilities HEEE 29 - 1,902
52,295 16,904
Net current assets BREBEE 53,501 61,827
Total assets less current liabilities HEERTBARE 59,454 73,808
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IR ARAE

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

SR W BHIR DL

Asat 31 March 2025 R_ZE_AFE=H=4+—H

2025 2024
—E-hRE —ETUF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FAT FET
Non-current liabilities ERENARE
Deferred tax liabilities FERIBEE 31 272 307
NET ASSETS FEE 59,182 73,501
Equity g
Share capital [N 32 248,173 240,814
Reserves B (188,991) (167,313)
TOTAL EQUITY MR 59,182 73,501

The consolidated financial statements on pages 102 to 211 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 30
June 2025 and signed on its behalf by:

Law Hok Yu
B2F
Director
BE

The notes on pages 108 to 211 are an integral part of the
consolidated financial statements.

HINBIR2EF2NBEZEEYHRREN
ETRFERB=ZTHRESGHERBRETE
WETIHNEEAREE -

Miao Xianliu
24l
Director
EBE

FIBEE2NENMERZFREMBEREN
HERLERSY
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TECNE/CEREERS

IN EQUITY

»‘T III éﬁb?@
Year ended 31 March 2025 #Z - ZFE_-AF=H=+—HIFFE
Share  Accumulated Exchange
capital losses reserve Total
[ REEE ERGHE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FTET FTET FET
(Note 32) (Note)
(ftz£32) (it =)
At 1 April 2023 ATET=FNE—H 205,523 (157,523) (18) 47,982
Loss for the year FEERBE = (9,790) = (9,790)
Other comprehensive income Hi 2wk
Release of exchange reserve upon RIEERNB AR RRIRER
deregistration of subsidiaries 530z - - 18 18
Total comprehensive (I0ss) income FEERA (B8 WL
for the year - (9,790) 18 9,772)
Issue of shares (note 32) BT (MH5E32) 36,059 - - 36,059
Share issue expenses BRn TR (768) 5 5 (768)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 RIE-WNE=ZA=+—Hk%k
“ZENEMB—H 240,814 (167,313) = 73,501
Loss and total comprehensive loss KEEERNE2EEREE
for the year - (21,678) - (21,678)
Issue of shares (note 32) BT (EE32) 7,563 - - 7,563
Share issue expenses RAD SIS (204) = = (204)
At 31 March 2025 R_E_HRFE=B=1+—H 248,173 (188,991) - 59,182

Note: Exchange reserve of the Group comprises all foreign exchange differences
arising from translation of the financial statements of the Group's foreign
operations upon consolidation. The reserve is dealt with in accordance
with the accounting policy set out in note 3 to the consolidated financial

Statements.

The notes on pages 108 to 211 are an integral part of the
consolidated financial statements.

Mzt . AEEZER#EFEERENGSARERLERER
BN EB 2 BREMELENFAIAINEEZLR - H#E

RBRE B RRNESFTR G

BIBEF2NENWERZFRS

HERLERSY

STERAEIE

URCE RN
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R RAT

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
SR BLEB TR %

Year ended 31 March 2025 #Z _—FE_ZF=H=+—HIFZE

2025 2024
—ERHE ZEINE
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
M5 FHT FExT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REEE)
Loss before tax PRI RTS8 (21,700) (10,424)
Adjustments for: FHEE
Impairment of intangible assets, mEEERME (0kREE)
net of reversal 22 210 639
Change in fair value of an investment KEMELFEED
property 19 - (500)
Allowance for ECL on trade receivables =] % FEUWFRIETEHR
= ERIBEE 6(b) 390 332
Allowance for ECL on contract assets BHNEETRREER
gt 6(b) 203 45
Reversal of allowance for ECL on loan FEWE R R F) ETEHA
and interest receivables EEEIER B 6(b) (349) (174)
Depreciation of property, plant and MR REREITE
equipment 18 5,122 6,397
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEITE 20 1,809 4,095
Finance costs A AL A 11 48 734
Bank interest income IRITHE WA 9 (17) (27)
Compensation gain on disposal/write-off BB FHiNERLHE
of construction equipment HEWE 10 (1,489) 2,779
Gain on disposal of right-of-use assets RERILBHEFERRE
upon early termination BEZWE 10 = (253)
Operating cash flows before movements  EEESE A2
in working capital KEWREMRE (15,773) (1,915)
Changes in working capital: EEETEE
Inventories =7E8 (5,000) 202
Loan and interest receivables FEWE T (270) 2,802
Trade and other receivables B 5 kA A EWEIE (18,238) (8,234)
Trade and other payables B 5 R EMEL RIS (6,242) (5,463)
Contract assets BHEE 8,097 (4,452)
Contract liabilities aHEaE 3,441 (544)

Net cash used in operating activities &ZEZHFIEZZRS (33,985) (17,604)




Year ended 31 March 2025 #Z_—F_A&F=H=+—HIFFEE

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchases of property, plant and equipment

Compensation received from disposal/
write-off of construction equipment

Bank interest received

Proceeds from disposal of an investment
property

Net cash from investing activities

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issue of shares
Share issue expenses

Repayment of unsecured other borrowings

Temporary receipt from the proceeds
from rights issue

Interest paid

Repayment of lease liabilities

Net cash from financing activities

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and
cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents
at the beginning of the year

Cash and cash equivalents
at the end of the year

The notes on pages 108 to 211 are an integral part of the

consolidated financial statements.

Notes
i3

REED
BEME R RRE
REHHEEREHE

BUERTTHI B
HEREYEPISNIA

REZFFFRSZERE

B EE
BEITRRDFRSIE 32
AP EITRIX 32
EERILFEMEES 30
HEGFrERIBH

ST 28, 34(a)
BEfFHE 34(a)
Efegiti ==L 34(a)

MEZBFRSZERE
RERFAEEEBWF

GRL) /18I
FNzRERREEEY

FRZBTRREEEY
27

HERLERSY

2025
—ERHE
HK$'000
FET

(1,130)

1,506
17

393

7,563
(204)

25,742
(48)
(1,902)

31,151

(2,441)

45,690

43,249

2024
—EopE
HK$'000
FHEx
(404)

3,208
27

30,000

32,831

36,059
(768)
(5,000)

(734)
(5,009)

24,548

39,775

5,915

45,690

FIBEE2NENMERZFAREMBREN
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CHINA NEW HOLDINGS LIMITED
RATERERAT

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Sk ey W B LR BT G

Year ended 31 March 2025 #Z _—FE_ZF=H=+—HIFZE

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

China New Holdings Limited (formerly known as Royal Century
Resources Holdings Limited) (the “Company”) was incorporated
in Hong Kong as a company with limited liability and its shares
are listed on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”). The address of the registered office and
principal place of business of the Company is disclosed in the
corporate information section of the annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company
and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) are principally
engaged in:

(i) provision of design, fitting out and engineering and
procurement of furnishings and related products
services;

(i) leasing of construction equipment and provision of
related installation services;

(i) sourcing and merchandising of fine and rare wines; and

(iv)  provision of financial services comprising securities
advisory services, securities dealing and brokerage
services and asset management services and money
lending.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
thousands (“HK$'000”) of Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"), unless
otherwise stated, which is also the functional currency of the
Company and its Hong Kong subsidiaries.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S o W5 R B
Year ended 31 March 2025 #Z_—T_#H#E=H=+—HIFFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED TO
HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

(a)

Application of new and revised HKFRS
Accounting Standards

The Group has applied the Amendments to Reference to
the Conceptual Framework in HKFRS and the following
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") for the first time, which are mandatorily
effective for the annual period beginning on or after
1 April 2024 for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback
Classification of Liabilities as Current or

Non-current and related amendments
to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

Amendments to HKAS 1

Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 7
and HKFRS 7

Supplier Finance Arrangements

The adoption listed above did not have any impact on the
amount recognised in prior periods and are not expected
to significantly affect the current or future periods.

FERMEIRAEIETT 2 B RBMBR

SEAE s ER
(@) ERMIREETZERME

WEEAEFTER
FEERERNGEMBTREE BB
REABEBMBRESENHES
ERMBEZESTARATHRER
gitiing (EBEMAE)) |
Mz EBMBREERGSHERZ
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Z BRI FE AR RAIERL
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F1658 2 7T
BREHENE R IEBRGAFTDE
ZIER] ERHTHEZRES
FCE_EF)F
Bz
BREHENE R WEZEFRTEE
ZIER]
BREHENFEE HEBHELH
REBMBRE

ERFIHZER]

LSRN SR HA R B B0 2 R
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CHINA NEW HOLDINGS LIMITED
IR ARAE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
%o o W5 H R B
Year ended 31 March 2025 #Z_—T_#H#E=H=+—HIFFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

(Continued)

(b)

New and revised HKFRS Accounting
Standards in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not applied any new and revised HKFRS
Accounting Standards that have been issued but are
not yet effective for the financial year beginning on 1
April 2024. These new and revised HKFRS Accounting
Standards include the following which may be relevant to
the Group.

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements®

HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public Accountability:
Disclosures®

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Amenaments to the Classification and
and HKFRS 7 Measurement of Financial Instruments’?

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Contracts Referencing Nature-aependent
and HKFRS 7 Electricity?

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between
and HKAS 28 an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture’
Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability’

Amendments to HKFRS — Annwal Improvements to HKFRS
Accounting Standards Accounting Standards - Volume 1712

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2025

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2026

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2027

4 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for
adoption

The Group is in the process of making an assessment
of what the impact of these amendments and new
standards is expected to be in the period of initial
application. So far it has concluded that the adoption
of them is unlikely to have a significant impact on the
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SR B LR BT Gk

Year ended 31 March 2025 #Z _—FE_ZF=H=+—HIFZ

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the
HKICPA, accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong
and the Companies Ordinance. In addition, the consolidated
financial statements include applicable disclosures required
by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the
Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”).

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on a basis consistent with the accounting policies adopted in
the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2024 except for the adoption of the new/revised HKFRS
Accounting Standards in note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements that are relevant to the Group and effective from
the current year.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for investment property that is
measured at fair value as explained in the accounting policies
set out below.

A summary of the principal accounting policies adopted by the
Group is set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company (i.e. its subsidiaries). If a subsidiary prepares its
financial statements using accounting policies other than
those adopted in the consolidated financial statements for like
transactions and events in similar circumstances, appropriate
adjustments are made to that subsidiary’s financial statements
in preparing the consolidated financial statements to ensure
conformity with the Group’s accounting policies.
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CHINA NEW HOLDINGS LIMITED
PHRRARAR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Sk ey W B LR BT G

Year ended 31 March 2025 #Z _—FE_ZF=H=+—HIFZE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continuead)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Control is achieved where the Group has: (i) the power over
the investee; (i) exposure, or rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee; and (jii) the ability to use its
power over the investee to affect the amount of the Group’s
returns. When the Group has less than a majority of the voting
rights of an investee, power over the investee may be obtained
through: (i) a contractual arrangement with other vote holders;
(i) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; (iii)
the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights; or (iv)
a combination of the above, based on all relevant facts and
circumstances.

The Company reassess whether it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or
more of these elements of control stated above. Consolidation
of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control of the
subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the
subsidiary.

Income and expenses of subsidiaries are included in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control
until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, profits or loss, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between
entities of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or
loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between (i) the
aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and
the fair value of any retained interest determined at the date
when control is lost and (i) the carrying amount of the assets
(including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any
non-controlling interests at the date when control is lost. The
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income
in relation to the disposed subsidiary are accounted for on
the same basis as would be required if the parent had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Any investment
retained in the former subsidiary and any amounts owed by or
to the former subsidiary are accounted for as a financial asset,
associate, joint venture or others as appropriate from the date
when control is lost.

3.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SR B LR BT Gk

Year ended 31 March 2025 #Z _—FE_ZF=H=+—HIFZ

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continuead)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Allocation of total comprehensive income

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income of subsidiaries are attributed to the owners of the
Company and the non-controlling interest. Total comprehensive
income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interest even if this results
in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for
business combinations except for business combinations
under common control. The consideration transferred for
the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets
transferred, the liabilities incurred and the equity interests
issued by the Group. The consideration transferred includes the
fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are measured initially at their fair values at the
acquisition date.

The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. Non-controlling
interests in the acquiree that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the entity's
net assets in the event of liquidation are measured at either fair
value or the present ownership interests’ proportionate share
in the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. All other components of non-controlling interests are
measured at their acquisition date fair value, unless another
measurement basis is required by HKFRS.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the carrying
amount of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the
acquiree is re-measured to fair value at the acquisition date;
any gains or losses arising from such re-measurement are
recognised in profit and loss.

3.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Sk ey W B LR BT G

Year ended 31 March 2025 #Z _—FE_ZF=H=+—HIFZE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combinations (Continuea)

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the Group
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent
changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration that is
deemed to be an asset or a liability is recognised in accordance
with HKFRS 9 either in profit and loss or as a change to other
comprehensive income. Contingent consideration that is
classified as equity is not remeasured, and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity.

Goodwill

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the fair value of
any previous equity interest in the acquiree at the acquisition
date over the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired
is recorded as goodwill. If the total of consideration transferred,
non-controlling interest recognised and previously held interest
measured is less than the fair value of the net assets of the
subsidiary acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the
difference is recognised directly in profit or 10ss.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired
in a business combination is allocated to each of the cash-
generating units (“CGUS"), or groups of CGUs, that is expected
to benefit from the synergies of the combination. Each unit or
group of units to which the goodwill is allocated represents the
lowest level within the entity at which the goodwill is monitored
for internal management purposes. Goodwill is monitored at
the operating segment level.

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken annually or
more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate a potential impairment. The carrying amount of the
CGU containing the goodwill is compared to the recoverable
amount, which is the higher of value in use and the fair
value less costs of disposal. Any impairment is recognised
immediately as an expense and is not subsequently reversed.
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Year ended 31 March 2025 #Z _—FE_ZF=H=+—HIFZ

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Subsidiaries

In the Company’s statement of financial position, which is
presented within these notes, investments in subsidiaries are
stated at cost less impairment losses. The carrying amount of
the investment is reduced to its recoverable amount on an
individual basis, if it is higher than the recoverable amount. The
results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on
the basis of dividends received and receivable.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in @ manner consistent with
the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-
maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible
for allocating resources and assessing performance of the
operating segments, has been identified as the executive
directors that makes strategic decisions.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS
15

Nature of goods or services

The nature of the goods or services provided by the Group is as
follows:

- Sales of fine and rare wines
= Provision of fitting out and engineering services

- Provision of design and procurement of furnishing and
related products services

- Provision of installation service for construction
equipment

- Provision of financial services except for providing
finance
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Year ended 31 March 2025 #Z _—FE_ZF=H=+—HIFZE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS
15 (Continueaq)

Identification of performance obligations

At contract inception, the Group assesses the goods or
services promised in a contract with a customer and identifies
as a performance obligation each promise to transfer to the
customer either:

3.

@

(b)

a good or service (or a bundle of goods or services) that
is distinct; or

a series of distinct goods or services that are
substantially the same and that have the same pattern of
transfer to the customer.

A good or service that is promised to a customer is distinct if
both of the following criteria are met:

@

(b)

the customer can benefit from the good or service either
on its own or together with other resources that are
readily available to the customer (i.e. the good or service
is capable of being distinct); and

the Group's promise to transfer the good or service
to the customer is separately identifiable from other
promises in the contract (i.e. the promise to transfer
the good or service is distinct within the context of the
contract).
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Year ended 31 March 2025 #Z _—FE_ZF=H=+—HIFZ

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continuea)

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS
15 (Continueaq)

Timing of revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when (or as) the Group satisfies a
performance obligation by transferring a promised good or
service (i.e. an asset) to a customer. An asset is transferred
when (or as) the customer obtains control of that asset. The
Group transfers control of a good or service over time and,
therefore, satisfies a performance obligation and recognises
revenue over time, if one of the following criteria is met:

(@)  the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group's performance as the
Group performs,

(b)  the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset
(for example, work in progress) that the customer
controls as the asset is created or enhanced:; or

(c)  the Group's performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.

If a performance obligation is not satisfied over time, the Group
satisfies the performance obligation at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the promised asset. In determining
when the transfer of control occurs, the Group considers the
concept of control and such indicators as legal title, physical
possession, right to payment, significant risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset, and customer acceptance.
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Year ended 31 March 2025 #Z _—FE_ZF=H=+—HIFZE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS
15 (Continued)

Timing of revenue recognition (Continued)

The Group recognised its revenue by taking into consideration
the type of customers, the type of transactions and the
specifics of each arrangement. Revenue is recognised as
follows:

3.

Sales of fine and rare wines

The Group sells fine and rare wines. Revenue from sales
of fine and rare wines is recognised at a point in time
when control of the products has been transferred, being
when the products are delivered to the customers, and
there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the
customers' acceptance of the products. Delivery occurs
when the products have been delivered to the specified
location, the risks of obsolescence and loss have been
transferred to the customers, and either the customers
has accepted the products in accordance with the
sales contract, the acceptance provisions have lapsed,
or the Group has objective evidence that all criteria for
acceptance have been satisfied.

Provision of fitting out and engineering services/Provision
of design and procurement of furnishing and related
products services/Provision of construction equipment
installation services

A contract with a customer is classified by the Group as
a service contract when the contract relates to work on
assets under the control of the customer and therefore
the Group's activities create or enhance an asset under
the customer’s control.

When the outcome of a service contract can be
reasonably measured, revenue from the contract is
recognised over time using either the output method (i.e.
based on direct measurements of the value of services
delivered or measurement of work performed and the
estimated total revenue for the contracts entered into
by the Group) or the input method (i.e. based on the
proportion of the actual inputs deployed to date as
compared to the estimated total inputs), as appropriate,
to measure the progress towards complete satisfaction
of the performance obligation.
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Year ended 31 March 2025 #Z _—FE_ZF=H=+—HIFZ
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS
15 (Continued)

Timing of revenue recognition (Continued)

3.

ii)

Provision of fitting out and engineering services/Provision
of design and procurement of furnishing and related
products services/Provision of construction equipment
installation services (Continuea)

If the projects have no alternative use to the Group
contractually and the Group has an enforceable right to
payment from the customers for performance completed
to date, the Group satisfies the performance obligation
over time and therefore, recognises revenue over time
in accordance with the input method for measuring
progress.

The likelihood of contract variations, claims and
liquidated damages are taken into account in making
these estimates, such that revenue is only recognised
to the extent that it is highly probable that a significant
reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised
will not occur.

When the outcome of the contract cannot be reasonably
measured, revenue is recognised only to the extent
of contract costs incurred that are expected to be
recovered.

If at any time the costs to complete the contract are
estimated to exceed the remaining amount of the
consideration under the contract, then a provision is
recognised.

The principal input applied in the input method is:
- Provision of fitting out and engineering services/

provision of design and procurement of furnishing
and related products services: costs incurred.
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Year ended 31 March 2025 #Z _—FE_ZF=H=+—HIFZE
3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS
15 (Continued)

Timing of revenue recognition (Continued)

ii)

iii)

Provision of fitting out and engineering services/Provision
of design and procurement of furnishing and related
products services/Provision of construction equipment
installation services (Continued)

The principal input applied in the output method is:

- Provision of fitting out and engineering services/
provision of design and procurement of furnishing
and related products services (only applicable
when surveyor was appointed): surveys of
performance completed to date.

- Installation services income from construction
equipment: square meters of areas completed to
date.

Provision of financial services except for providing
finance

Commission income for broking business is recorded as
income at a point in time on a trade date basis.

Underwriting commission income, sub-underwriting
income, placing commission and sub-placing commission
are recognised as income at a point in time in
accordance with the terms of the underlying agreement
or deal mandate when relevant significant act has been
completed.

Proof of funds commission and clearing and handling
fee income are recognised at a point in time when the
relevant transactions have been arranged or the relevant
services have been rendered.

Management fee is recognised over time when the
relevant services have been rendered.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continuead)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective
interest method. For financial assets measured at amortised
cost that are not credit-impaired, the effective interest rate is
applied to the gross carrying amount of the asset. For credit-
impaired financial assets, the effective interest rate is applied
to the amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying amount net of 10ss
allowance) of the asset.

Rental income

Rental income from operating leases of construction
equipment and investment property is recognised when the
assets are let out and on the straight-line basis over the lease
term.

Contract assets and contract liabilities

If the Group performs by transferring goods or services to a
customer before the customer pays consideration or before
payment is due, the contract is presented as a contract asset,
excluding any amounts presented as a receivable. Conversely,
if a customer pays consideration, or the Group has a right to
an amount of consideration that is unconditional, before the
Group transfers a good or service to the customer, the contract
is presented as a contract liability when the payment is made
or the payment is due (whichever is earlier). A receivable is
the Group’s right to consideration that is unconditional or
only the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

For a single contract or a single set of related contracts, either
a net contract asset or a net contract liability is presented.
Contract assets and contract liabilities of unrelated contracts
are not presented on a net basis.

For some of the contracts for fitting out and engineering
services, design and procurement of furnishing services
businesses, the Group receives from the customer the whole
or some of the contractual payments before the services are
completed or when the goods are delivered (i.e. the timing
of revenue recognition for such transactions). The Group
recognises a contract liability until it is recognised as revenue.
During that period, any significant financing components, if
applicable, will be included in the contract liability and will be
expensed as accrued unless the interest expense is eligible for
capitalisation.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Contract assets and contract liabilities (Continuead)
On the other hand, for some of the contracts for fitting out and
engineering services, design and procurement of furnishing
and related products services businesses, in accordance with
the standard payment schedules, payments are not due or
received from the customer until the services are completed or
when the goods are delivered. However, for such transactions,
revenue is recognised over time and therefore, a contract
asset is recognised until it becomes a receivable or payments
are received. During that period, any significant financing
components, if applicable, will be included in the contract asset
and recognised as interest income.

Leases

The Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a
lease at inception of the contract. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

As lessee

The Group applies the recognition exemption to short-term
leases and low-value asset leases. Lease payments associated
with these leases are recognised as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term.

The Group has elected not to separate non-lease components
from lease components, and accounts for each lease
component and any associated non-lease components as a
single lease component.

Amounts payable by the Group that do not give rise t0 a
separate component are considered to be part of the total
consideration that is allocated to the separately identified
components of the contract.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

As lessee (Continued)

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at
the commencement date of the lease.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which
comprises:

(@ the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

(b) any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives received;

(c) anyinitial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

(d) an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying asset, restoring
the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying
asset to the condition required by the terms and
conditions of the lease, unless those costs are incurred
to produce inventories.

Subsequently, the right-of-use asset is measured at cost
less any accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses and adjusted for any remeasurement of the
lease liability. Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of the lease term and the estimated useful
lives of the right-of-use assets (unless the lease transfers
ownership of the underlying asset to the Group by the end of
the lease term or if the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects
that the Group will exercise a purchase option — in which case
depreciation is provided over the estimated useful life of the
underlying asset) as follows:

Office premises
Warehouse

3.3 years
6 years

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of
the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement
date of the contract.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continueq)

As lessee (Continued)

The lease payments included in the measurement of the lease
liability comprise the following payments for the right to use the
underlying asset during the lease term that are not paid at the
commencement date:

(@)  fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments),
less any lease incentives receivable;

(b)  variable lease payments that depend on an index or a
rate;

(c) amounts expected to be payable under residual value
guarantees;

(d) exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

(e) payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to
terminate the lease.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease, or where it is not readily determinable, the
incremental borrowing rate of the lessee.

Subsequently, the lease liability is measured by increasing the
carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability and by
reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments
made.

The lease liability is remeasured using a revised discount rate
when there are changes to the lease payments arising from a
change in the lease term or the reassessment of whether the
Group will be reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

As lessee (Continued)

The Group recognises the amount of the remeasurement of
the lease liability as an adjustment to the right-of-use asset.
If the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset is reduced to
zero and there is a further reduction in the measurement of the
lease liability, the Group recognises any remaining amount of
the remeasurement in profit or 10ss.

3.

A lease modification is accounted for as a separate lease if

@)

the modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying assets;
and

the consideration for the lease increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the
increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments to
that stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances of the
particular contract.

When a lease modification is not accounted for as a separate
lease, at the effective date of the lease modification,

@

©

the Group allocates the consideration in the modified
contract on the basis of relative stand-alone price as
described above.

the Group determines the lease term of the modified
contract.

the Group remeasures the lease liability by discounting
the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate
over the revised lease term.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continuead)

Leases (Continued)

As lessee (Continuea)

(d)  for lease modifications that decrease the scope of the
lease, the Group accounts for the remeasurement of the
lease liability by decreasing the carrying amount of the
right-of-use asset to reflect the partial or full termination
of the lease and recognising any gain or loss relating to
the partial or full termination of the lease in profit or loss.

(e) for all other lease modifications, the Group accounts
for the remeasurement of the lease liability by making a
corresponding adjustment to the right-of-use asset.

As lessor

The Group classifies each of its leases as either a finance lease
or an operating lease at the inception date of the lease. A lease
is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying
asset. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

As lessor - operating lease
The Group applies the derecognition and impairment
requirements in HKFRS 9 to the operating lease receivables.

A modification to an operating lease is accounted for as a new
lease from the effective date of the modification, considering
any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to the original
lease as part of the lease payments for the new lease.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in
the respective functional currency (i.e. the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates)
at the rates of exchanges prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value
that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continuead)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-
monetary items carried at fair value are included in profit or
loss for the period except for exchange differences arising
on the retranslation of non-monetary items in respect of
which gains and losses are recognised directly in other
comprehensive income, in which cases, the exchange
differences are also recognised directly in other comprehensive
income.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the
end of each reporting period. Income and expenses items
are translated at the average exchange rates for the year.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the
heading of exchange reserve.

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are recognised in profit or 10ss in the period in
which they are incurred.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal
or constructive obligation as a result of past events, when it is
probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and when a
reliable estimate of the amount of obligation can be made.
Expenditures for which a provision has been recognised are
charged against the related provision in the year in which the
expenditures are incurred. Provisions are reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and adjusted to reflect the current
best estimate. Where the effect of the time value of money
is material, the amount provided is the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation.
Where the Group expects a provision to be reimbursed, the
reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset but only
when the reimbursement is virtually certain.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Employee benefits

Defined contribution plans

The obligations for contributions to defined contribution
retirement scheme in Hong Kong are recognised as an expense
in profit or loss as incurred. The assets of the scheme are
held separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund.

In accordance with the rules and regulations in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC"), the employees of the Group's
entities established in the PRC are required to participate
in defined contribution retirement plans organised by local
governments. Contributions to these plans are expensed
in profit or loss as incurred and other than these monthly
contributions, the Group has no further obligation for the
payment of retirement benefits to its employees.

No forfeited contributions for the above plans may be used by
the employer to reduce the existing level of contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in
respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave in
the period the related service is rendered at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid in exchange for
that service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of short-term employee
benefits are measured at the undiscounted amount of the
benefits expected to be paid in exchange for the related
service.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income
over the years necessary to match the grant on a systematic
basis to the costs that it is intended to compensate.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continuead)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit before tax as reported
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income because it excludes items of income
or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it
further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary difference to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred
tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of other assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences associated with
such investments and interests are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable
profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable
future.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continuead)

Taxation (Continuea)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where
current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting
for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the
accounting for the business combination.

Non-current asset held for sale

Non-current asset is classified as held for sale if its carrying
amount will be recovered principally through a sale transaction
rather than through continuing use. This condition is regarded
as met only when the sale is highly probable and the asset
is available for immediate sale in its present condition.
Management must be committed to the sale, which should be
expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within
one year from the date of classification. Non-current asset
classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of their
previous carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, if any. The
cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its
purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing
the asset to its working condition and location for its intended
use. Repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss
during the year in which they are incurred.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continuead)
Property, plant and equipment (Continuea)
Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
property, plant and equipment to their residual value, if any,
using the straight line method over their estimated useful lives
or depreciation rates as follows:
Leasehold improvements Unexpired lease term or useful
life of 3 years

Furniture and fixtures 3 years
Office equipment 3years
Motor vehicles 3years
Construction equipment 5 years

The estimated useful lives and depreciation method are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of
any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or 10ss
arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference between
the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and
is recognised in profit or loss in the period in which the asset is
derecognised.

Investment property
Investment property is property held by owner or lessee, to
earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment property is initially measured at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment property is measured at its fair value.
Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment property are included in profit or loss for the period
in which they arise. The fair value of investment property is
based on a valuation by independent qualified professional
valuer who holds a recognised professional qualification and
has recent experience in the location and category of property
being valued.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continuead)

Intangible assets other than goodwill

Intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are stated
at cost less accumulated amortisation (where the estimated
useful life is finite) and impairment losses.

Intangible assets are not amortised while their useful lives
are assessed to be indefinite. Any conclusion that the useful
life of an intangible asset is indefinite is reviewed annually to
determine whether events and circumstances continue to
support the indefinite useful life assessment for that asset. If
not, the change in the useful life assessment from the date
of change is in accordance with the policy for amortisation of
intangible assets with finite lives as set out above.

Impairment of non-financial assets, other than
goodwill

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews internal
and external sources of information to assess whether there
is any indication that its property, plant and equipment,
intangible assets or right-of-use assets may be impaired or
impairment loss previously recognised no longer exists or
may be reduced. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the asset is estimated, based on the higher of its
fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In addition,
the Group tests its intangible assets that have indefinite useful
lives and intangible assets that are not yet available for use
for impairment by estimating their recoverable amount on an
annual basis and whenever there is an indication that those
assets may be impaired. Where it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the smallest group of assets that
generates cash flows independently (i.e. cash-generating unit).
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets, other than
goodwill (Continuead)

If the recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is reduced to its
recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised as
expense in profit or loss immediately.

A reversal of impairment loss is limited to the carrying amount
of the asset or cash-generating unit that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised in prior
years. Reversal of impairment loss is recognised as income in
profit or loss immediately.

Cash and cash equivalents

Bank balances and cash in the consolidated statement of
financial position comprise cash at banks and on hand and
short-term deposits with a maturity of three months or less.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and short-term
deposits, as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument on a trade date basis.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets or financial liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from
the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continuead)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets

Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following
measurement categories:

° those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either
through other comprehensive income, or through profit
or loss); and

. those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business model for
managing the financial assets and the contractual terms of the
cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either
be recorded in profit or loss or other comprehensive income.
For investments in equity instruments that are not held for
trading, this will depend on whether the Group has made
an irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition to
account for the equity investment at fair value through other
comprehensive income.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when
its business model for managing those assets changes.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. The Group derecognises
a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash
flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial
asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers
nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group
continues to recognise the asset to the extent of its continuing
involvement and recognises an associated liability. If the Group
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise
the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised
borrowing for the proceeds received.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continuead)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at
its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair
value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction
costs of financial assets carried at fair value through profit or
loss are expensed in profit or loss.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the
Group's business model for managing the asset and the cash
flow characteristics of the asset. There are three measurement
categories into which the Group classifies its debt instruments:

o Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest are
measured at amortised cost. Interest income from these
financial assets is included in finance income using
the effective interest method. Any gain or loss arising
on derecognition is recognised directly in profit or loss
and presented in other gains/(losses) together with
foreign exchange gains and losses. Impairment losses
are presented as separate line item in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

. Fair value through other comprehensive income: Assets
that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and
for selling the financial assets, where the assets’ cash
flows represent solely payments of principal and interest,
are measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income (“OCI"). Movements in the carrying amount
are taken through OCI, except for the recognition of
impairment gains or losses, interest income and foreign
exchange gains and losses which are recognised in profit
or loss. When the financial asset is derecognised, the
cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in OCI is
reclassified from equity to profit or loss and recognised in
other gains/(losses). Interest income from these financial
assets is included in finance income using the effective
interest method. Foreign exchange gains and losses
are presented in other gains/(losses) and impairment
expenses are presented as separate line item in the
consolidated statement of profit or l0ss.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continuea)

Debt instruments (Continued)

° Fair value through profit or loss: Assets that do not meet
the criteria for amortised cost or fair value through
other comprehensive income are measured at fair value
through profit or loss. A gain or loss on a debt investment
that is subsequently measured at fair value through profit
or loss is recognised in profit or loss and presented net
within other gains/(losses) in the period in which it arises.

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the expected
credit losses (“ECL") associated with its debt instruments
carried at amortised cost and contract assets. The impairment
methodology applied depends on whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk.

Impairment on financial assets measured at amortised cost
other than trade receivables is measured as either 12-month
ECL or lifetime ECL, depending on whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. If a
significant increase in credit risk of a receivable has occurred
since initial recognition, then impairment is measured as
lifetime ECL.

When there is a significant increase in credit risk or the
proceeds receivables are not settled in accordance with the
terms stipulated in the agreements, management considers
these receivables as underperforming or non-performing and
impairment is measured as lifetime ECL.

Measurement of ECL
ECL is a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses (i.e. the
present value of all cash shortfalls) over the expected life of the
financial instrument.

For financial assets, a credit loss is the present value of the
difference between the contractual cash flows that are due to
an entity under the contract and the cash flows that the entity
expects to receive. For a lease receivable, the cash flows used
for determining the ECL should be consistent with the cash
flows used in measuring the lease receivable in accordance
with HKFRS 16.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continuead)

Financial instruments (Continuea)

Impairment (Continued)

Measurement of ECL (Continued)

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of a financial instrument
while 12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events on a financial
instrument that are possible within 12 months after the
reporting date.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis, the financial

instruments are grouped based on the following one or more
shared credit risk characteristics:

i

) past due information

(i) nature of instrument

(i) nature of collateral

(iv)  industry of debtors

(v)  geographical location of debtors

(viy  external credit risk ratings
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment (Continued)

Measurement of ECL (Continued)

Loss allowance is remeasured at each reporting date to reflect
changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk and loss since
initial recognition. The resulting changes in the loss allowance
are recognised as an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss
with a corresponding adjustment to the carrying amount of the
financial instrument, except in the case of debt instruments
measured at fair value through OCI, the loss allowance is
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in the fair value reserve (recycling).

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event
of default for internal credit risk management purposes as
historical experience indicates that the Group may not receive
the outstanding contractual amounts in full if the financial
instrument that meets any of the following criteria.

(i) information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely
to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without
taking into account any collaterals held by the Group); or

(i) there is a breach of financial covenants by the
counterparty.

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging
default criterion is more appropriate.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continuea)

Impairment (Continued)

Assessment of significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available without undue cost or
effort. In particular, the following information is taken into
account in the assessment:

. the debtor’s failure to make payments of principal or
interest on the due dates;

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external or internal credit rating (if
available),

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor; and

° actual or expected changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have or may have a
significant adverse effect on the debtor’s ability to meet
its obligation to the Group.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition when
contractual payments are more than 30 days past due.

Low credit risk
A financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if:

(i) it has a low risk of default;

(i) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term; and

(i) adverse changes in economic and business conditions in
the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the
ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligations.
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Year ended 31 March 2025 #Z _—FE_ZF=H=+—HIFZE
3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continuead)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment (Continued)

Low credit risk (Continued)

As detailed in note 6(b) to the consolidated financial
statements, bank balances and other receivables are
determined to have low credit risk.

Simplified approach of ECL

For trade receivables, operating lease receivables and contract
assets, the Group applies a simplified approach in calculating
ECL. The Group recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime
ECL at each reporting date and has established a provision
matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and
the economic environment.

Credit-impaired financial asset

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired include observable data about
the following events:

(@ significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower.

(b)  abreach of contract, such as a default or past due event.

(c)  the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty,
having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the
lender(s) would not otherwise consider.

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

(e)  the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.

(f)  the purchase or origination of a financial asset at a deep
discount that reflects the incurred credit losses.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continuea)

Impairment (Continued)

Write-off

When management considers that there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery, the financial assets measured at
amortised cost will be written off. The Group has a policy
of writing off the gross carrying amount based on historical
experience of recoveries of similar assets. However, financial
assets that are written off could still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s procedures for recovery of
amounts due, taking into account legal advice if appropriate.
Any subsequent recovery is recognised in profit or 10ss.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are
classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance
with the substance of the contractual arrangements entered
into and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities including trade and other payables and
lease liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
payments (including all fees paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition. Interest expense is
recognised on an effective interest basis.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continuea)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)
Derecognition

The Group derecognised financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or
expire. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is calculated using the first in, first out for
construction materials and weighted average method for fine
and rare wines. Net realisable value represents the estimated
selling price for inventories less all estimated costs of
completion and costs necessary to make the sale.

Related parties
A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group.

(@ A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continuead)

Related parties (Continued)

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

0} The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary
and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

(i) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v}  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group. If the Group is itself
such a plan, the sponsoring employers are also
related to the Group.

(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

(viii)  The entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continuead)

Related parties (Continued)

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced
by, that person in their dealings with the entity and include:

(@)  that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;
(b)  children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and

(c) dependants of that person or that person’s spouse or
domestic partner.

In the definition of a related party, an associate includes
subsidiaries of the associate and a joint venture includes
subsidiaries of the joint venture.

Fair value measurement

When measuring fair value for the purpose of impairment
assessment, the Group takes into account the characteristics
of the asset if market participants would take those
characteristics into account when pricing the asset at the
measurement date.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continuead)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
Specifically, the Group categorises the fair value measurements
into three levels, based on the characteristics of inputs, as
follows:

Level 1T - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is directly or indirectly observable.

Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group determines
whether transfer occur between levels of the fair value
hierarchy for assets and liabilities which are measured at fair
value on recurring basis by reviewing their respective fair value
measurement.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements,
the directors of the Company are required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based
on historical experience and other factors that are considered
to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

Critical judgements in applying the Group's
accounting policies

The following are the critical judgments, apart from those
involving estimation (see below), that the directors of the
Company have made in the process of applying the Group's
accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on
the amounts recognised in consolidated financial statements.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Critical judgements in applying the Group's
accounting policies (Continued)

Classification of leases - as lessor

The Group classifies each of its leases as either a finance
lease or an operating lease at the inception date which
involves the overall assessment of whether the lease transfers
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership
of the underlying asset. As part of the assessment, the Group
considers all the relevant factors including the contractual
terms and the circumstances of the contractual parties to
determine the substance of the transaction.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end
of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Revenue from contract with customers within HKFRS 15

Revenue from fitting out and engineering services and design
and procurement of furnishing services is recognised over
time, which is dependent on estimating the outcome of the
contract, as well as the work done to date. The Group reviews
and revises the estimates of contract revenue and contract
costs, prepared for each construction contract as the contract
progresses. Budgeted costs are prepared by management
on the basis of quotations from time to time provided by
the major subcontractors, suppliers or vendors involved and
the experience of management. In order to keep the budget
accurate and up-to-date, management conducts periodic
reviews on the budgeted costs by comparing the budgeted
amounts to the actual costs incurred.

Significant judgement is required in estimating the contract
revenue and contract costs which may have an impact on
revenue recognised to date. In addition, actual outcomes
in terms of total revenue or costs may be higher or lower
than estimated at the end of the reporting period, which
would affect the revenue recognised in future periods as an
adjustment to the amounts recorded to date.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continuea)
Income tax

As at 31 March 2025, no deferred tax asset has been
recognised on the tax losses and deductible temporary
difference of approximately HK$186,349,000 (2024:
HK$163,553,000) and HK$1,308,000 (2024: HK$1,308,000)
respectively due to the unpredictability of future profit streams.
The realisability of the deferred tax asset mainly depends
on whether sufficient future profits or taxable temporary
differences will be available in the future. In cases where the
actual future profits or taxable temporary differences are less
or more than expected or change in facts and circumstances
which result in revision of future taxable profits estimation,
a material reversal or recognition of deferred tax assets may
arise, which would be recognised in profit or loss for the period
in which such a reversal or recognition takes place.

Allowance for ECLs on loan and interest receivables,
trade and other receivables and contract assets

The Group calculates ECLs for loan and interest receivables,
trade and other receivables and contract assets based on
the Group's historical default rates taking into consideration
forward-looking information that is reasonable and supportable
available without undue costs or effort. At each reporting
date, the historical observed default rates are reassessed and
changes in the forward-looking information are considered.
In addition, loan and interest receivables, trade and other
receivables and contract assets with significant balances and
credit-impaired are assessed for ECLs individually.

The allowance for ECLS is sensitive to changes in
circumstances and forecast general economic conditions.
The information about the ECLs and the Group’s loan and
interest receivables, trade and other receivables and contract
assets are disclosed in note 6(b) to the consolidated financial
statements. If the financial condition of the customers or the
forecast economic conditions were to deteriorate, the actual
loss allowance would be higher than estimated.

4.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continuea)
Estimated useful lives and impairment of property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets

The Group's management determines the estimated useful
lives, and related depreciation charges for its property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use assets. The estimates are
based on the historical experience of the actual useful lives
of those assets of similar nature and functions. Management
will increase the depreciation where useful lives are less
than previously estimated lives. It will write off or write down
technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been
abandoned or sold. Actual economic lives may differ from
estimated useful lives. Periodic review could result in a change
in depreciable lives and therefore affect the depreciation
charges in future periods.

In determining whether an asset is impaired or the event
previously causing the impairment no longer exists,
management has to assess whether an event has occurred
that may affect the asset value or such event affecting the
asset value has not been in existence. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amounts of the asset would be
determined based on the higher of the value in use and
fair value less costs of disposal, which involve significant
judgements and estimates.

4.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continuea)
Impairment of intangible assets

The Group evaluates whether intangible assets have
suffered any impairment based on impairment assessment
performed at least annually and whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the
intangible assets may not be recoverable, in accordance with
the stated accounting policy. The recoverable amounts of the
intangible assets have been determined based on the higher
of the fair value less cost of disposal and value in use. These
calculations require the use of estimates and judgements.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategies
remain unchanged from prior year.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on
a continuous basis taking into account the cost of capital and
the risk associated with the capital. Based on the directors’
recommendation, the Group will balance its overall capital
structure through payment of dividend, issuance of new shares
as well as the raising of new debts or the repayment of existing
debts.

A group entity is regulated by the Securities and Futures
Commission (the “SFC") in Hong Kong and is required to comply
with the financial resources requirements according to the
Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) Rules (the “SF(FR)
R"). Management closely monitors, on a daily basis, the liquid
capital level of the regulated entity to ensure compliance with
the minimum liquid capital requirements under the SF(FR)R. The
regulated entity has complied with the capital requirements
imposed by the SF(FR)R throughout the years ended 31 March
2024 and 2025.
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Year ended 31 March 2025 #Z _—FE_ZF=H=+—HIFZ
6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

6(a) Categories of financial instruments

6(b)

6. EMTH

6(a) ERT AL

2025 2024
—E_RE —ZTE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Financial assets at amortised cost Z#HEMATIRZESREE
Loan and interest receivables EWE R T 2 2,761 2,142
Financial assets included in STAB G REMEWEIEY
trade and other receivables SREE 36,361 22,346
Cash and bank balances R& MIRTTAARR 43,249 45,690
82,371 70,178
Financial liabilities at RBEM AR EREE
amortised cost
Financial liabilities included in STAB S REMBEMNRIES
trade and other payables ERBE 47,191 9,068
Lease liabilities HEas - 1,902
47,191 10,970

Financial risk management objectives and

policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include loan
and interest receivables, trade and other receivables,
cash and bank balances, trade and other payables,
and lease liabilities. Details of the financial instruments
are disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated
with these financial instruments include market risks
(currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks
are set out below. Management manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

6(b) M EEEBFRREE
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6. EMIH®
6(b) Financial risk management objectives and 6(b) AEEAMEEAEREBE &

policies (Continuea)

Market risk

Currency risk

The Group has certain portion of cash and bank
balances, trade and other receivables and trade and
other payables denominated in currencies other than
the functional currency of the entity to which they relate.
The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy. However, management monitors foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant
foreign currency exposure should the need arise.
Management reviews its foreign currency exposures
regularly and considers there is no significant exposure
on its foreign currency risk.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in
relation to bank balances with variable interest rate. The
Group has no significant exposure to interest rate risk.

Credit risk

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to bank
balances, loan and interest receivables, trade and other
receivables and contract assets. Management has a
credit policy in place and the exposures to these credit
risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6. EMIH®
6(b) Financial risk management objectives and 6(b) BAEEAMEEAEREBE &

policies (Continuea)

Credit risk (Continuea)

As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s maximum exposure
to credit risk represents the carrying amount of the
respective recognised financial assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

In order to minimise credit risk, management of
the Group has delegated an officer responsible for
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action
is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group
reviews the recoverability of each individual trade debt at
the end of the reporting period to ensure that adequate
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts.
In this regard, the directors of the Company consider that
the Group's credit risk is significantly reduced.

Bank balances

The credit risk on bank balances is limited because
the counterparties are banks with high credit ratings
assigned by authorised credit-rating agencies.

Other receivables

The Group considers that other receivables have low
credit risk based on the counterparties’ strong capacity
to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the
near term and low risk of default. Impairment on other
receivables is measured on 12-month ECL and reflects
the short maturities of the exposures.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6. EMTHR ®
6(b) Financial risk management objectives and 6(b) AEEAMEEAEREBE &

policies (Continuea)

Credit risk (Continuea)

Other receivables (Continued)

In estimating the ECL, the Group has taken into account
the historical actual credit loss experience over the
past 3 years (2024: 3 years) and the financial position of
the counterparties by reference to, among others, their
management or audited accounts and available press
information, adjusted for forward-looking factors that are
specific to the debtors and general economic conditions
of the industry in which the counterparties operate, in
estimating the probability of default of these financial
assets, as well as the loss upon default in each case.

There was no change in the estimation techniques or
significant assumptions made during the year.

Trade receivables and contract assets

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide for
lifetime ECL on trade receivables and contract assets.
To measure the ECL, trade receivables and contract
assets have been grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics. The Group has considered historical and
available forwarding-looking information in estimating
ECL.

Trade receivables

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
parties. It is the Group's policy that all customers who
wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit
verification procedures. The Group normally allows
average credit period ranging from 30 to 60 days
(2024: 30 to 60 days) to its trade customers. The Group
seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by
management.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6. EMIH®
6(b) Financial risk management objectives and 6(b) BAEEAMEEAEREBE &
policies (Continuea)
Credit risk (Continuea) =88Rk &)
Trade receivables (Continueq) B S fEnE (&
As at 31 March 2025, the Group recognised loss KNZE_RAE=ZR=+—H'=&
allowance of approximately HK$7,033,000 (2024: EENESRNAREEDEIBR
HK$6,643,000) on the trade receivables. The information 497,033,000/ (ZE ZUF .
about the exposure to credit risk and ECL for trade 6,643,000787T) < BRI E 5 EWFIE
receivables using a provision matrix is summarised ZEERBNTEHREERIBERE
below: BN E R T
Gross
Expected carrying Loss Credit-
loss rate amount allowance impaired
TS EE REAE BIERE EERE
% HK$'000 HK$'000
BALE FTHET TET
At 31 March 2025 RIEZHE
=ZA=+—-H
Non credit-impaired BEERE
Not past due PAE 2 15,429 (351) No &
Within 90 days past due HH0H R 4 308 (12) No
9110 180 days past due HHI1E180R 4 1,346 (54) No
18110 270 days past due #HA1812E270H 4 412 (16) No #
271 10 365 days past due AmAA27123658 4 8,978 (357) No
Over 365 days past due HEA365A L £ 4 489 (19) No &
26,962 (809)
Credit-impaired FERE
Over 365 days past due AmEA3sE L £ 62 10,022 (6,224) Yes &

36,984 (7,033)
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6.

6(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continuea)

£MTH®
6(b) BAEEMEEREREE @)

Credit risk (Continuea) EERK &)
Trade receivables (Continuea) ESEKFTE (&
Gross
Expected carrying L0sS Credit-
loss rate amount allowance impaired
FEHBEX IRERE BiEkE FERE
% HK$'000 HK$'000
BLE FTEr TER
At 31 March 2024 RZEZMmE
=A=+-H
Non credit-impaired BEERE
Not past due Pt 10 17,575 (176) No &
9110 180 days past due HER1ZE180R 18 1,105 (20) No &
18110 270 days past due #E18122700 28 667 (19) No &
271 t0 365 days past due HE2712365H 300 775 (233) No £
Over 365 days past due AR5 A £ 53.6 3,485 (1,868) No %
23,607 (2,316)
Credit-impaired =ERE
QOver 365 days past due EHA365H M E 100.0 4327 (4,327) Yes B
27,934 (6,643)

The Group does not hold any collateral over these
balances.

FERWERZFERTEEAE
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6. EMIH®
6(b) Financial risk management objectives and 6(b) BAEEAMEEAEREBE &

policies (Continuea)

Credit risk (Continuea)

Trade recelvables (Continued)

The movements in the loss allowance for trade
receivables are set out below:

EERE (&)
E SRR ()
%%ﬁ?ﬂ%’ﬂﬁl&ﬂa%ﬁﬁZ@@]ﬁﬂT :

2025 2024

ZEZRE —ZTNF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

At 1 April KA —H 6,643 6,484
Allowance for ECL for the year FERNEREEREEG 390 332
Write-off B/ 6oz - (173)
At 31 March R=B=+—H 7,033 6,643

Included in the loss allowance of trade receivables
are individually impaired trade receivables with an
aggregate balance of approximately HK$2,547,000 (2024:
HK$650,000) and HK$3,677,000 (2024: HK$3,677,000)
which had been long outstanding and under liquidation
respectively. The individually impaired trade receivables
are recognised based on the credit history of its
customers, such as financial difficulties or default in
payments, and current market conditions.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group has concentration of
credit risk as approximately 29% (2024: 43%) and 87%
(2024: 85%) of the total trade receivables was due
from the Group's largest customer and the five largest
customers respectively.

BoERRIEREEET DR EE
BASEREFGEERNERNE
BEEZ RIS BRED R ALY
2,547,000 7t (ZZ ZPU4F @ 650,000
Bt) X3,677,0008 7T (ZE Y4 ©
3,677,000 70) k@R ERES
SERFEEERETEANEER
B GIAN A B RIR AT RELN > RIR
THIBE R -

K_E_RAFE=A=+—H BIE
SEWRIE4BEE 2 £929% (ZZF /Y
1 43%) K287% (ZZ 94 : 85%)
DREBEREBRZRATANRE
AARP WALEEREERRE
B
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6. EMIH®
6(b) Financial risk management objectives and 6(b) AEEAMEEAEREBE &
policies (Continuea)
Credit risk (Continuea) =88Rk &)
contract assets A E E
As at 31 March 2025, the Group recognised loss KRIE-AF=B=+—H &5%H
allowance of HK$269,000 (2024: HK$66,000) on the TLAS R IE SR ES 1B 269,000 7T (=
balances. The information about the exposure to credit T JU4E 1 66,000/ 7T) c BREEAHE
risk and ECL for contract assets using a provision matrix EZEERBMERESEHEER
is summarised below: BB E R
Gross
Expected carrying Loss Credit-
loss rate amount allowance impaired
TR EER RELE BiERE EERE
% HK$'000 HKS$'000
Bt FTEr TER
At 31 March 2025 RIZZHE
=A=+—-H
Not past due Pt 2.1 12,825 (269) No &
At 31 March 2024 RZZEZE
=A=+—-H

Not past due Pk 10 6,583 (66) No £
The movements in the loss allowance for contract assets BHEESBERBZEFUWT .

are set out below:

2025 2024

—EB-RE —ZuE

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FAET

At 1 April rEA—H 66 21
Allowance for ECL for the year FATEIREESERSE 203 45

At 31 March R=BA=+—H 269 66
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6. EMTHR ®
6(b) Financial risk management objectives and 6(b) BAEEAMEEAEREBE &

policies (Continuea)

Credit risk (Continued)

Loan and interest receivables

Regular reviews on these loans are conducted by
management based on the historical information about
counterparties default rates, latest status of these loans
and the latest available information about the borrowers.

In estimating the ECL and in determining whether
there is a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition and whether the financial asset is credit-
impaired, the Group has taken into account the historical
actual credit loss experience of the borrowers and the
financial position of the counterparties by reference
to, among others, the background search for individual
borrowers, their assets proof and available press
information, adjusted for forward-looking factors that are
specific to the debtors and general economic conditions
of the industry in which the counterparties operate, in
estimating the probability of default of these financial
assets, as well as the loss upon default in each case.

There was no change in the estimation techniques or
significant assumptions made during the year.

As at 31 March 2025, the loan receivables have been
past due and the Group has been negotiating with the
borrowers about the settlement plan. The management,
after considered credit rating analysis and economic
outlook provided by independent qualified professional
valuer, is in the view that the probability of default of
these loan receivables increased. As such, additional
provision on ECL was made for the year.

FERR (&)
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6.
6(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)
Loan and interest receivables (Continuead)
As at 31 March 2025, the Group recognised l0ss
allowance of approximately HK$819,000 (2024
HK$1,168,000) on the balances. The information about
the exposure to credit risk and ECL for loan and interest
receivables is summarised below:

£MTH®
6(b) HMEEMEIEEEREE (@

S8Rk &)

JEWSEF R F 8 (4
KRZEBE_REZR=+—H &&
[t 45 B e 50 5 R 138 #8498 19,0008
7o (ZEZPU4E :1,168,00087T) B
HEREZNIBZEERBKTE
HEEBENER BN T -

Gross
Expected carrying Loss
Basis of ECL loss rate amount allowance
RHEE
BREE RS ER IREAE EiakE
% HK$'000 HK$'000
B AT FET
At 31 March 2025 RZBZRLE
=A=+-H
Past due HHA lifetime 22.9 3,580 (819)
21
At 31 March 2024 RZEZMmE
=R=+-H
Past due A lifetime 35.29 3310 (1,168)
2

The movements in the loss allowance for loan and
interest receivables are set out below:

RRERNF EBIRRE 2 ZEH0
T

2025 2024

“ETHEF —EUE

HK$'000 HK$'000

FAT FET

At 1 April REA—H 1,168 1,540
Allowance for ECL for the year, net FRTEREEBERE  F38 (349) (174)
Waiver e - (198)
At 31 March R=B=+—H 819 1,168
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6.
6(b) Financial risk management objectives and

£MTH®
6(b) HERAMEERERKE &

policies (Continuea)

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by management to
finance the Group's operations and mitigate the effects
of fluctuations in cash flows. Management monitors the
utilisation of source of funding and considers the risk is
minimal.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities based on the agreed repayment terms. The
table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted
cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest
date on which the Group can be required to pay.

The table includes both interest and principal cash flows.
To the extent that interest cash flows are at floating rate,
the undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate

mEE TR

EERHETRARE AERBEENK
HISEEEBIRARUNEBNAEEE
BRRABRERENNTEZRE
RREEEYKE - BEEBERES
RRZEBBIER LR REARER-

TRFFIRIBEHRZERET &
SEFETESMBER T ZENE
BB ZRTVRIBAERBNLRZ
REOBERcHEBEZRMIARE
mEmmE-

DZ%Z@;%?F'J% &Ztgﬁfﬁéx)w% °© ﬁ’f%
REBF MABRERERFEH
0 B R AL IR SRR T AR R SR gh AR 5T

curve at the end of each reporting period. Ho
More than More than More than
3 months one year two years
but not but not but not Total
Within exceeding exceeding exceeding  undiscounted Carrying
On demand 3 months 12 months two years five years cash flows amount
Ba=fan
BFRER itk Gl BBZE  @HRER
BREX =fARnk +Zf8F GBFBE_FE BFERILE Rene RESHE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
TR TEr TER TER TEn TER TEn
At 31 March 2025 RZZZEE=A=+-AH
Trade and other payables EAREMENTE 4719 - - - - 47191 47,191
At 31 March 2024 RIZZMFE=A=+-H
Trade and other payables EAREMENTE 9,068 = = = = 9,068 9,068
Lease liabilities HEaE - 1997 - - - 1997 1,902
9,068 1,997 - - - 11,065 10,970
The directors of the Company consider that the carrying KNBEEDRE S MiERED

amounts of current financial assets and current financial
liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated
financial statements approximate their fair values due to
their immediate or short-term maturities.

REHENATRZRBEHMEER
nEE e ERREE AR E
B HREERE AT ERE
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7. REVENUE 7.
An analysis of the Group's revenue for the year is as follows:

W mm
AEBERREZ AT :

2025 2024
ZE-HEF ZETOE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAET
Design, fitting out and engineering BEt R ER TRRIRFEIA
services income 155,634 71,972
Rental income from leasing of HERERBHESWA
construction equipment 8,639 12,966
Sales of fine and rare wines ERIHE = 2,214
Interest income from money lending HUEF] B U A 270 451
164,543 87,603
Revenue from contracts with ERMBHREENFEISHIETERS
customers within HKFRS 15: SHURE
Revenue recognised at a point in time — JRE—FFRTELHESR 2 75
— Sales of fine and rare wines —EEHE = 2,214
Revenue recognised over time R —EBFRIAER 2 W
- Design, fitting out and engineering —RE N EERTRERBEHRA
services income 155,634 71,972
155,634 74,186
Revenue from other sources: HihsRURE ©
- Rental income from leasing of —HEREREZEREWA
construction equipment 8,639 12,966
- Interest income from money lending —ZBEH S EtE
calculated using effective interest HAEF) B U A
method 270 451
164,543 87,603

The revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15 is
based on fixed price.

The Group has applied practical expedient in paragraph 121
of HKFRS 15 to exempt the disclosure of revenue expected
to be recognised in the future arising from contracts with
customers in existence at the reporting date to its fitting out
and engineering services income and sale of fine and rare
wines as the performance obligation is part of a contract that
has an original expected duration of one year or less.

EBUBREENE1SRNRBTREN
B R E E BT E o

FEFECRAEBMHREEDNSISRKE
I2NBRPERNEE S UBRRRER
HRBERBETEBRGHAN D (RK
RS AMRA—FHUT) MEREF
REESIR B AR TFEF I LGHNEER
TRERB WA R B & It o
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the executive directors, being the
chief operating decision maker, for the purposes of resource
allocation and assessment of segment performance focuses on
types of goods or services delivered or provided. The directors
of the Company have chosen to organise the Group around
differences in services.

8.

Specifically, the Group's reportable and operating segments are
as follows:

@

(o)

@

Provision of design, fitting out, engineering and
procurement of furnishings and related products services
("Design, fitting out and engineering services”);

Leasing of construction equipment and provision of
related installation services (“Leasing of construction
equipment”);

Sourcing and merchandising of fine and rare wines
(“Wines merchandising”); and

Financial services business comprising securities
advisory services, securities dealing and brokerage
services and asset management services and money
lending (“Financial services business”).

DEPE

ARTES DEZBLEREE WU
AERERRTEDBRRZERERRE
TENR M ERABHEE A ATDE
EERBBEEREMAER-

BREMS AEEAZ2REESHNT

MR B TRARBRER
MERERRTE (R EERITRER
%),

@
ko)

b HERRIKFEREHBBRZERS
(MAERERED ;

© FEXBREH (MEHEE); &

@ TMRTBEHEEMRESFREHE
RO BEXGRERCRYE EEEE
BRFE R (TZRARF R ) -
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8.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continuea)

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and
allocating resources among segments, the Company'’s
executive directors monitor the results, assets and liabilities
attributable to each reportable segment on the following bases:

Segments assets include all assets except for corporate assets
which are managed on a group basis. All liabilities are allocated
to reportable segment liabilities other than unallocated head
office and corporate liabilities which are managed on a group
basis and certain other payables and accrued charges.

Revenues and expenses are allocated to the operating
segments with reference to sales generated by those segments
and the expenses incurred by those segments or which
otherwise arise from the depreciation of assets attributable
to those segments. The measure used for reporting segment
results is profit/loss before taxation without allocation of other
unallocated corporate expenses and income.

For the purpose of assessing the performance of the operating
segments and allocation of resources among segments, the
Group's results are further adjusted for items not specifically
attributed to individual segments and other head office and
corporate administrative costs.

DEHER @

MG D BRERHBEEBARMS
AADNTEERU TEREZSTT2R
SEEEEE EEREE:

BUEREERERZABTEESN O
EEQEMEEE -HUEEEERER
ZRDEBMEER AT ERUARETH
i RIBRESTERIN FREBEIER
DEEERRENBER-

WHERAXE2EZSIBELEZHER
ZENMELEZARAZE N BEGEE
MEELZHASBIEELEDE RS
DEEEFIFAERERDEAMKD
AR RRAZIBR T ZFiRan @
il -k

LR ENBERBREDBZEDEE
RME > RNEEFE I IFEE B HE 5
DEBZIEE R EMARMF R U ATITH
PRAE—FFHRE -
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8.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 8.
Segment revenue and results

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results

by reportable and operating segments:

DEBEH )

7 R W B R AR
FEEBSBREEIBED N RE
EAHWT :

For the year ended 31 March 2025

BE_ZE_AF=-A=+—HLEE

Design,
fitting out and Leasing of Financial
engineering  construction Wines services
services  equipment merchandising business Total
FEER HE ]
TRRE BERE e TR %% st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TR TR
Segment revenue AElE 155,634 8,639 - 270 164,543
Segment operating loss PHEESR (168) (8,934) (44) (4,992) (14,138)
Impairment of intangible assets BREERR - - = (50) (50)
Segment loss PBER (168) (8,934) (44) (5,042) (14,188)
Unallocated: RO
Other income HitlA 19
Other gains, net Hitla » $8 152
Corporate administrative expenses ARTHER (7,635)
Finance costs REME (48)
Loss before tax ST (21,700)
For the year ended 31 March 2024 BE_ZT_NEZRBR=+—HILEE
Design,
fitting out and Leasing of Financial
engneering  construction Wines Services
services equipment  merchandising business Total
Rt EER HE ]
TRERS BELA BHEE ¥R st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TR TR TR TR
Segment revenue AEE 71972 12,966 2,214 451 87,603
Segment operating (l0ss) profit PEEE (BB &7 (6,386) 3,746 551 (276) (2,365)
Impairment of intangible assets BV EERE - - S ) (779
Segment (loss) profit P (B8) B (6,386) 3,746 551 (1,055) (3,144)
Unallocated: RAE
Other income =l O 952
Other gains, net Hitzm 38 27)
Corporate administrative expenses AFMTBRR (8571)
Change in fair value of investment property RENELTEED 500
Finance costs RERE (134)
Loss before tax BiRBIEE (10,424)
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continuea) 8. EER @
Segment assets and liabilities NHEERAR
The following is an analysis of the Group's assets and liabilities RERREREKEDHE D2 EERE
by reportable and operating segments: BERHUT
As at 31 March 2025 WZEZRF=A=+—H
Design,
fitting out and Leasing of Financial
engineering  construction Wines services
services  equipment merchandising business Total
FEER HE ]
TRRE BERE e TR %% st

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tén Tén T#n T#n T#n

Segment assets PIEE
Non-current assets FREEE

Property, plant and equipment EN e 4 3,696 - - 3,700

Intangible assets BVEE - - - 1,670 1,670

4 3,696 - 1,670 5,370

Current assets TEEE 42971 8,972 5,259 3,013 60,215
Segment assets PREE 42,975 12,668 5,259 4,683 65,585
Unallocated: KR
Cash and bank balances ReRBTER 43,249
Others it 2915
Total assets per consolidated statement of GENBRIREELR

financial position 111,749
Segment liabilities AEE
Non-current liability FErBaf

Deferred tax liabilities EEREEE - - - 276 276
Current liabilties TBaRE 15,279 3,154 - 25 18,458
Segment liabllities PHEER 15,279 3,154 - 301 18,734
Unallocated: RAE:
Others Hft 33,833
Total liabilities per consolidated statement of SEMERRRERAE

financial position 52,567
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continuea) 8. EER @
Segment assets and liabilities (continued) PHEEREGE @
As at 31 March 2024 A _E_NE=ZBR=+—H
Design, fitting
out and Leasing of Financial
engneering  construction Wines services
services equipment  merchandising business Total
FEEER
TiRRE HERERA BHEE  LRREER fast
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TET TR TR TR
Segment assets AHEE
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment VERN FEL 5 7,702 - = 7,707
Intangible assets BN EE - - - 1720 1720
5 7,702 - 1720 9,427
Current assets nEHEE 17,840 11,597 259 2,242 31,938
Segment assets NYEE 17,845 19,299 259 3962 41,365
Unallocated: AN
Cash and bank balances RERRTER 45,690
Others Hit 3,657
Total assets per consolidated statement of SEMBRRREELR
financial position 90,712
Segment liabilities paE=t
Non-current liabilities FREEE
Deferred tax liabilities BIERESE - - - 24 284
Lease liabilities HEaR S = - - -
Other borrowing Hifgg - - - - -
- - - 24 24
Current liabilties TBaRE 6,490 522 - 77 7,089
Segment liabilities PHERE 6,490 522 - 31 7373
Unallocated: KR
Others Hit 9,838
Total liabilities per consolidated statement of CARVBRRRAEEE
financial position 171
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 8.
Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)
For the purpose of monitoring segment performance and
allocating resources among segments:

all assets are allocated to reportable segments other
than certain property, plant and equipment, certain right-
of-use assets, non-current asset held for sale, certain
prepayments, deposits and other receivables and cash
and bank balances as these assets are managed on a
group basis.

all liabilities are allocated to reportable segments other
than certain accrued expenses and other payables,
certain lease liabilities, certain income tax payable and
certain deferred tax liabilities as these liabilities are
managed on a group basis.

Other segment information
For the year ended 31 March 2025

DEER @)
PHEERER @
RERDBRRRHESDBERMES :

PRUEEEREREE NETY
X RBARB - ETEAREE
RAFENFERBEE S TRNM
B 2 E R HMEWRIE R IR £ KR
THEERIN R BEU R DR ER A
E2/DER -

PRUEEERERE 86 METE
TRAXREMENRE - ETHES
B ETEARSRKETELERE
BRI FREEEERDEERATZ
HOER

HithpEpE R
BE_E_AF=-HA=+—HLEE

Design,
fitting out and Leasing of Financial
engineering  construction Wines services
services equipment  merchandising business  Unallocated Total
R BEER
TifkE HEEERE EHEE  SRREBEH KRR s
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEw F#ET TF#ET THET Thw FEw
Impairment of intangible assets, BV EERE (RER)
net of reversal - - - 50 160 210
Allowance for ECL on trade and B 5 REMEWERS
other receivables FEBERE 855 (465) - - - 390
Reversal of allowance for ECLon loanand B ER Ko S LR (E B ARl
interest receivables - - - (349) - (349)
Allowance for ECL on ANBERBREESREE
contract assets 203 - - - - 203
Depreciation of property, EN B R i
plant and equipment 5 5115 - - 2 5122
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE - - - - 1,809 1,809
Compensation gain on disposal/write-off of B E /FHERER EREN
construction equipment - (1,489) - - - (1,489)
Additions to property, plant and equipment  EEE¥E SR RRE - 1,130 - - - 1,130
Bank interest income SRITRIBIBA = = = = (17) (17)
Finance costs HENA - - - - 48 48
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 8.
Other segment information (Continued)

8.

For the year ended 31 March 2024

DEER &
Hth D EREH
BE-T-MEZA=+—HIFE

Design,
fitting out and Leasing of Financial
engineering construction Wines services
services equipment  merchandising husiness Unallocated Total
R EER
TRERE HEERERE BHEE  SRREER AR a5t
HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
TR TR TER TER TR TER
Impairment of intangible assets, BV EERE (R
net of reversal - - - m (140) 639
Allowance for ECL on trade and B REMENERS
other receivables FEFRAE (169) 529 (28) = = 3
Reversal of allowance for ECLon loanand  FEMERh Ko F| S FEER(E &S Bl
interest receivables - - - (174) - (174)
Allowance for ECL on ANBERBEEERER
contract assets 45 - - - - 45
Change in fair value of REMEATEED
an investment property - - - - (500) (500)
Depreciation of property, ME BBREENE
plant and equipment 12 6,381 - - 4 6,397
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRESENE - 2281 - - 1,808 4,095
Compensation gain on disposal/write-off of R E /H R ERGHEN S
construction equipment - (2,779) - - - @.779)
Additions to property, plant and equipment BB BB RRE - 3% - - 6 404
Bank interest income BITRBBA = S = = (27) (27)
Finance costs HERA 490 110 - - 134 734
Gain on disposal of right-of-use assets upon - RRIA LSHEFBREE 2 W
early termination = (253) - - - (253)
Geographical information & &

The Group's operations are principally located in Hong Kong

and Macau.

The Group's revenue from external customers is presented
based on the location of customers. The geographical location
of non-current assets is based on the physical location of the
assets, in the case of property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets, and the location of the operation, in the case
of goodwill and intangible assets. The analysis of the Group’s
revenue from external customers and non-current assets by
geographical location is as follows:

FEBRETENERBRAPIEE

FEERBINBERZWABERET R
BET - IFRBIBEEMYE B RRE
EREEEMSNMEBEUERNEENE
RUE MtEERETVEEMS IER
MEMEL - REEEHIEMUE D ERRE
SNERERBIWMAMIERBEEDFUT ¢

Revenue from

external customers

Non-current assets

REIMEERZIA ERBEE
2025 2024 2025 2024
—EZREF “ETWE ZEZERE ZE2ETNEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FAET FAET
Hong Kong &8 87,330 46,006 5,953 11,981
Macau BRFT 77,213 41,597 - -
164,543 87,603 5,953 11,981
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continuea)
Geographical information (Continued)
The revenue information above is based on the locations of the
customers.

The non-current asset information above is based on the
locations of the assets and excludes financial instruments and
deferred tax assets.

Information about major customers
Revenue from customers contributing 10% or more of the total
revenue of the Group is as follows:

DEER @
St B} (42
A BRI RE R AR B o

LHIFRBEEEN DR EEMREME
o FEEERTIARREREEE -

BEERZEH
EMAEFBWFEI10%T A EHNE 5 U
LI

2025 2024

—E_hHE ZENE

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

customer A EHAA N/A &2 25,297"
Customer B EFAB 77,2131 29,352
Customer C ®AC N/A &2 12,245
Customer D 1)) 61,222" N/A 58 A2

U Revenue from Design, fitting out and engineering services
2 The corresponding revenue did not contribute 10% or more of the
total revenue of the Group

! RERE B ERTRRBENRE
ZAB R U i 3 R B R A< S B 4B W 2t 2 10%8EK
Mk

~
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9. OTHER INCOME 9. Hftnlx A
2025 2024
“ETHEF —EUF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
b5 FAERT FET
Bank interest income IRITHR B UA 17 27
Rental income B WA %) - 838
Sundry income HEIBUWLA 58 37
75 952
9(a) Rental income 9(a) FHEWA
An analysis of the Group’s net rental income from AEBREKLEYEZASIRAT
investment property is as follows: BOmUT
2025 2024
“ETHEF —EE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FAET
Gross rental income from KEREYEZ S IRALREE
investment property - 888
Less: Direct operating expenses & | EEEES H GTATTERS)
(included in administrative
expenses) - (206)

682
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10. OTHER GAINS, NET 10. Hfthrzs > 7R 58
2025 2024
“ETHEF —ETuE
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B FAET FHExT
Gain on disposal of right-of-use AR LR HEFERRE
assets upon early termination BEZWE - 253
Compensation gain on disposal/ BREMIHEERE
write-off of construction equipment & U 1,489 2,779
(Gain)/loss on liquidation of a B ABEE
subsidiary (W) E598 152 43)
Others Hih - (152
1,641 2,837
11. FINANCE COSTS 11. BB
2025 2024
—T-RE —ZETMFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Interests on: UTFREBEZFE
— lease liabilities —HEAaE 48 244
- unsecured other borrowing —EIKIRHEMEER - 490
438 734
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12. INCOME TAX CREDIT 12. FRISTRIER

2025 2024
ZE-HEF ZETOE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FHExT

Current tax BNEATRIA
Hong Kong Profits Tax HHEFER (13) =
Macau Complementary Income Tax BPIFTEERR = (20
(13) (20)
Deferred tax IEIERRIE 35 654
Income tax credit for the year FEFRBRIER 22 634
(@) Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime in Hong @ IREBESENERZMAF aBEKE

Kong, the first HK$2,000,000 of profits of a qualifying
group entity are taxed at 8.25% and profits above
HK$2,000,000 are taxed at 16.5%. The profits of other
group entities in Hong Kong not qualifying for the two-
tiered profits tax rates regime continue to be taxed at a
flat rate of 16.5%.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the British Virgin
Islands (the “BVI"), the Group is not subject to any income
tax in the BVI.

Macau Complementary Income Tax is calculated at the
progressive rate on the estimated assessable profits. The
tax rate is 12% for the year.

[ E #252,000,0005 7T 2 #HF) %10
FR.25%=R 7 M8 iE2,000,0007 7T
2R IRIRE16.5% R0 c AR A
BREMSEF ZEMEEEESE
2N 4 B PR 4 — R F16.5% R 1R

REBERBREUES (TREREUEH
51) BORAIFER > AE R BARM
REBRUBFESHNEIMPAER

RPIF SRR MRB A ERN &
MRRERXABE - FFEREXS
12%
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12. INCOME TAX CREDIT (continued) 12. FRIEMRIER @
The income tax credit for the year can be reconciled to the loss RNEEMEREBERAGEEAKREMEE
before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and W RFTRBRRATEIEZ HERMOT
other comprehensive income as follows:
2025 2024
—E"hRE ZE U
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FAET
Loss before tax PRI RTRS R (21,700) (10,424)

Tax expense at rates applicable to profits 2 fHRA T E & EF BERMRFtE 2

in the jurisdiction concerned MIBREZ (3,582) (1,753)
Tax effect of income not taxable RRWAZRIEEE

for tax purpose (273) (802)
Tax effect of expenses not RENMIBERZ 2 BT E

deductible for tax purpose 54 51
Tax effect of temporary differences AEREFEREIMBTE

not recognised = (647)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised  RFEBIRIBEIBZ IRFE L 3,779 2,837
Utilisation of tax losses not recognised — RIEERIRIERSIE 2 FE A = (320)
Income tax credit for the year FEMEBMRIER (22) (634)
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13. LOSS BEFORE TAX 13. R¥RRAIESIE
The Group's loss before tax has been arrived at after charging NEEFRRATBEELNEG G A) TaE
(crediting): 15 .
2025 2024
S - —EZNE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FET
Salaries and wages included in HERIE
cost of sales Gt AHE R ZA) 742 821
Salaries and wages included in FrERIE
administrative expenses: GTATTERES :
Directors’ emoluments EEWE 2,730 2,191
Salaries, wages and other benefits e TEREMER
(excluding directors’ emoluments) FrEREEl®) 4,203 4,303
Contribution to defined contribution FE MG R
plans* (excluding directors’ FEEESHD)
emoluments) 129 190
7,804 7,505
Cost of inventories sold FEHERE 15,988 9,866
Depreciation of property, plant M B RREITE
and equipment 5,122 6,397
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEITE 1,809 4,095
Auditor's remuneration ZE M = 650 650
Compensation gain on disposal/ BE MiEEER
write-off of construction fE R
equipment (1,489) (2,779
Gain on disposal of right-of-use assets  IRRIAR IERFHEFEREEE
upon early termination & - (253)
(Gain)/loss on dissolution of subsidiaries BB A S (W) &8 (152) 43
Written-off of other receivables HiEE E A FE UL IE = 135
Lease payment under short-term MEGHMEE e
leases on premises 3,190 301
5 There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by the Group e W EZ U AT A ER (ERETE) A

as the employer to reduce the existing level of contributions. BURDIRB HERKFE o
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4. INFORMATION ABOUT THE BENEFITS OF
DIRECTORS
14(a)Directors’ emoluments
The aggregate amounts of emoluments paid and payable
to the directors of the Company by the Group during the
year are as follows:

14. BRAEFEANER

14(@Q)EEME
KREBRAEEELZ [ REN TR
NEEENMEABEENT -

Year ended 31 March 2025
BE_Z-RFE=-RA=1+—HLEE

Contributions
Salaries to defined
and other contribution
Fees benefits plans Total
e ERRHT
&R HithigF| SHEIfER Foh
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THET FTET TET
Executive Directors: ﬂﬁ§$
Ms. Miao Xianliu (note (i) 2 M Z+ (s ) - 1,675 9 1,684
Mr. Law Hok Yu (note (i) BRELE () - 235 1 246
Ms. Ma Man Chi (note (i) %@ﬁ#i (B (i) - 84 4 88
Ms. Chen Qiuling (note (iv)) BRI+ (M) = 77 4 81
Mr. Yau Yan Yuen (note (v)) ERRIR S (EEV) - 33 2 35
Mr. Wang Jun (note (vi)) TEEE (izEV) - 180 9 189
Independent non-executive BIFRTES:
Directors:
Ms. Tsang Hau Wai BILELT 120 - - 120
Mr. Li Ka Chun Gordon FREBEE 120 - - 120
Ms. Chan Wai Yan (note (vii) BERLL (i) 148 - - 148
Mr. Wu Zhao (note (viii) SIk5EE (ki) 17 - - 17
Total st 405 2,284 39 2,728
Notes: P5E
i) Ms. Miao Xianliu has been appointed as executive director of i) 24l ﬁi BEEZEAARBIIT
the Company with effect from 7 May 2024. EE BT _NERBtHEE
o
ii) Mr. Law Hok Yu has been appointed as executive director of ii) BEFLEECEZEAEIATNT
the Company with effect from 21 May 2024. g2 BT MFERAZ+—HE
E e
iif) Ms. Ma Man Chi has been appointed as executive director of iii) ERBL LT ERZERERTANT
the Company with effect from 19 July 2024. EE B _NELRt+NABEE
o
iv) Ms. Chen Qiuling has been appointed as executive director of iv) BB LT EEZEARATNIT
the Company with effect from 13 February 2025. EE B _HE_RB+=HiEEE
Lo
V) Mr. Yau Yan Yuen resigned as executive director with effect V) RAEEHERITES B2
from 21 May 2024. “MERAZ+—BHEEEX-
Vi) Mr. Wang Jun resigned as executive director with effect from vi) ITELELEEHAIPTEET BEZS
24 February 2025. “HRFEZAZ+HARER-
Vi) Ms. Chan Wai Yan has been appointed as independent non- Vii) BRERLTEREZEALRTE

Viii)

executive director of the Company with effect from 21 May
2024.

Mr. Wu Zhao resigned as independent non-executive director
of the Company with effect from 21 May 2024.

viii)

NERTESE B_T_WNERA
T+ —HEEMe

S AEEEREARATBILIENIT
EFEE B MNFRAAZ+—HiE
£



Annual Report 2024/2025
CEOME/ CE_REERS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SR B LR BT Gk

Year ended 31 March 2025 #Z _—FE_ZF=H=+—HIFZ
4. INFORMATION ABOUT THE BENEFITS OF

DIRECTORS (continued)

14(a)Directors’ emoluments (Continuea)

14. EREFEIE

K o

M@QEFNE @

Year ended 31 March 2024

E_ENE=R=+—HILEE

Contributions
Salaries to defined
and other contribution
Fees benefits plans Total
e TS
=1 Htigsl SIS st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT T#T T THT
Executive Directors: HiTES .
Mr. Chan Chi Yuen REBEE - 1,406 17 1,423
Mr.Wang Jun ITERE S 240 12 252
Mr. Yau Yan Yuen iyt - 126 6 132
Non-executive Director: FHTES:
Mr. Tsang Kei Cheong BRakE - 18 - 18
Independent non-executive BIFRTES:
Directors:
Ms. Tsang Hau Wai BELt 55 - - 55
Mr. Li Ka Chun Gordon FRBEE 37 - - 37
Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex BIHEE Wl - - 7
Mr. Wu Zhao SkEE 120 - - 120
Mr. Lam Cheok Va Lam Cheok VaZt £ 83 - - 83
Total 1t 366 1,790 35 2,191
No remuneration was paid or payable by the Group to AEE W EmEE A E S S EN
any of the directors as an inducement to join or upon N (EARSIIMAAREEF AL
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office. SRR RBITIEABERmE.
No emoluments represent the payments to a BEMEEEEAEEEENRE
management service company in respect of directors’ M EERFBE AT E
services in connection with management of the affairs of
the Group.
14(b)Loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in MUb)ERUAEZTASTTAZERE
favour of directors BEREREMRS

There were no loans, quasi-loans or other dealings in
favour of the directors of the Company that were entered
into or subsisted during the year (2024: Nil).

RAEFE: *ﬁﬁu$®ﬁ%$%§5
AZER EERHEMRF TR
=& (:7_Efﬁ ) -
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Year ended 31 March 2025 #Z _—FE_ZF=H=+—HIFZE

14. INFORMATION ABOUT THE BENEFITS OF

DIRECTORS (continued)

14(c)Directors’ material interest in transactions,
arrangements or contracts
Save as disclosed in note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements, there are no transactions, arrangements and
contracts of significance in relation to the Company's
business to which the Company was a party and in
which a director of the Company or a connected entity
of the director had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year (2024: Nil).

15. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST
EMOLUMENTS
During the year, the five individuals with the highest
emoluments in the Group include one (2024. one) director(s)
whose emoluments are included in the disclosures in note 14
to the consolidated financial statements. The emoluments of
the remaining four (2024: four) individuals were as follows:

14. ERAEERAEH @

MOEFEXRZ THASRMNEK
bl
RS MBS IRRM IR EE
Sh FREFEAFERTAFFRE 4
NEMEBFTHEMEAT AR
ZEBEMARBDZEETHNEETZH
HERHEREBETEETEBEEEAX
NRzBERS ZHkeR CE
TPUEE ) o

15. MiEREHNAL

REFERN ZrEEMNERSHRIAA
FoHP— (TBTME: ) ARESH
= TEAR B A TSR A I 14 3 B2 © HLBRID
(C2TeE W) ARBEmT

2025 2024
—E-RHE —EB_NE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FET
Salaries and other benefits HeMEMER 2,212 1,963
Contributions to defined TERBMH AT BN
contribution plans 111 63
2,323 2,026
Their emoluments were within the following band: MENFUTEHER
2025 2024
—E-RHE —EBCOE
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
ABA# AEA#
Nil to HK$1,000,000 0-1,000,00078 75 4 4

No remuneration was paid or payable by the Group to any of
the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.
None of these individuals waived any emoluments during the
years ended 31 March 2024 and 2025.

FEBYEALBRSHA LIS EN
AN (FRRSIMAXTERIMA L ER
BRZEBNIFAEREE -#E"_FT M
FRZEZHFZRB=+—HLFERE
ZEANTHERERAME -
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Year ended 31 March 2025 #Z _—FE_ZF=H=+—HIFZ

16.

17.

DIVIDEND

No dividend was paid or proposed during the years ended 31
March 2024 and 2025, nor has any dividend been proposed
since the end of the reporting period.

LOSS PER SHARE

The weighted average number of ordinary shares of
approximately 44,698,000 (2024: 15,997,000 (restated)) in issue
during the year ended 31 March 2025, as adjusted to reflect the
effect of the share consolidation as disclosed in notes 32 and
40. Comparative figures have also been restated and adjusted
on the assumption that the share consolidation on 19 February
2025 had been effective in the prior year.

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share
attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the
following data:

16.

17.

:35)
BE_ZNERTFTHRF=ZR=1+—
EIJJ:EEF;/XE/JEHZ)ZL /)fké’fHQ% =k
SHRE TARRIKEEARE

EBigE8
Eizfz_ﬁ EF=ZA=+—HLEFENE
BT E BRI T I9#A944,698,000 (—F
VU4 115,997,000 (FEEF))) B FHE
MU BRBf 532 A0 B8 2 IR 17 & 1 = &7

Z-hERBFNETFTEIRAE  REN
TETRETATNBESZROEHRN
t—EFEEEH-

EREEBNBEEREANRBEHER
THIRERE

2025 2024
“EZHE —ZTE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FAET
Loss attributable to owners of the MEREAREEHEIEMS
Company for the purpose of KABIEB NELE 2R
basic and diluted loss per share (21,678) (9,790)
2025 2024
—E-hRE —ZE U
‘000 ‘000
The FB&
(Restated)
(K= E3)
Weighted average number of ordinary  FiEREAREHEGIEMS 2
shares for the purpose of basic and TIBRR NI
diluted loss per share 44,698 15,997
2025 2024
—EZEE ik s
HK$ HK$
AT BT
(Restated)
(Ce=7l)
Loss per share FRE1R
Basic and diluted BAK#E (0.48) 0.67)
Since there were no potential dilutive shares in issue during the HRBE_ZE-_NONERZZEZHE=R

years ended 31 March 2024 and 2025, basic and diluted loss
per share are the same for both years.

E+—E¢¢EW%%%E%§E%ﬁ&
15 E I B4 R 0 S AR B A R 8 A5 4R
IR
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Year ended 31 March 2025 #Z _—FE_ZF=H=+—HIFZE

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 18. MIE B KRRHE
Leasehold  Furniture and office Motor  Construction
improvements fixtures equipment vehicles equipment Total
HEMEEE FRANEEERE WAZRME RE BERE a5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT THT THT THET THET THET
Cost; 2%
At 1 April 2023 RIEZ=FNA—H 4,554 720 369 1432 31222 38,297
Disposal and write-off HERMH = = = = (2,520) (2,520)
Additions RE - - 6 - 398 404

At31March 2024 and 1 April 2024 RZE-_NE=F=+-HK

ZEMEMA—H 4,554 720 375 1,432 29,100 36,181
Disposal and write-off HERMH - - - - (266) (266)
Additions RE = - 4 - 1,126 1,130
At 31 March 2025 RZEZRE=A=+-H 4,554 720 379 1,432 29,960 37,045
Accumulated depreciation: RitiE:
At 1 April 2023 RIZZ=FENE—H 4,3% 720 347 1,329 17,371 24,163
Disposal and write-off HERMH = = = = (2,091) (2,091)
Charge for the year AEELH 158 - 2 59 6,157 6,397

At31March2024and 1 April 2024 RZE-ME=F=+—HK

—2-NmEMA-A 4,554 720 370 1,388 21,437 28,469
Disposal and write-off HERMH - - - - (249) (249)
Charge for the year AEELH - - 9 44 5,069 5,122
At 31 March 2025 W-B-1f=A=+-H 4,554 720 379 1432 26,257 33,342
Carrying amount; BREfE
At 31 March 2025 RZE_EF=A=+-H - - - - 3,703 3,703
At 31 March 2024 KoE-MEZR=+-R = = 5 4 7,663 771
The Group leases its construction equipment to third parties AEBUKREHEHAERRRETE=
under operating leases with rental calculated on a daily basis. FoHESRBABE-HEFAEEAAER
The leases do not include any purchase option. Rental income EEH LHEREREESRABSHINN
from leasing of construction equipment is set out in note 7 to REM BRI

the consolidated financial statements.

The construction equipment is subject to residual value risk. BEXEARZTHGEERR FHIL A&
The lease contract, as a result, includes a provision based on EHRBE BB BIL AEBBER
which the Group has the right to charge the tenant for any HEARNERLH 2 ERBIERER
damage to the construction equipment at the end of the lease. RE I REBEERBLABEERE
Besides, the Group required the tenants to purchase insurance RIEERAIER RSN E 2 BEEIBIEM
to protect it against any loss that may arise from accidents or 5|enviBke

physical damages of the equipment.
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Year ended 31 March 2025 #Z _—FE_ZF=H=+—HIFZ

19. NON-CURRENT ASSET HELD FOR SALE 19. FEHEZIERBEE
2025 2024
—E_RE “ETEE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FET
Fair value: NEE

At 1 April HHBE—H - 29,500

Change in fair value recognised in REER 2 A FEED)
profit or l0ss - 500
Disposal HE - (30,000)
At 31 March R=B=+—H - _

On 31 March 2023, the Company, through its indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary, entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with a purchaser, pursuant to which the Group
agreed to sell and the purchaser agreed to acquire the
investment property at a consideration of HK$30,000,000. In
the opinion of the Directors, the disposal (the “Disposal”) of
the investment property is expected to be completed within
twelve months from the date of the agreement. As a result, the
investment property was re-classified as non-current assets
held for sale as at 31 March 2023. On 28 March 2024, the
Disposal had been completed.

AR =F=R=+—H ARBEEB
HEEZE2EWB A BRI I EER
ot AERREHEREAFRRNK
B EYE  R/8%430,000,0008 T EE
RAE HELEWE (HEFHE)) BEstE
R B EEs+ @B N5E - FIL
A BT ZFEZ/A=+—H REYES
MO BAREHEZERBEE- R T
HE=BZ+NEH HEFBEBEREM.
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Year ended 31 March 2025 #Z _—FE_ZF=H=+—HIFZE

19. NON-CURRENT ASSET HELD FOR SALE 19. FIFHEZFRBEE @

(Continuead)

Leasing arrangement - as lessor

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the property rental
income was approximately HK$888,000. The property held for
rental purposes is expected to generate rental yields of 3.00%
on an ongoing basis.

Before the Disposal, the property was leased to tenants for
a term ranged from one to two years, in which the first year
is non-cancellable and the second year is cancellable with
a notice period of 2 months by the tenant. The lease did not
contain any renewal option. Monthly rental charges consist of
fixed payments. The Group bears the management fees and
amounts charged by the government such as the rates levied
on the Group.

The property was subject to residual value risk. The lease
contract, as a result, included a provision based on which the
Group has the right to charge the tenant for any damage to
the properties at the end of the lease. Besides, the Group had
purchased insurance to protect it against any loss that may
arise from accidents or physical damages of the properties.

HERH - ERHEA
BEZNE=RA=T—HLEFE¥
27 & A 49 73888,00078 7T © 155 7F i FE B
AW 2 TR AR B A £ 3.00%R9 H AR [B]
WK

RHEFRER  MERNFI1E25 2B
EEFEF HPEEAHME  BAH
REZFL2EA BN - HETES
EREEEER - SRAASABEENNR
AEFEARREEES RBUTIERIRIE
Pl A E B UL ER

MERZRHFEERRE BRIt - AESLY
Ba—BEO R AERERREER
EREMYEZEMERAERRE I
Sy AEBEEBERE  REEFAER
BN SMEZ BEIBEMS EAIRK -
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Year ended 31 March 2025 #Z _—FE_ZF=H=+—HIFZ
20. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

20. ERHEEE

Office
premises  Warehouses Total
MAEYE BE 4azE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FAET TAET
Net book value at 1 April 2023 RIEZ=FWBE—HZ
BREFE 3,617 4,573 8,190
Disposals (Note a) HE (MEta) = (2,286) (2,286)
Depreciation for the year FRITE (1,808) (2,287) (4,095)
Net book value at 31 March 2024 R_ZE_NE=Z/A=+—H
and 1 April 2025 RZEZAFMNE—H
ZEREFE 1,809 - 1,809
Depreciation for the year FITE (1,809) = (1,809)
Net book value at 31 March 2025 M_Z_HRE=F=+—H
ZERmEFE - - -
Note: f 5

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group had expressed its
intention and notified the landlord not to further renew the lease
arrangement, which is under option lease period, in relation to the
warehouses for the leasing of construction equipment business.
Accordingly, the aggregate amounts of respective right-of-use
assets of HK$2,286,000 and lease liabilities of HK$2,539,000 are
derecognised resulting in a gain in early termination of lease of
HK$253,000.

@ BEZ_NF=A=+—HLEEE &X&
EREERERFEF  AEHREEMET
RRABRLSNTBE— S BMBEERH

(ZEEREREFHESR #FIL BESD
7 732,286,00078 7T 2 1 A # & A& 22,539,000
BTNEEERETBRED ERNEER
ATA% 1L U 2253,00078 7T ©
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Year ended 31 March 2025 #Z _—FE_ZF=H=+—HIFZE

20. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued) 20. EFHEEE ®
Restrictions or covenants PR il 3 5238
Most of the leases impose a restriction that, unless approval AEHFELBRFIRE > BRIFERFHBAN
is obtained from the lessor, the right-of-use assets can only e SFRREEEEHAER S
be used by the Group and the Group is prohibited from selling B BAEEFAEBEERIRIFEREE-
or pledging the underlying assets. In addition, the Group is o REBBHEFMERTHNEMER
required to keep those properties in a good state of repair and B R BRI ENFRIE
return the properties in their original condition at the end of the
lease.
Residual value guarantees FIEREEER
The Group does not provide residual value guarantees for the AEBUWEANAENEREEHRESR
lease contracts of office premises and warehouse. REFGREEE R
21. GOODWILL 21. BHE
2025 2024
“ETHEF —ETuE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAERT FET
Cost: AR
At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024, AT ZFNA—H-
1 April 2024 and 31 March 2025 _ENE=/A=+—H"
“ETUENBE—HK
—_E_RFE=H=+—H 2,721 2,721
Accumulated impairment losses: REDRERE !
At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024, A_E_=FMB—H-
1 April 2024 and 31 March 2025 - OFE=B=+—H~
“EINFENA—HBK
—E-RFE=H=+—H 2,721 2,721
Carrying amount; IREE :

At 31 March BW=A=+—H - =
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Year ended 31 March 2025 #Z _—FE_ZF=H=+—HIFZ

21.

GOODWILL (continuea) 21. HE& »®)
Goodwill arose because the consideration paid for the EXEmERanNNESZTZRESKRE
acquisitions effectively included amount in relation to the BRRMBER M BEEMEESE
benefits originated from future market development and the iR ms B -HARZENEATE
assembled workforce of the acquired business. These benefits A#EFEEE 2 EREE QR
are not recognised separately from goodwill because they EoHER HiANECEIBETAR
do not meet the recognition criteria for identifiable intangible NBRPI1HA <
assets. None of the goodwill recognised is expected to be
deductible for income tax purposes.
Goodwill acquired through business combination has been BRERCHBE 2 BESEEPEESR
allocated to Financial services business segment cash MERFEESBRcEEEM ((REEL
generating unit (“CGU") and Design, fitting out and engineering B kst - EERIERBES S
services business segment CGU (see note 8 to the consolidated RWEELBA (DEERFBHN i%éﬁa‘
financial statements for details of segment information). An BIRMIEES) - MBRARESEL BN
analysis of goodwill attributable to the relevant CGUs as at 31 THERTE_RE=ZRA=+— Ellfgfﬁ?ﬁ
March 2024 and 2025 is as follows: B2 2WAT
Design,
fitting
out and
Financial  engineering
services services
business business
segment segment
CGU CGU Total
HEtRER
ERRTE TITRERFES
EBDE SERE
REEEEM EEE 4zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET
Gross amount 4azE 854 1,867 2,721
Impairment loss recognised ERERBEEE (854) (1,867) (2,721)

Carrying amount at 31 March 2024
and 31 March 2025

A — B

\TETME=A=+—H
RZEBZHEF
=ZRA=+—H®NKEE =
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Year ended 31 March 2025 #Z _—FE_ZF=H=+—HIFZE

22. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 22. M EE
Cross-
boundary
SFO licences  vehicle licence Total
Fickz 4
G RAIEE B B R et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TER TER
Cost: {723
At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024, AZE=EA—A
1 April 2024 and 31 March 2025 “EE
=B=+—-H-
“2CEENA—BK
ZE_RFE=B=+—H 18,738 1,876 20,614
Accumulated impairment losses: ~ Bitim{ERSE
At 1 April 2023 AZEZ=FA—H 16,239 1,276 17,515
Impairment loss (reversal of BREAERE (BOIRESE)

Impairment loss) recognised 779 (140) 639

At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 RIEZEE=A=+—HkK
—ZFEmA—H 17,018 1,136 18,154
Impairment loss (reversal of ERHRERE (BORESR)

Impairment 10ss) recognised 50 160 210
At 31 March 2025 RZEZRE=B=+—H 17,068 1,296 18,364
Carrying amount; AREME -

At 31 March 2025 RZEZRHE=RA=+—H 1,670 580 2,250
At 31 March 2024 RIZZWE=B=+—H 1,720 740 2,460

The intangible assets represent (i) the licences to carry on Type
1 (Dealing in securities), Type 4 (Advising on securities) and
Type 9 (Asset management) activities under the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (“SFQ") (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) (the “SFO Licences”); and (i) the cross-boundary vehicle

licence.

BREEENKEEEREMNESNERS
REERA (B R ERAL) BT 1R
BHERF) B4R MESFREHER) &
EORRHEEEE) FHER (RBHFK
HEFRAIRER) ; R()PBERWER
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Year ended 31 March 2025 #Z _—FE_ZF=H=+—HIFZ
22. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued) 22.

s A P,
BITLEE ©®

SFO Licences

The SFO Licences represent intangible assets acquired as a
result of a business combination during the year ended 31
March 2018. The SFO Licences have been considered to have
indefinite useful lives because they are expected to contribute
to the net cash flows of the Group indefinitely, and are not
amortised.

The Group has appointed the independent qualified
professional valuer to perform an appraisal of the recoverable
amount of the SFO Licenses as at 31 March 2025. Same as the
prior year, the recoverable amount of the SFO Licences have
been determined based on fair value less costs of disposal
using the replacement cost approach, which is higher than
value in use after considering the current economic conditions
and the potential postponement of business plan due to
uncertainties in the financial market for the Financial services
business segment. Same as the prior year, the recoverable
amount have been determined by using replacement cost
approach instead of market comparable approach because
there is a decrease in recent similar transactions.

The key assumptions used in estimating the fair value of the
SFO Licences under the replacement cost approach include
the estimation of cost of obtaining such licenses and relevant
transaction cost. The valuation was categorised as Level 3 fair
value measurement.

The recoverable amount of the SFO Licences based on the fair
value less costs of disposal was approximately HK$1,670,000
(2024: HK$1,720,000). Accordingly, having compared with the
carrying amount of the SFO Licences, impairment loss of
approximately HK$17,068,000 (2024: HK$17,018,000) has been
provided on SFO Licences as at 31 March 2025.

a2 55 B HR S R 1 e R
BERPERIEBERG&E_S—N\F
ZR=+-HLEFEREBGHERHNE
TMEE B kAERMERREREZE
BECHAFREASBRACERRATME
EEBRER RS REH -

AEREEERBIFXECERGEMNY
BERAERABRN ST _1F=R
=+—BRAREERETHE - BEE
18R > 58 75 K B & 15 1 b PR A9 =T e [o] < 28
DERREENAFEMSNATERLE
B » 485 e B A AR AR B A £ R AR 75
EH DB RIS E T o) A E
EBsE HeRNEREE -BEEFE
18RE > AR Bl EREE R A AT IF
HIBLEEEE  RRRIEHMELR S

/N
Mo

SEEMAETEAESFRPERAERERA
TEFMANBARRREERSABMRRYN
A RBRARXZ R A - HERDESD
E=MRMAFETE-

BAFEREERATENES KPS K
151 2 BR B9 BT Uk [2] < BB 491,670,000 7T (Z
T PY4E 1 1,720,00058 70) o AL AL ELER
EBERBERGNRRZREE S
KREEEABBER S _AFE=R=+—
HEti2 R EEE4917,068,0008 T (ZF
ZPU4E : 17,018,000 7T) ©
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Year ended 31 March 2025 #Z _—FE_ZF=H=+—HIFZE

22.

23.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continuea)

The cross-boundary vehicle licence

The cross-boundary vehicle licence was estimated as having
indefinite useful life and is measured using the cost model. The
cross-boundary vehicle licence has been considered to have
indefinite useful life because it is expected to contribute to the
net cash flows of the Group indefinitely, and is not amortised.

The Group has appointed the independent qualified
professional valuer to perform an appraisal of the recoverable
amount of the cross-boundary vehicle licence as at 31 March
2025. Same as the prior year, the recoverable amount of the
cross-boundary vehicle licence has been determined on the
fair value less costs of disposal using market comparable
approach, which is higher than the value in use. Same as the
prior year, the recoverable amount have been determined
by using fair value less costs of disposal because there is
a increase in recent similar transactions, and the fair value
less cost of disposal is higher than the value in use. The key
assumption under the market comparable approach includes
the comparable transactions during the year 2025.

The recoverable amount of the cross-boundary vehicle
licence based on value in use calculation was approximately
HK$580,000 (2024: HK$740,000). Accordingly, having compared
with the carrying amount of the cross-boundary licence,
impairment loss of approximately HK$1,296,000 (2024:
HK$1,136,000) has been provided on the cross-boundary
vehicle licence as at 31 March 2025.

LOAN AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES

22. EWEE @)

R R
hABEHERAIRAEEERFRRU
ARG E - PRAERERKBAARE
EECAFREASBEMESERAFER
FERMBPREMN RO GREH -

FAEFCEBBUEXSERMGEMET
BEREEBN _E_AE=A=+—HN
AR Bl ERETT AL - BB EFEERRF
BRI RN IREIE R ERIRTIS
LA A TTEREER A Halt
EREE RBFTFEMRR TREITER
DDEATEREENEAEE  REZEH
BURZENRAFERHERESIE
REE -HHLEBEFETZEEZRREE
N TETREMAELERRSG -

RIBEREESENPBERER A
I [8] 4 28 49580,0008 70 (ZZ /M4
740,000787T) ° AL > & LB R B B HRAR IR
ZHREE BRPBERERN S
F=RB=+—HsHRREREIEL1,296,000
T (T2 PO 1,136,000587T) ©

3. BIWERKRFE

2025 2024

“E"RHE “ETEE

HK$'000 HK$'000

FAET FET

Loan receivables W ERR 3,000 3,000
Interest receivables FEWF] B 580 310
Less: Loss allowance Ve SEi=b (819) (1,168)

2,761 2,142




During the year ended 31 March 2025, the loan portfolios of
the Group consist of 1 personal loans with principal amount of
HK$3 million each. The Group’s loan and interest receivables,
which arise from the money lending business in Hong Kong, are
denominated in HK$. Loan receivables are unsecured, interest-
bearing at a rate of 9% (2024: 9%) per annum and matured at
the end of the reporting period. The maximum exposure to
credit risk at each of the reporting dates is the carrying amount
of the receivables mentioned above.

Ageing analysis of the outstanding loans
The aged analysis of loan and interest receivables (net of
impairment) that is not considered to be impaired is as follows:

23.
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Year ended 31 March 2025 #Z _—FE_ZF=H=+—HIFZ
23. LOAN AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES (continuea)

BURERRHE @
BE-T-AE=A=t+—HILEE &

EBREMAESEE—BEE 453,000,000
BLZEANER FEEBRERKTE
RERBEBRENEBERES  WLIB T
B BRERBBITE  RERNZT% CF
PO 19%) s R MR IR EIAREE - N K
REBMFMERNRAEERR B LEX
PRI FE W FRIRRYBREI{E ©

KRMEBERAERE O
RAEERBENBEERRFE R
B) AR DA :

2025 2024
—EB-REE —EB_NE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FET
Past due but not impaired B BREE
more than 180 days HBiE180H 2,761 2,142

Basis of Impairment Loss

Since the loan has been overdue for repayment as at 31 March
2025, the probability of default would have increased. However,
considering the forward looking rate, credit worthiness and by
reviewing the past repayment history of the borrower where
accrued interest has been settled subsequent to the year,
the Group considers the loan is not credit-impaired and is
categorised as Stage 2 for ECL assessment.

REREERE
HRERER-_ZEAF=A=+—H#&
HARIEN  BHOR TSR G I8N0 - 24T
EZRIFIEMEN R EEBEREHER
ARBRERSZE ME > Bt FEER
FREB AEERRZERRELEE
BEL RS2SR FTREERBE
S {d o
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Year ended 31 March 2025 #Z _—FE_ZF=H=+—HIFZE

23. LOAN AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES (continuec)  23.

Basis of Impairment Loss (Continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group recognised
a reversal of allowance for ECL of approximately HK$349,000
(2024: HK$174,000).

Movement in the Group's allowance for ECL on loan and
interest receivables is as follows:

FEWERKRFE @
REBEREE &
BE_Z_AF=RB=1+—HILEFE &
EE T TEER S B 58 RIE49349,00058 7T
(ZE Y4 @ 174,000 7T) ©

oA S U U B A P B TR RS B AR
ST :

2025 2024

“EhHE —EZ &

HK$'000 HK$'000

FAET FAET

At beginning of the year REH 1,168 1,540
Allowance for ECL for the year, net FATEHAEEEIRREG  $5E (349) (174)

Increase in allowance for ECL for the year

FRRMEEEEREBEN — 575

Reversal of allowance for ECL for the year SN TEHR(E 518 EH 01 (349) (749)
Waiver HR = (198)
At end of the year REX 819 1,168

Information about the Group’s exposure to credit risks and loss
allowance for loan and interest receivables is included in note
6(b) to the consolidated financial statements.

BERAEEMAREERBRURERER
KA BBREFHE 2 ERSENREMBRE
Bt 5E6(D) °

24. INVENTORIES 24. 7§
2025 2024
—E_RE —ZTE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FET
Fine and rare wines held for sale, at cost 131 H & &5 » W 47! R 5,259 259
Construction materials, at cost BEYRL LA BR 843 843
6,102 1,102
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25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 25. B REMEYIE
2025 2024
—E-hRE —EUF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FET
Trade receivables B 5 ERFRIE
From third parties w"E=H
— Sales and service income receivables —HE M AR TS WA FE U =R IE K2
and lease income receivables FHE U A FEWFRIE 36,984 27,934
Less: Loss allowance W EaEG (7,033) (6,643)
29,951 21,291
Other receivables HihrEkTRIE
Deposits and prepayment BERFENRIE 4,063 1,009
Advance to suppliers and sub-contractors B FER K& D B E B 5,889 835
Prepayments of share issue expenses BB RMPETHS 2
related to rights issue FETIE 521 -
Others Hih 704 145
11,177 1,989
Total trade and other receivables B 5 KR EMEWTUIALEZE 41,128 23,280

The Group allows an average credit period ranging from 30
to 60 days (2024: 30 to 60 days) to its trade customers. The
following is an ageing analysis of trade receivables, net of loss
allowance, and based on the invoice date as at the end of the
reporting period.

AEFBHEZEHIRMEAI30E60H

(ZE M4 : 30860H) A2 FHH1E
B - U TANBREHREEZHHEY
2 B EWEIE (OREREE) RN
#r e

2025 2024

ZEZhHE e Sapik=s

HK$'000 HK$'000

FAET FAET

Within 90 days 90HW 15,523 16,004
91 to 180 days 9MHZE180HUA 459 583
181 days to 270 days 181THZE270H AR 1,031 518
271 days to 365 days 271HE36SHUA 8,732 456
More than 365 days 365U k£ 4,206 3,730

29,951 21,291
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25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continves)  25. B S REMEWTRIE @
Information about the Group’s exposure to credit risks and loss BRANEEMARZ EERBUREZ &
allowance for trade and other receivables is included in note HMEWRIEGERE G 2 BENENRGREH
6(b) to the consolidated financial statements. HERRMI5F6(0) ©
The financial assets included in the other receivables for which S AEMEWTRIE Z £ B E AT R T
there was no recent history of default and past due amounts. R RBaBERBE R OER T
As at 31 March 2024 and 2025, the loss allowance was THEZRB=+—H BEREITEAM
assessed to be minimal. TEE-

26. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT 26. BHNEERSHNERE
LIABILITIES
26(a) Contract assets 26() ENEE

2025 2024
“ETHEF —ETpuE
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B FAET FET
Unbilled revenue in respect of 2R HERTRER
provision of design, fitting R RE AR E R
out and engineering and RFHRFAAEZW R
procurement of furnishings
and related products services 12,825 6,583
Less: Loss allowance Ve Skt 6(b) (269) (66)
12,556 6,517

The contract assets primarily relate to the Group's rights
to consideration for work completed but not yet billed at
the end of the reporting period. The contract assets are
transferred to trade receivables when the rights become
unconditional.

BRNEETZERNAEERZANRK
SRR EMEREHIRETEZR
REBIER - GHEER B AR
RERIFEAE S RUGRIE-
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26. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES (continuea)
26(a) Contract assets (Continued)

. BHNEERGHNEE @

26(a) ENEE &

Retention receivables are included in contract assets
until the end of the retention period as the Group's
entitlement to the final payment is conditional on the
Group's work satisfactorily passing inspection.

The movements (excluding those arising from increases
and decreases both occurred within the same year) of
contract assets from contracts with customers within
HKFRS 15 during the year are as follows:

B REESIAGHNEE EERE
HER > ARAEEERREMIRY
EAEBRRAEENTEESEW
BB

FR BEBYBREERSBISRE
TEREHNZENEELD (B
RE—FEELEZIZE WT :

2025 2024

ZEZREF —E-E

HK$'000 HK$'000

FAET FET

At 1 April REA—H 6,517 2,110
Transferred to trade receivables EHEEE 5 REWTUA (6,483) (488)
Allowance for ECL for the year FANTEREERBRE (203) (45)
Recognised as revenue R AW 12,725 4,940
At 31 March R=B=+—H 12,556 6,517

For the year ended 31 March 2025, allowance for ECL
of HK$203,000 (2024: HK$45,000) is recognised for the
contract assets.

Information about the Group’s exposure to credit risks
and loss allowance for contract assets is included in note
6(b) to the consolidated financial statements.

BE_T_RHE=-RA=+—HIL%E
B BAGHNEEEREERIBRE
203,000/ 7t (ZZ Z /4 : 45,0007
JT) ©

ERMEcEERMAZEERRBURE
NEEBRBBZEHNANGSHM
eV
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26. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT 26 BHNEBEERGNEE E
LIABILITIES (continuea)
26(b) Contract liabilities 26(b) EHEE
2025 2024
—E_RE ik s
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FET

Provision of design, fitting out and 1225t EER TR
engineering and procurement of BB 1R E K 48 R8 E AR
furnishings and related products

services 4,491 1,050
The contract liabilities primarily relate to the advance EHNERFEHBWERPNRER
consideration received from customers, for which MERD B IR R IR HAE R AR
revenue is recognised based on the progress of the BHEER -

provision of related services.

The movements (excluding those arising from increases FR BEBMBREERNE155%1E
and decreases both occurred within the same year) of TREGENZENEEEY (FEIE
the contract liabilities from contracts with customers RE—FESEZIER AT :

within HKFRS 15 during the year are as follows:

2025 2024

“E"RHE “ETEE

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHExT

At 1 April REE—H 1,050 1,594
Recognised as revenue R AW - (544)
Receipt of advances ISR EA R 3,441 -

At 31 March K=BA=+—H 4,491 1,050
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26. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES (continuea)
26(b) Contract liabilities (continued)

The Group has applied practical expedient in paragraph
121 of HKFRS 15 to exempt the disclosure of revenue
expected to be recognised in the future arising from
contracts with customers in existence at the reporting
date to its fitting out and engineering services income,
design and procurement of furnishings and related
product services income and sale of fine and rare wines
as the performance obligation is part of a contract that
has an original expected duration of one year or less.

27. CASH AND BANK BALANCES
Bank balances and cash comprise cash held by the Group and
short-term bank deposits with maturity within three months
from inception. Bank balances carried interest at market rates
ranging from 0.03% to 0.47% (2024: 0.04% to 0.47%) per annum
during the year ended 31 March 2024. The carrying amounts
of bank balances and cash are denominated in the following

26. ENEERGHNAER @

26(h) EHBE &
ERMHHREERFEI1SRE1218F
ERNEBEZARRRERRRS
HSEENEZER2ENEGNES
M FERRHS & 70 R R AR W > A&
EELEHEERNEEERTER
FEURA ~ 58 5t R IR AR R R AE R
RIS A R EBIHE WA RRAS
BEAEEARBHARE -S4
T &L —IB15 o

27. RERIRITLEER
RTEHRRSOERFEEAFTE LR
SREMBH =B NEEZEHR
TR -ROERIRBE_S_NO4F
ZAZ+-BLEERETHENEN
£0.03%E0.47% (ZZ M4 : 0.04%E
0.47%) ¥t 8 - iRTRE B RIRS 2 IREEM

currencies: THEHESIE !
2025 2024
TEZRE TEOE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FHET
HKS$ BT 43,249 45,608
Us$ E7T - 69
SGD g 7o - 13

43,249 45,690
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28. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

28. BRRHEMEGRIA

2025 2024

“ETHEF —ETuE

Note HK$'000 HK$'000

B 5% FHET FHExT

Trade payables B S REARIE 12,358 4,766
Other payables HpEIRIE

Deposits received [Slivesa 487 472

Accrued expenses and other payables F&st55 sz K E{th FEf 2B 9,091 8,601

Temporary receipt HURIE (@) 25,742 =

35,320 9,073

Total trade and other payables B 5 K& EhE T Ia4E 5 47,678 13,839

Note
(a) The balance represents the temporary receipt from the proceeds

from rights issue. Details of the rights issue are set out in note 14 to
this announcement.

The following is an ageing analysis of trade payables based on

@  BREIEMRFTSTRIENER YR - IR 2 5

BHR AR EHEE140

UFRRRESHRRERA B5EM

the invoice date at the end of the reporting period: TIBZ BRES AT -
2025 2024
“E"HE —E_NE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Within 30 days 30HA 5,649 1,495
More than 30 days but within 90 days ~ 30H E90H & 38 1,403
Over 90 days #BiE90H 6,671 1,868
12,358 4,766

The average credit period for purchases of goods and services
is 90 days (2024: 90 days). The Group has financial risk
management policies in place to ensure that all payables are
settled within the credit timeframe.

BAERKRBZFHEERR08 (2
TTME D 90H) - xEREBT /AR
EERRAERAABRNRRSINEEH

FRABIE -
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28. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued) 28. B KR HMESFRIA
The average credit period for purchases of goods is 90 days BAEMZFEHEE HH/‘%?OEI (Z=2Zm
(2024: 90 days). The Group has financial risk management F190H) - AEEBETZERMEAMREEK
policies in place to ensure that all payables are settled within RABRABRNRBESENEEHRRE
the credit timeframe. Eo
29. LEASE LIABILITIES 29. HE&E
2025 2024
—EB-RHEF ZETOE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAET
Current portion TRENER D - 1,902
An analysis of the Group’s cash outflow for lease is as follows: AEBMBEEREREDMTAT !
2025 2024
- ZETOE
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
b5 FERT AT
Lease payments: HEM
Short-term leases oHRfEE 3,190 301
Expenses recognised in profit or loss  7Ef8i RIS 3,190 301
Lease payments: HEMR:
Interest on lease liabilities HEaEME 48 244
Repayment of lease liabilities BEEHEaR 1,902 5,009
34(a) 1,950 5,253
Total cash outflow for leases HEERSRH 5,140 5,554
30. OTHER BORROWING 30. HthfEE

The other borrowing was unsecured, interest-bearing at fixed
rate of 5% per annum. During the year ended 31 March 2024,
the other borrowing had been fully repaid.

HMEERERIT IREE F M K5%5T
B-B#E_T_HNF=RBA=+—HLE
B HithEEEEHER-
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31. DEFERRED TAXATION
The movements in deferred tax (assets) liabilities during the

year are as follows:

Year ended 31 March 2025

31. EERIE

EERIR (EE) BRNEANNEEWT -

BE_Z_RAF=-A=+—HLEFE

Deferred tax
assets Deferred tax liabilities
BEREEE BEREGRE
Fair value
Accelerated  adjustment
tax on intangible
Tax losses  depreciation assets Total
BREE
RIEHE  MERBIE AFERE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTER AR FTER TER
At 1 April 2024 RIBZMENE—H - - 307 307
Credited to profit or loss HABR - - (35) (35)
At 31 March 2025 RZZ_HE=A=1+—H - - 272 272

Year ended 31 March 2024

BE_Z_MFE=-A=+—HLFE

Deferred tax
assets Deferred tax liabilities
FERBEE EEREASE

Fair value

Accelerated adjustment

tax ~ onintangible
Tax losses depreciation assets Total

BVEE
MEEE  NRRUKITE NEEFE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TET TER TERT
At 1 April 2023 RZE_=ZFNA—H = 548 413 961
Credited to profit or loss AR = (548) (106) (654)
At 31 March 2024 KZEZME=R=+—H = = 307 307
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31. DEFERRED TAXATION (continued)

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the
following items:

IRMEFRIA 2
TH BT ERDELERESEE

2025 2024

HK$ 000 HK$ 000

FHET FHExT

Deductible temporary differences AR R ERR 1,308 1,308
Tax losses MIERE 186,349 163,553
At end of the reporting period REREER 187,657 164,861

No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the
unused tax losses and deductible temporary differences due
to the unpredictability of future profit streams. No deductible
temporary differences expire under current tax legislation. The
expiry dates for unrecognised tax losses are as follows:

FRF R B REE A TER) B EN
YIRS 18 K PT 40 B B e 22 RRFE SRR EAR 1R
BE - RBRITRB AP ARG R ER
NEEIH - REBNARBIBZ BN T

2025 2024

- ZETME

HK$'000 HK$'000

FERT FET

Tax losses without expiration KEHRRIBAESIE 186,349 163,553
At the end of the reporting period H#R&EHI® 186,349 163,553
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32. SHARE CAPITAL 32. &%
Number of
shares Amounts
g E Bk L]
Notes ‘000 HK$'000
M5 T i FET
Authorised: ERE -
At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024, A_E_=ZFMB—H-
1 April 2024 and 31 March 2025 —ETOE=A=+—8-
ZEINFENA—HK
TETHE=A=1+—H N/A 38 A N/A i A
Issued and fully paid: BERTIHHAR
At 1 April 2023 A_E_=FPHA—H 156,780 205,523
Share consolidation R EH (@) (125,424) =
Rights issue A% (b) 156,780 36,059
Share issue expenses D EEITH 5 (768)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 AZE_NE=A=+—H
kZZZMFEMA—H 188,136 240,814
Issue of shares under specific mandate 1R #5545 B2 #2517 AR 1D () 37,627 7,563
Share issue expenses AP EEITRS S (204)
Share consolidation i EaHt (d (180,610) =
At 31 March 2025 N _E_RFE=B=+—H 45,153 248,173
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32. SHARE CAPITAL (continuea)

Notes:

@)

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed on 2 November 2023,
the share consolidation was approved by the shareholders of
the Company and has become effective on 3 November 2023.
Immediately after the share consolidation, the total number of issued
shares of the Company was adjusted from 156,780,000 to 31,356,000.

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed on 2 November 2023, a
rights issue of five rights shares for every one existing share held
by members on the register of members on 7 November 2023 was
approved by the shareholders of the Company and was made, at
an issue price of HK$0.23 per rights share, resulting in the issue of
156,780,000 shares for a total cash consideration, before expenses, of
approximately HK$36,059,000.

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed on 6 March 2024, the
placing of shares under the specific mandate was approved by
the shareholders of the Company. The placing of shares under the
specific mandate was completed on 23 April 2024, and the Company
issued 37,627,200 ordinary shares to independent third parties at a
subscription price of HK$0.201 on the same date.

On 13 December 2024, the directors of the Company proposed to
implement a share consolidation on the basis that every five issued
shares would be consolidated into one consolidated share. Pursuant
to an ordinary resolution passed on 17 February 2025, the Share
Consolidation was approved by the shareholders of the Company
and has become effective on 19 February 2025. Immediately after
the Share Consolidation, the total number of issued shares of the
Company was adjusted from 225,763,200 to 45,152,640.

32. RZ& @)
f5E :
(a) RER_Z_=F+—B_H@BMN—BL

BRZRR ROV CHESARATREREL
RIBZ=F+—B=H4EM - -EERHE
18 > KA B B ETRMABENE156,780,000
% 58 #2 331,356,000 ©

RER_Z=F+—AHEBN 1B
BRERR ARERREHERNRZZE =
F+—AtHRREAMEZRREERFAE
BRIRA RN EEES AR AL AR AR (0 IO 5 TUE AT i
B BIERBET B1TEASREREH
0.233 7T > 3£17156,780,00088 J2 {7 » 48IRE 18
8 (I0PRFASZ AN 49%36,059,0008 7T ©

RER_S_NE=-AARBAN—BL
BRER REBERIRELRERNEELRR
BIRERHL A - IR IR B BB ERMPER T
TZTMERAZ+=HRMR > BEXRAAR
B B ZBEE0.201B THBULE =T
37,627,2008% & B A% ©

AZEZNFE+ B+ =H > ARBERE
ZEHRMOEH BEEARSERDETR
HeaHAE—REHBRG RENRZZSZAHE
ZAt+tHEBN—EILTEREE BRHE
HEERARBARBMETHR T _HEZ
BHNABEM -BERMDEHZE QT
2 BETRDEBH225,763,2000RFHEE
45,152,6408% °
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33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME 33. BEigiEstE

A share option scheme enables the Company to grant options
to any participant (the “Eligible Participant”) as incentives or
rewards for their contributions to the Group. The Company
conditionally adopted a share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”) on 30 June 2014 whereby the Board are
authorised, at their absolute discretion and subject to the terms
of the Share Option Scheme, to grant options to subscribe
for the shares of the Company to the Eligible Participant. The
Share Option Scheme will be valid and effective for a period of
ten years commencing from the date of adoption of the Share
Option Scheme.

Upon acceptance of an option to subscribe for shares granted
pursuant to the Share Option Scheme (the “Option”), the
Eligible Participant shall pay HK$1.00 to the Company by way
of consideration for the grant. The Option will be offered for
acceptance for a period of 21 days from the date on which the
Option is granted. The subscription price for the Shares subject
to Options will be a price determined by the Board and notified
to each participant and shall be the highest of: () the closing
price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheet on the date of grant of the Options, which
must be a day on which trading of Shares take place on the
Stock Exchange (the “Trading Day"); and (i) the average closing
price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheets for the 5 Trading Days immediately preceding
the date of grant of the Options.

BRESIELARTIAREAN2EE (5
BRSHEE)) RUBRE FRMAEEK
EEPMEEMZBRHEF -AAFRZ
T—MENRAB =T HA KRG RAEERE
stEI (MRS R Bt EFQERE
A 2 B BB RE R » R IR S IR 5t
B2 RO ERSEERKIRDBEART
BR1n 2 FE IR 1 - BB AR A 5t BIAS 1S HLE IR A
EHESTERBE—EERREN-

RIEBMIRIR RS ST BIFT IR B n SR RS AR 1
ZERE (ERE) B a8K828EA
BAABZT1.008 7T 1EAERERE
2RE-BREZIZNPARHBRES
BIEEsT21 HHARS o BB AR ## 2 IR 1D SRIBE
E%%ﬁ?zm’ﬂiﬂ]ﬁ§/“% BIET
BEARTISEBEZEEE (INEHER
#EH (%EE%HQTQEA%’MFEEEZEI?
(MRS H) BXESHRERAEZK
HUWTHEE ; RN EZFRHEREZ HA0
AERZ B¥ XA E R RERFEHZKRD
R TEe
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The Company shall be entitled to issue options, provided that
the total number of Shares which may issue upon exercise
of all options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme
does not exceed the Scheme Mandate Limit. The Company
may at any time refresh such limit, subject to the shareholders’
approval and the issue of a circular in compliance with the GEM
Listing Rules, provided that the total number of shares which
may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted
and yet to be exercised under all the share option schemes of
the Company does not exceed 30% of the Shares in issued at
the time. An option may be exercised in accordance with the
terms of the Scheme at any time during a period as the Board
may determine which shall not exceed ten years from the date
of grant subject to the provisions of early termination thereof.

Since the adoption of the Share Option Scheme, no share
option and share award have been granted by the Company.

No service provider sublimit was set under the Share Option
Scheme.

As at 30 June 2014, the date of adoption of the Share Option
Scheme, the share mandate limited was 30,000,000 shares, and
representing 10% of the total number of issued shares of the
Company of 300,000,000 shares.

As at 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024, the total number of
share options and awards available for grant under the Share
Option Scheme mandate was 600,000 shares (as adjusted for ()
the share consolidation on the basis of ten (10) existing shares
into one (1) consolidated share with effect from 18 November
2020 and (i) the share consolidation on the basis of five (5)
existing shares into one (1) consolidated share with effect from
3 November 2023).

As at 31 March 2025, the total number of share options and
awards available for grant under the Share Option Scheme
mandate was 120,000 shares (as adjusted for (i) the share
consolidation on the basis of ten (10) existing shares into one
(1) consolidated share with effect from 18 November 2020; (i)
the share consolidation on the basis of five (5) existing shares
into one (1) consolidated share with effect from 3 November
2023; and (iii) the share consolidation of the basis of five (5)
existing shares into one (1) consolidated share with effect from
19 February 2025).

As at the date of the annual report, the total number of issued
shares of the Company was 180,610,560 shares, and the total
number of the share options and awards available for grant and
the shares available for issue under the Share Option Scheme
mandate was 120,000 shares, and representing 0.07% of the
total number of issued shares of the Company as at the date of
the annual report.
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RSB TRUEZFIABREBETER
AIFEITZRMBE NSBBFEIRE
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BOZRNDBE TREBREREETR
7 230% - R BRI BIRRNES
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LR RES + 5 EARRE
RS PRARIR ©
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BB A e Ko e {7 252 8 o
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34. OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION 34. HIRERER
34(a) Changes in liabilities arising from financing 34 MEEHZEEE
activities
Details of the changes in the Group's liabilities from KAEFRETE ZBEEHFEREN
financing activities are as follows: 1S s
2025 “EZRE

Lease  Temporary

liabilities receipt Total
HEaR BimE fast

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FTET FTET

At 1 April 2024 RZZEZMEMNA—H 1,902 = 1,902

Changes from financing cash flows: MERERED .
Temporary receipt from the proceeds from it A& Fr 1S 2B BY BR B LR

rights issue - 25,742 25,742
Repayment of lease liabilities BEREAE (1,902) = (1,902)
Interest paid BARE (48) = (48)
Net cash flows REMFE (1,950) 25,742 23,792
Other changes: Hithigh .

Interest expenses FEZH 43 - 48

At 31 March 2025 RZEZEF=ZA=+—H = 25,742 25,742
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34. OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION 34.
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HthRERER @

(Continued)
34(a) Changes in liabilities arising from financing
activities (Continued)

34() MEEFHZEREE @

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong.
The assets of the schemes are held separately from those
of the Group, in funds under the control of trustees. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the MPF Scheme is
to make the required contribution under the MPF Scheme.
The Group contributes 5% of relevant payroll costs, capped
at HK$1,500 per month, to the MPF Scheme, in which the
contribution is matched by employees.

Subsidiaries operating in the PRC are required to participate
in contribution retirement schemes organised by the relevant
local government authorities.

2024 “ETEE
Lease Other
liabilities borrowings Total
i ==L Hitnfg & W@st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FAET
At 1 April 2023 RZE-_=FNA—H 9,450 5,000 14,450
Changes from financing cash flows: MERERESD !
Repayment of unsecured other borrowing ~ {EEEIRIBEMES = (5,000) (5,000)
Repayment of lease liabilities BREEEE (5,009) = (5,009)
Interest paid BARE (244) (490) (734)
Net cash flows Remsa (5,253) (5,490) (10,743)
Other changes: Hithgh :
Release upon early termination of AT L E R ARPR (P5E20)
lease (note 20) (2,539) - (2,539)
Interest expenses FEZH 244 490 734
(2,295) 490 (1,805)
At 31 March 2024 RZZEZME=A=+—H 1,902 - 1,902
35. RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS 35. EAREFIEHE
Defined contribution plans EEEERRETE

rEERFIAEBCERERKE—ER
FIERARE 5B (TRRE5E)) &5t E
BERAEREENRRFRET RENKEE
AEFNEET AEERBEZ R
W-—EEARERBESBFHAIEMHR
e REEIZAE BFER R Z5%MERAE
SRR RBEA1,5008 7T BEKIE
B BRIF I ARE R

ETEZEZMBARASEAARMS
B ERPIE M 2 HRUR IR 8 o
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35. RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS (continuea)
Defined contribution plans (Continuead)
The total cost charged to profit or loss of approximately
HK$169,000 (2024: HK$225,000) represents contributions
payable to these schemes by the Group in respect of the
current reporting period.

The Group does not forfeit any contributions on behalf of
its employees who leave the scheme prior to full vesting.
Accordingly, for the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2025,
there was no forfeited contribution available for the Group to
reduce the existing level of contributions and at the end of the
reporting period, there were no forfeited contributions available
to reduce future obligations.

36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed
elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, the Group
entered into the following transactions with related parties
during the year:

(@) Compensation of key management
personnel
The remuneration of key management personnel of the

35.

36.

BABEMEE @

EREMREE (7

st AR H949169,0008 7T (Z B M4
225,0003870) MOHE AL A R A 2 M 7E BAT IR
SR S BN

AEBTELIVEARNEZERBA
MERLZFENEEMIFHAMMR
At BE—T_WER"T"RF=A
=+—HLEEE TEEAEREMHRE
MAREE AR FRI MK T - MRS
R TERAERERWRHRA R BE
BEE-

FRELX%

BRI e M B REEMBMNIRE 2R Z M
BERIN REBRAENERESETT
MTR5 !

(a) FEEEASNME

BEEERNAEREIEZEEASRM

Group during the year was as follows: SUWTH
2025 2024
—E-RE —EUF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FET
Salaries, allowances and e R AR EHMER
other benefits 2,404 3,321
Contributions to defined jaak-ELene v o | Kae
contribution plans 57 67
2,461 3,388

The remuneration of directors of the Company and key
executives is determined by the remuneration committee
having regard to the performance of individuals and
market trends. The remuneration of directors is set out in
note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

FABEERTETHABMETS
HIFMEEE2EE/ARERTS
BEEE EEMEHNFEVHR
KMIEE140
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37. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 37. ABEMERAR
THE COMPANY
2025 2024
—E_RE “ETEE
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
b 5 FAET FET
Non-current assets EREEE
Property, plant and equipment MR RRE 3 5
Right-of-use assets FRAESE = 1,809
Investments in subsidiaries RBABRZIRE 21,489 24
21,492 1,838
Current assets REMEE
Prepayment and other receivables Fa1{ FRIE K A At FE UK =B 1,730 602
Amounts due from subsidiaries N EYNGIE S 35(a) 177,821 87,554
Cash and bank balances R& R IRITHER 26,101 113
205,652 88,269
current liabilities wEaE
Other payables HMEMRIE 6,884 6,698
Lease liabilities HEaRs - 1,902
Temporary receipt BUERIE 25,742 =
Amounts due to subsidiaries FET B A B FIE 35(a) 2,909 2,900
35,535 11,500
Net current assets BREMBEE 170,117 76,769
Total assets less current liabilities 2 ER RS & & 191,609 78,607
NET ASSETS BEFE 191,609 78,607
Capital and reserves B2 K b
Share capital P& 30 248,173 240,814
Reserves Gz 37(b) (56,564) (162,207)
TOTAL EQUITY BN 191,609 78,607

The statement of financial position was approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 30 June 2025
and signed on its behalf by:

Law Hok Yu
BEF
Director

EF

HERRRENR_E_AEAA=ZTHEHK
T EERREZTTRE U EREET
B

Miao Xianliu
24l
Director

EF
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37. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY (continuead)
37(a) Amounts due from (to) subsidiaries

The amounts due are unsecured, interest-free and no

fixed terms of repayment.

37(h) Reserves of the Company

37. AEIMBERAK @

37(a) FEUK (FEF) B¥ B A BIRRIE
ZERNTERERIT  RERER
TEERHAR

37(b) 2B

Accumulated
losses  Other reserve Total
RithsiE Hithfsk st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FERT TEx
At 1 April 2023 R_E_=FMBE—H (180,276) 21,063 (159,213)
Loss and total comprehensive  AEEEEME @ X 8%
expense for the year (2,994) - (2,994)
At 31 March 2024 and AZEME=ZB=+—HkK
1 April 2024 “TMENA—H (183,270) 21,063 (162,207)
Loss and total comprehensive  AFEBEMNEEmEL L%
expense for the year 105,643 - 105,643
At 31 March 2025 A_E_RFE=A=1+—H (77,627) 21,063 (56,564)
Note: Other reserve represents the difference between the nominal Miz: @ HfthfEfEE TWRER > AWRBENE
value of the shares issued for acquisition of a subsidiary and A B 8 17 B9 BR 10 B9 3% 0 {8 B2 X B
the consolidated net asset value of that subsidiary and its BREREMBABNEZHEES
subsidiaries at the date of acquisition. B ZEE
38. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 38. BANKIE

Except for those disclosed in elsewhere in the consolidated
financial statements, at the end of the reporting period, the
Group did not have any other capital commitment.

MR G M BmREMEB DT EE I
RBESEHR > 2EE T EEFAEME K

o
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39. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 39. FEMB LT
Details of the Company's principal subsidiaries as at 31 March RRBEIZEEMBREN_ZEZAF=H
2025 are as follows: =+—HB8EENT
Place/Country Paid up
of incorporation issued/
or registration/  Class of registered Proportion of ownership and voting
Name of subsidiary operations shares held capital power interest held by the Company Principal activities
SRR BEfLSR
WEARAHE ey /AR FEROEN  RE/ERES FARRANFREREREEELA TEEY
Directly Indirectly
B M
2025 2004 2025 2004
SR ZZINE ZECZRE ZEIME
% % % %
BAL BAL ARl BAk
China Sourcing & Creative Construction  The BVI Ordinary US$1 100 100 - - Investment holding
Limited
HEFETERENERAT EEEYHE R 3 RELR
Markway Finance Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$100 - - 100 100 Money lending
BRMBERAR &5 L& 1007 &
Wealthy Pool International Holdings The BVI Ordinary 1S§50,000 100 100 - - Investment holding
Limited
REERZRERAR ERELHE L& 50,0005 7 REER
Huge Wealth International Tracing Hong Kong QOrdinary HK$10,000 - - 100 100 Business not yet commenced
Limited
EEEREZERAT 2 L 10,0007 ENEES
Qenoluxe Wines Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 - = 100 100 Sourcing and merchandising of fine
and rare wines
REERRAR &5 L& 187 FARERES
World Huge International Investment ~ The BVI Ordinary US§100 100 100 - - Investment holding
Limited
HEEEEEERAT EREYHE L& 100%7 REER
0C Consultants Limited Hong Kong QOrdinary HK$18,425,000 - - 100 100 Provision of securities dealing,
(2024: Securities advisory and asset
HK$17,425,000) management services
0C Consltants Limited &5 L& 18,425,000 7 RUEEHR 7 BHHEER
(e 15: 3 BEBERYE
17,425,000 7T)
Royal Century Investment Group Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 100 100 - - Investment holding
Limited
CEREEEERAT BE B8 AT RELR
Royal Century Development Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 - - 100 100 Provision of interior design,
fitting out and procurement
of furnishings and related
products services
CBEEERAT BE B8 AT REZNR: RERRREEAR

REERRS
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39. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 39. FEMBAT @
Details of the Company's principal subsidiaries as at 31 March RRBEIZEEMBREN_ZEZAF=H
2025 are as follows: (Continued) =+—B8FBEAT &
Place/Country Paid up
of incorporation issued/
or registration/  Class of registered Proportion of ownership and voting
Name of subsidiary operations shares held capital power interest held by the Company Principal activities
MR, BEFUAR
WEARAHE ey /AR FEROEN  RE/ERES FARRANFREREREEELA TEEY
Directly Indirectly
B M
2025 2004 2025 2004
SR ZZINE ZECZRE ZEIME
% % % %
BAL BAL ARl BAk
Royal Century Engineering Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS$1 - = 100 100 Provision of interior design,
fitting out and procurement
of furnishings and related
products services
CRIRERAF 2 B 187 REEAR RERFBRER
HEERRS
Royal Century Construction Equipment  Hong Kong Ordinary HKS$1 - - 100 100 Leasing of construction equipment
Limited and provision of related
installation services
CREREREERAT 2 B 187 ERZERERRHEMEE
FR%
Viai Tak Building Works Company Limited - Hong Kong Ordinary HK$8,000,000 = - 100 100 Provision of waterproofing works
and maintenance services
BEIRRAT 2 L& 8,000,000 7T REMKIRREERH
Viai Tak Engineering Works Company Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 = - 100 100 Provision of fitting out, engineering,
Limited repair and maintenance
Services
BEAIRARAF BE B8 AT RERE TR EERRERS
Shum Ming Macau Company Limited ~ Macau Ordinary MOP25,000 100 100 - - Provision of interior design,
fitting out and procurement
of furnishings and related
products services
REERAT o B8 2500087 REZNR RERRREEAR
HEERRS
Windmill Engineering (China and Hong ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 100% - - - Provision of interior design,
Kong) Company Limited (note (a)) fitting out and procurement
of furnishings and related
products services
BEIR (TAREHE) BRAH 2 L& 10,0007 REZRR ZERFERAR
(Hizk(a)) TEHERR
Note (@)  During the year, the Company acquired Windmill Engineering Mzt RAER> XATEBULE=FKES
(China and Hong Kong) Company Limited from independent third ET17%2 (PFEREHR BRAR REAR

parties, as a consideration of HK$10,000. 10,0007 7T ©
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39.

40.

41.

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continuea)

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for
the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the
Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion
of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

All of the above subsidiaries are limited liability companies.
None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities during
the year.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
As announced by the Company on 13 December 2024,
among other things, the Company proposed (i) to implement
a share consolidation (the “Share Consolidation”) on the basis
that every five issued existing shares of the Company be
consolidated into one consolidated share (the “Consolidated
Share”) and (i) to raise approximately HK$39.15 million before
expenses by way of a rights issue (the “Rights Issue”) of
135,457,920 rights shares (the “Rights Shares”) at a subscription
price of HK$0.289 per Rights Share on the basis of three Rights
Shares for every one Consolidated Share held by the qualifying
shareholders on the record date.

The Share Consolidation and the Rights Issue were approved
by the independent shareholders at a general meeting
convened by the Company on 17 February 2025 and the
Share Consolidation was completed on 19 February 2025.
Immediately after the share consolidation, the total number of
issued shares of the Company was adjusted from 225,763,200
10 45,152,640.

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the Rights Issue
was completed on 10 April 2025. Immediately after the Right
Issue, the total number of issued shares of the Company was
increased from 45,152,640 to 180,610,560.

COMPARATIVE FIGURES
Certain comparative financial information has been reclassified
in order to conform with current year's presentation.

39.

40.

41.

FTENRBLAT @

BEDA FRFINEATHBATE
EREAEERENERAEREETE
ZEEHMB EERANHEMKBAD
THESSBEBRTE.

FRA LB AR RARAT - I #H &
NBRRERNEITEREER S

RSB EIE

HUMAABN ZE_ME+_—B+=HFF
A (Hp i) KA BERIETRD S
H(TRGBEH) BEEASHEREAATE
BOTRERDEHA—REHERG (&6
BB KRR AN e ERRES
FE—REHKRMESL = RERRDHUE
# 5 DS IR ER AR 150.28958 TR B E UL
A (MEEAR ) 5 308897135,457,9208& (A%
B (TEARBR1D1) » &5 4939,150,00078 7T
(OBREZ A ©

BHEHRHEEER -2 AF A+t
AEARAIBRZKRRARE LEBIK
RAtE - MROVPEHERZZ_LFZ
BTN BEm - RBERNGHE  XAF
BTN ABEUE225,763,200/ A E %
45,152,6408% °

REREHRE HREXR -0 FW
B+HZTH EBHRTRE > ARQF
EEITRMBEA5,152,640IBME
180,610,5608% °

EEE ST
ETHBRYBENCER S AUTAEE
EE25)
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For the year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—HLEE

2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
—E-RE —EmE B B BT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAERT FET FET FEx FET
Revenue Wz 164,543 87,603 55,761 57,660 66,807
Loss before tax FRIS ARS8 (21,700) (10,424) (24,796) (20,936) (20,852)
Loss for the year FEBE (21,678) (9,790) (24,564) (21,068) (19,427)
Total comprehensive loss  EEZ2EE184858
for the year (21,678) (9,772) (24,428) (21,074) (19,437)
As at 31 March
R=B=+—H
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
ZEZRE “ETNE “ET=F BT THF —E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FEx FET FET
Assets and Liabilities BEKEE
Total assets mEE 111,749 90,712 84,400 102,214 119,893
Total liabilities maf (52,567) (17,211) (36,418) (29,804) (26,409)
Total equity HEmiR%E 59,182 73,501 47,982 72,410 93,484
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